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PART I
CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Report”) of Danimer Scientific, Inc. contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the
U.S. Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Except where the context otherwise requires or where otherwise indicated, the terms the “Company”, “Danimer”, “we,”
“us,” and “our,” refer to the consolidated business of Danimer Scientific, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. All statements in this Report, other than statements of
historical fact, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on management’s current expectations, assumptions, hopes, beliefs, intentions, and
strategies regarding future events and are based on currently available information as to the outcome and timing of future events. Forward-looking statements may contain
words such as “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “plan,” “predict,” “potential,” “seem,”
“seek,” “future,” “outlook,” the negative of such terms and other similar expressions, which are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forwardlooking statements contain such identifying words. The Company cautions you that these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of
which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the control of the Company, incident to its business.
Because forward‑looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of
which are outside of our control. These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Report (or, in the case of forward-looking
statements incorporated herein by reference, if any, as of the date of the applicable filed document), and any accompanying supplement, and current expectations, forecasts and
assumptions, and involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the Company’s views as of
any subsequent date, and the Company does not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were
made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include:
•our ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination (hereinafter defined), which may be affected by, among other things, competition, and our
ability to grow and manage growth profitably;
•costs related to the Business Combination;
•changes in applicable laws or regulations;
•the outcome of any legal proceedings against us;
•the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business;
•our ability to execute our business model, including, among other things, market acceptance of our planned products and services and construction delays in connection
with the expansion of our facilities;
•our ability to raise capital;
•the possibility that we may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors; and,
•other risks and uncertainties set forth in the section entitled “Risk Factors” of this Report, which is incorporated herein by reference.
Any expectations based on these forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and other important factors, including those discussed in this Report,
specifically the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Other risks and uncertainties
are and will be disclosed in our prior and future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The following information should be read in conjunction with
the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION
We are subject to the reporting and information requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and as a result are obligated to file annual, quarterly, and
current reports, proxy statements, and other information with the SEC. We make these filings available free of charge on our website (http://www.danimerscientific.com) as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. The foregoing information regarding content on our website is for
convenience only and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Report nor filed with the SEC. In addition, the SEC maintains a website
(http://www.sec.gov) that contains our annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy and information statements, and other information we electronically file with, or furnish to,
the SEC.
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

The Company (formerly Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and referred to as “LOAK” when describing the period prior to the consummation of the Business Combination described
below) was incorporated in Delaware on May 24, 2019 as a special purpose acquisition company, or SPAC, formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock
exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization, or similar business combination with one or more businesses. Live Oak competed its initial public
offering in May 2020. On December 29, 2020 (“Closing Date”), the Company consummated a business combination (“Business Combination”), pursuant to which the
Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Meredian Holdings Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Meredian Holdings Group” or “MHG”) through the
exchange of MHG common stock for Live Oak Class A common stock. The Business Combination was effected through the merger of Green Merger Corp., a wholly owned
subsidiary of Live Oak, with and into MHG, with MHG surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Live Oak.
In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, the Company changed its name from Live Oak Acquisition Corp. to Danimer Scientific, Inc.
The following description of our business describes the business historically operated by Meredian Holdings Group and its subsidiaries under the “Danimer Scientific” name as
an independent enterprise prior to the Business Combination (“Legacy Danimer”) and which will be operated by the Company after the Business Combination.
We, through our principal operating subsidiaries, Meredian, Inc., Danimer Scientific, L.L.C. and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., bring together innovative technologies to
deliver biodegradable bioplastic materials to global consumer product companies.
Overview
We are a performance polymer company specializing in bioplastic replacements for traditional petroleum-based plastics. Applications for biopolymers include additives,
aqueous coatings, fibers, filaments, films, thermoforming, and injection-molded articles. We bring together innovative technologies to deliver biodegradable bioplastic materials
to global consumer product companies. We believe that we are the only commercial company in the bioplastics market to combine the production of a base polymer along with
the reactive extrusion capacity in order to give customers a “drop-in” replacement for a wide variety of petroleum-based plastics.
We have core competencies in formulation and application development, fermentation process engineering, thermocatalysis, chemical engineering and polymer science. In
addition, we have created an extensive intellectual property portfolio to protect our innovations that together with our technology, serves as a valuable foundation for our
business and for future industry collaborations. We primarily market our products to consumer packaging brand owners, converters and manufacturers in the plastics industry
seeking to address environmental, public health, renewability, certification, composting and biodegradability concerns because of customer perceptions, government regulations,
or other reasons.
Our fermentation process uses sustainably-sourced canola oil. Our proprietary extraction and extrusion processes are cost competitive and leave almost no carbon footprint. Our
customized formulations enable us to team up with other makers of biobased products to create an even wider range of goods. Our scalable production capacity and modular
manufacturing model will soon enable us to serve an increasingly large customer base. As an industry leader as gauged by our over 17-year history, with a patent portfolio of
over 430 patents and pending patent applications worldwide in more than 20 countries for a range of manufacturing processes and biopolymer formulations, supply agreements
with some of the largest consumer packaged goods companies and numerous awards, including PLASTICS Industry Association’s 2018 and 2020 Innovation in Bioplastics
award, Danimer is one of the few companies anywhere in the world to achieve this level of sustainability in biopolymer products and processes.
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Our Technologies
PHA-based Resins: We are a leading producer of polyhydroxyalkanoate (“PHA”), a new, 100% biodegradable plastic feedstock alternative, which we sell under the proprietary
Nodax® brand name, for use in a wide variety of plastic applications including films, straws and food containers, among other things. We make Nodax through a fermentation
process wherein bacteria consume vegetable oil and make PHA within their cell membranes as energy reserves. We harvest the PHA from the bacteria, then purify and filter the
bioplastic before forming the PHA into pellets, which we combine with other inputs using a reactive extrusion process to manufacture a formulated finished product. We
acquired our original PHA technology from The Procter & Gamble Company ("P&G") in 2007.
Our Nodax-based biopolymers are formulated to meet the biodegradability requirements for ASTM International and European (EN) standards. Nodax is also U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (“FDA”) approved for food contact and will biodegrade aerobically or anaerobically in soil, water and industrial or home compost in the presence of
bacteria.
Following the 2021 acquisition of Novomer, Inc. (“Novomer”), we also have the technology to produce a type of PHA, specifically poly(3-hydroxypropionate) (“p3HP”),
through a proprietary thermal catalytic conversion process at a lower cost than our fermentation process. We also refer to p3HP by its brand name, Rinnovo®. We believe that
Novomer’s technology will enhance the strength of product applications we develop due to the complementary nature of Novomer’s polymers when combined with Nodax and
enable us to increase the expected overall volume of finished product we will be able to deliver, all while significantly lowering our production costs and capital expenditure per
pound produced.
PHAs are a complete replacement for petroleum-based plastics since the converters do not have to purchase new equipment to switch to the new biodegradable plastic. Utilizing
PHA as a base resin significantly expands the number of potential applications for bioplastics in the industry and enables us to produce resin that is not just compostable, but
also fully biodegradable.
PLA-based Resins: Since 2004, we have been producing proprietary plastics using a natural plastic called polylactic acid (“PLA”) as a base resin. We purchase neat PLA and
formulate it into bioplastic applications by leveraging the expertise of our chemists and our proprietary reactive extrusion process. Our formulated PLA products allow many
companies to begin to use renewable and compostable plastics to meet their customers’ growing sustainability needs. We have expanded our product portfolio and now supply
customers globally. We are a pioneer in bioplastics technology, demonstrated by early successes such as creating a bioplastic suitable for coating disposable paper cups to
withstand the temperatures of hot liquids such as coffee. We have expanded our product portfolio and now supply customers globally. We have two primary manufacturing
platforms: reactive extrusion and polymer synthesis. In reactive extrusion, new polymers are made by combining PLA with other plant-based materials, minerals, or other inputs
to be able to meet the needs of customers that cannot use non-formulated (“neat”) PLA. In polymer synthesis, new proprietary polymers are made in reactors (vertical tanks
with ability to control pressure, heat, agitation, pH, etc.) and then pelletized. In addition to developing plastics, we also toll manufacture for customers that need the unique
extruder or reactor setup employed by us for new or scale-up production. Our PLA-based biopolymers are formulated to meet the biodegradability requirements for ASTM
International and European (EN) standards.
The Plastics Market and Competitive Landscape
The plastics market is large with many established players. The market has grown around the chemical processing of oil and natural gas and is concentrated in the conventional,
nonbiodegradable petroleum-based segment.
Established companies in this segment include The Dow Chemical Company, E.I. DuPont de Nemours and Company, BASF Corporation, INEOS USA LLC, LyondellBasell
Industries N.V., Saudi Basic Industries Corporation and Mitsubishi Chemical Corporation, among many others. The price of conventional petroleum-based plastic is volatile, as
it is dependent on petroleum as a key manufacturing input. In addition, the non-biodegradability of conventional petroleum-based plastics makes them persistent in and harmful
to the environment and creates significant waste.
Competitive companies that produce bioplastics include Kaneka Corporation, which produces 3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyhexanoate and Novamont S.p.A., which
produces polybutylene adipate terephthalate.
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Our Nodax-based biopolymers offer a broad range of properties and processing options and can address a large portion of the opportunities for environmentally attractive yet
functionally equivalent alternatives to conventional petroleum-based plastics. Unlike PLA and most starch-based composite biodegradables, PHA biopolymers can:
•biodegrade in natural soil and water environments, including the marine environment;
•remain functional through a wide range of temperatures; and
•withstand everyday use without breaking down.
Market Opportunity
General: Globally, over 800 billion pounds of plastic are produced each year. We believe that both PHA and PLA are excellent replacements for commercial plastics created
with synthetic polymers derived from petroleum. We believe that PHA is a competitive replacement for polypropylene, polyethylene, polystyrene, and polyethylene
terephthalate plastics. These plastics represent over 63% of traditional petroleum-based plastic worldwide, so there is potential for PHAs to replace over 500 billion pounds of
plastic applications annually.
Bioplastics are a key segment of the plastics industry and offer a renewably sourced or compostable replacement for traditional petroleum-based plastics with additional benefits
such as biodegradability and enhanced safety. Bioplastics are used in a wide range of applications, including packaging, adhesives, food additives, food service items and many
others. The bioplastics industry is diverse and rapidly evolving. As companies continue to innovate new bioplastic products to meet existing and future customer needs, we
expect the industry to expand substantially.
Environmental: Opportunities arising from the plastics industry’s negative environmental impacts include a demand for an alternative of more products and packaging using
sustainable, renewable, and non-petroleum resources. Additionally, we believe there is heightened demand for biodegradable and compostable materials, as well as materials
that facilitate greater safety for the public and the environment. A 2021 global sustainability study by Simon Kucher found 85% of consumers in global markets have shifted
their purchase behaviors toward sustainability. In light of this sentiment, companies are looking for ways to divert landfill waste and environmental waste with the use of
bioplastics. With the “end of life” scenarios that bioplastics provide, these companies are now testing new materials to be more proactive in reducing the global pollution
problem.
Public Health: Manufacturers of products that are used for food packaging or food services may place priority on the development of bioplastics that eliminate the potentially
negative health effects of petroleum-based plastics. While not yet conclusive, some scientific research suggests that polystyrene, polyvinyl chloride, polyethylene, and many
other traditional plastics may be linked to certain cancers, endocrine disruptions, digestive dysfunctions, impaired immune function, and other serious health issues. We believe
that this perception of traditional plastics, especially in food contact applications, is driving numerous product manufacturers toward the use of non-petroleum-based plastics.
Renewability: Some manufacturers place a greater emphasis on renewability rather than biodegradability or compostability of materials. In Europe, we believe many
manufacturers place higher priority on renewability because of consumer perceptions and governmental regulations. While our use of canola oil as a feedstock instead of
petroleum is an advantage in terms of renewability, we currently focus on biodegradability in the U.S. market.
Certification: The certification of materials in the bioplastics industry is based upon third-party standards that establish criteria for labeling materials and products.
Certifications are important to brand owners and consumers as they give assurance that materials have been rigorously tested and vetted. As certifications are achieved for our
products, we and our customers are authorized to utilize labels indicating the bioplastic meets certification guidelines, which we believe give consumers greater confidence in
our products.
4

Business Strategy
Our goal is to build a commercially successful bioplastic business, with attractive margins, based on the unique properties of our PHA and PLA biopolymers and our
application development expertise. To achieve this goal, we are developing and commercializing biopolymers in a range of applications. We believe this will provide an
attractive base of commercial opportunities for Danimer, creating value for our business and our customers and generating leading intellectual property positions in the field.
Our strategy consists of six mutually supporting elements:
Expand Capacity to Achieve Scale: In order to reach our goals, we must be able to produce our products on a large scale. This will initially be accomplished by organic
capacity growth. This includes completion of the Phase II expansion at our Winchester, Kentucky facility, construction of a new PHA plant in Bainbridge, Georgia, and
construction of a commercial Rinnovo plant that will allow us to deploy the technology from our recent Novomer acquisition. In addition, we will evaluate third party
manufacturing and license agreements to further expand capacity for producing our products.
Lead with Innovation to Address a Broad Range of Customer Needs: We will continue to leverage our core competency of formulation and application development to
increase the commercial uses for our products. This will include the expansion of research and development contracts with global consumer products companies. It will also
entail seeking opportunities for technology licensing.
Grow Customer Partnerships and Product Volume Commitments: Successfully negotiate development and supply agreements with global blue-chip customers to secure
demand for future capacity expansions and de-risk our capital spend.
Secure Cost-Effective Inputs: Canola oil is currently the primary feedstock for our PHA fermentation process, and it is important to manage price volatility related to
commodity price changes. We continue to explore the viability of alternative feedstocks to improve our flexibility to pursue lower-cost alternatives that may arise. We also look
to lock in volume commitments for critical supply inputs, such as PLA, to ensure we have adequate, cost-effective volumes to support our production requirements.
Attain Favorable Unit Economics to Enhance Margins: To drive margin improvement, we must reduce our unit production costs. This can be achieved by increasing our
capacity utilization across our fixed cost base, blending in larger amounts of lower cost input materials, such as Rinnovo, reducing our utility costs and developing more costeffective manufacturing methods.
Enhance Team Capabilities to Support Growth: It is imperative that we increase the knowledge and capabilities of the leadership team as we grow in size and complexity. This
includes increasing the overall experience levels in manufacturing, business development, R&D, information technology and finance, as well as other areas to support global
growth.
Our Products and Services
We offer the following products and services.
PHA-based Resins: PHA is a naturally occurring bioplastic that effectively biodegrades in both anaerobic environments, such as a waste treatment facility, and aerobic
environments, such as industrial compost, home compost, soil, fresh water and marine water. PHA will degrade in environments in which microbes or fungi are present, without
the presence of additional heat or moisture. This ease of degradation creates numerous options for companies that use plastics as part of their business because industrial
composting facilities, which have limited capacity throughout the world, are not required to ensure PHA-based plastics ultimately biodegrade after use.
We currently produce PHA in a fermentation process where bacteria consume vegetable oil and produce PHA as energy reserves. We harvest this PHA and produce numerous
configurations of this polymer, yielding a diverse array of possible properties in the resulting material. With the acquisition of Novomer, we also have the technology to produce
PHA through a thermocatalytic conversion process.
Nodax is 100% bio-based and possesses six TUV AUSTRIA certifications: OK compost INDUSTRIAL, OK compost Home, OK biodegradable SOIL, OK biodegradable
Water, OK biodegradable MARINE, and OK biobased. Nodax is also FDA approved for food contact.
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PLA-based Resins: PLA is made from dextrose derived from corn, sugar beets and sugar cane, among others. It is “industrially compostable” as per ASTM D6400 standards,
which require a plastic to aerobically compost in a municipal industrial facility within 180 days. PLA requires additional heat and moisture to begin degrading by hydrolysis,
which is why it is certified for industrial composting only. We do not produce PLA ourselves.
PLA in non-formulated (“neat”) form has limited functionality, but when we combine PLA with other plant-based chemicals and minerals through our reactive extrusion
process, we can improve PLA-based products’ processability, impact strength, heat tolerance and numerous other attributes to meet customer specifications for a wide range of
applications to support petroleum-based plastic replacement. Our ability to formulate PLA in this manner enables us to acquire customers that neat PLA producers cannot.
Research and Development: We have a number of PHA R&D contracts with global consumer products companies, including Bacardi, Nestlé and Mars Wrigley. We collaborate
with the R&D staff of each customer on products that are tailored for each customer’s specific applications.
Tolling: We contract with customers to use our existing production facilities and expertise to help customers meet complex raw material opportunities. In 2015, we started
making our production facilities and expertise available to tolling customers. There are many companies that toll manufacture in the U.S. for products that are large volumes at
low prices.
Customers and Product Applications
We believe we are well-positioned to capture market share with our streamlined and flexible development process. We possess world-class research and development
capabilities for new products. Since the inception and commercialization of our first products, a significant portion of our revenues have been generated from the sale of
materials utilized in single-use food service articles. While we expect single-use food service articles to remain a significant component of our revenue, we continue to develop
new products for many different applications; therefore, our client base is changing along with our product mix.
In 2021, we had two customers that each accounted for more than 10% of revenue and collectively represented 35% of total revenue. In 2020, we had three such customers that
collectively represented 58% of total revenue. In 2019, four such customers collectively represented 65% of total revenue.
PHA Products: We have successfully executed multiple contracts for the development and production of PHA-based resins. Some of our current customers and their product
applications using PHA-based resins are below:
•PepsiCo — In December 2016, we and PepsiCo, Inc. entered into a joint development agreement that provides for the development of our biodegradable film resins to
meet the packaging requirements of PepsiCo’s global food and beverage business, including compostable films to be used in Frito Lay chip bags.
•Mars Wrigley — In March 2021, we and Mars, Incorporated (“Mars Wrigley”) signed an extensive R&D contract to work on films for their candy/food packaging. Mars
Wrigley expects to launch a home compostable packaging for their Skittles brand by the end of 2022.
•Bacardi — In October 2020, we and Bacardi Limited entered into an agreement to eliminate 3,000 annual tons of plastic currently produced by Bacardi. The new 100%
biodegradable bottle could replace 80 million plastic bottles per year as Bacardi's goal is to be plastic free by 2030.
•Genpak — In November 2019, we and Genpak, LLC entered into a multi-year agreement under which we will deliver biodegradable resins that Genpak will use
exclusively for the manufacture of its new GenZero™ line of food packaging products. Genpak’s line of foodservice items are designed for a wide range of applications,
including to-go hinged food containers, plates, bowls, and platters, serving trays and two-piece food containers. Genpak plans to launch Nodax-based home compostable
take-out containers by the end of 2022.
•Nestlé — In December 2018, we and Nestec Ltd. (a Nestlé affiliate) entered into a global partnership to develop biodegradable water bottles. We and Nestlé are
collaborating to design and manufacture bio-based resins for Nestlé’s water business using Nodax. Once the development of these products is complete, we expect to enter
into negotiations with Nestlé to produce these products commercially.
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•WinCup — In September 2019, WinCup Plastics, Inc., a leading manufacturer of disposable foodservice to-go-ware, announced the launching of phade™, a new line of
straws and stirrers made from Nodax. We and WinCup have entered into a commercial supply contract for PHA currently being produced in the Kentucky Facility.
•UrthPact — In October 2019, we and UrthPact, LLC, a long-time customer of ours for PLA-based resins for use in single-serve coffee pods, entered into an agreement
providing for our manufacture of Nodax drinking straws. In addition, UrthPact also signed a contract with us to produce PHA-based resin for single serve coffee pods.
•Eagle Beverage and Accessory Products (“Eagle Beverage”) — In September 2020, Eagle Beverage, a leading manufacturer of drinking straws, signed a commercial
supply contract with us to purchase drinking straw resin made from Nodax. In May 2021, Danimer and Eagle Beverage signed an amendment to the supply contract for
additional volumes. Their customers include large brands within the food and beverage industry.
•Columbia Packaging Group (“CPG”) – In November 2019, CPG, a large producer of flexible films signed a supply agreement for the purchase of our PHA film resins. In
September 2020, CPG added additional volume for our PHA film resins. Due to this early success and our partnership, CPG signed a supply agreement to purchase
Danimer PHA drinking straw resin.
PLA Products: Some of our current customers' product applications using PLA-based resins are below:
•Drinking cups that are coated with our compostable extrusion coating resin.
•Shrink wrap films for various food packaging.
•Cutlery.
Raw Materials and Suppliers
Our operations depend upon obtaining adequate supplies of raw materials on a timely basis, in particular PLA, polybutylene succinate (“PBS”), polybutylene adipate
terephthalate (“PBAT”) and canola oil. Although certain of these raw materials have limited sources of supply, we have developed strategic relationships with key suppliers for
these products and generally have commitments or contracts from these suppliers to meet current and projected needs. We buy PLA from NatureWorks LLC and Total
Corbion, PBS from PTT MCC Biochem Co., Ltd and PBAT from BASF Corporation. Commodities such as canola oil are readily available from numerous suppliers.
Accordingly, we believe that we will be able to procure the necessary quantity and quality of raw materials needed to manufacture our products.
Intellectual Property and Technology
Our success depends in part upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property, and we rely on a combination of patents, know-how, trade secrets, nondisclosure agreements and supply chain partnerships to establish and protect our intellectual property. We hold over 430 patents and pending patent applications worldwide (of
which more than 190 are patents issued and more than 240 pending applications) in more than 20 countries. Our extensive patent portfolio covers, among other things, the
fundamental biotechnology needed to produce our PHA biopolymers as well as biopolymer compositions, processes, derived products, and applications. At the time of
acquisition, Novomer had 240 patents and patents pending covering its core technologies in the fields of catalysis, carbonylation, polymerization, and thermolysis, among
others. The terms of such patents are set to expire at various times between 2022 and 2040, and any patents resulting from such pending patent applications are expected to have
durations that will expire between 2036 and 2041. We own 23 issued patents and 1 pending application with respect to the fundamental biotechnology needed to produce our
PHA biopolymers, the expiration dates (or expected expiration dates) for which range from 2022 to 2039, as well as 69 issued patents and 71 pending applications with respect
to biopolymer compositions, processes, derived products and applications, the expiration dates (or expected expiration dates) for which range from 2022 to 2040. Our
technology is also protected by maintaining trade secret status for key technology and know-how. In addition, non-disclosure agreements with customers and research partners
help to keep our technology proprietary.
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We purchased the intellectual property portfolio that formed the basis of our original PHA technology platform from P&G. After a global offering of the technology to
competent entities, P&G determined that our expertise and demonstrated success offered the highest probability of successful commercialization. P&G has retained a royalty
interest equal to $0.05 per pound of PHA sold up to 500,000,000 pounds and $0.025 per pound over 500,000,000 pounds. The royalty term continues in effect until September
8, 2027.
Examples of intellectual property we hold include patents addressing the conversion of PHA into articles such as diapers, feminine hygiene products, films, fibers, and molded
articles, which protects our technology all the way to the “store shelf”. In addition, we hold patents or applications as diverse as production systems, additives for bioplastics and
unique specialty applications such as the use of materials in the oil and gas industry.
Government Regulation
Regulation by government authorities in the United States and other countries is a significant factor in the production and marketing of our products and our ongoing R&D
activities. In order to research, develop, and manufacture products for our customers and ultimately for consumer use, we must satisfy mandatory procedures and standards
established by various regulatory bodies. Compliance with these standards is complex, and failure to comply with any of these standards can result in significant consequences.
Some applications for which our biopolymers may be suitable, such as food packaging, PHA-coated paper cups, and drinking straws, involve food contact, which is regulated
by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) in the U.S. Nodax has been cleared for use in food-contact applications by the FDA. The PHA polymer is also contained on
positive lists for food-contact in the European Union and Japan. We are in the process of seeking further regulatory approvals necessary to sell and produce our products based
on local requirements in various jurisdictions worldwide, and we are prepared to seek additional such approvals as may become necessary in the ordinary course of business.
Biobased and Biodegradability Certification
Our biopolymers in neat form have the advantage in the marketplace of being both biobased and biodegradable while having comparable functional properties to petroleumbased polymers. Our products may be certified for both biodegradability and composting. We obtain such certifications from recognized certifying bodies for our base products.
As customers purchase product for a specific use, the customer typically obtains an updated certification covering the customer’s manufacturing specifications.
Human Capital
As of December 31, 2021, we had 282 total employees located in the United States. None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement and we believe we
have a good relationship with our employees.
We believe our employees are our greatest asset and we strive to provide a safe, inclusive, high-performance culture where our people thrive. We strive to recruit, develop,
engage, train and protect our workforce. The following are key human capital measures and objectives on which we currently focus.
Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
A critical part of our recruiting strategy is partnering with colleges and universities to create awareness of career opportunities in our field and develop a strong pipeline of early
career professionals, particularly women and other underrepresented groups in science and engineering. While recruitment is our current greatest focus for DEI, we intend to
deepen our efforts through training, mentorship and career development opportunities.
Employee Engagement and Training
We strive to foster a fulfilling and positive work environment for our employees. We offer competitive salaries and benefits to both full time employees and contractors, which
include health insurance, life insurance, long term disability, 401k matching, employee stock purchase plan, paid vacation and paid time off. Education and continuous learning
are particularly important in our evolving industry and we encourage our employees to pursue professional development and relevant training opportunities.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves risks. In addition to the risks and uncertainties discussed above under “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” you
should carefully consider the specific risks set forth herein. If any of these risks actually occur, it may materially harm our business, financial condition, liquidity, and results of
operations. As a result, the market price of our securities could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may become material and adversely affect our business. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with
the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Report.
Risk Factor Summary
•We have limited experience producing PHA in large commercial quantities, and may not be able to achieve the proposed production capacity at our current and
proposed production facilities.
•If our products and product candidates do not gain market acceptance among key market participants, we may be unable to generate significant revenues, if any.
•Our operating results may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control.
•We will need to secure additional funding, which may dilute your ownership, and we may be unable to raise additional capital on favorable terms, if at all.
•Changes in regulations associated with our products, markets, and/or operations may have an adverse effect on our business.
•Our debt and operating lease obligations could adversely affect our financial condition.
•We may not be able to satisfy the requirements of our participation in a New Markets Tax Credit program for funding plant expansions.
•Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and their affiliates may prevent investors from influencing significant corporate decisions.
Risks Related to the Company
We have a history of net losses and our future profitability is uncertain.
We have recorded a loss for fiscal 2021, and our future profitability is uncertain. At December 31, 2021, our accumulated deficit was approximately $118.9 million. Since our
inception, we have been engaged primarily in research and development and early-stage commercial activities. Because we have a limited history of commercial operations and
we operate in a rapidly evolving industry, we cannot be certain that we will generate sufficient revenue to operate our business and become profitable.
Our ability to generate revenues in the near-term is highly dependent on the successful commercialization of our biopolymer products, which is subject to many risks and
uncertainties as described below. We expect that it will take time for our PHA production to ramp up to an economical scale while the market for our products expands. As a
result, we expect to have significant losses and negative cash flow for at least the next few years, as we incur additional costs and expenses for the continued development and
expansion of our business, including the costs of establishing manufacturing capacity and ongoing expenses of research and product development. The amount we spend will
impact our ability to become profitable and this will depend, in part, on the number of new products that we attempt to develop. We may not achieve any or all of these goals
and, thus, we cannot provide assurances that we will ever be profitable.
Even if we can successfully manufacture and sell our products, whether we will be able to generate a profit on any of these products is highly uncertain and depends on a
number of factors including the cost of production, the price we are able to charge for these products, and the emergence of competing products.
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Our operating results may fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control.
We are subject to, among other things, the following factors that may negatively affect our operating results:
•changes in market conditions and other inputs that affect the valuation of our Private Warrants;
•the announcement or introduction of new products by our competitors;
•our ability to upgrade and develop our systems and infrastructure to accommodate growth;
•stock compensation expenses we have incurred and may continue to incur in connection with the compensation of our executives;
•our ability to attract and retain key personnel in a timely and cost-effective manner;
•our ability to attract new customers and retain existing customers;
•technical difficulties;
•the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to the expansion of our business, operations and infrastructure;
•our ability to identify and enter into relationships with appropriate and qualified third-party providers of necessary testing and manufacturing services;
•the availability and cost of our raw materials;
•regulation by federal, state or local governments; and
•general economic conditions, as well as economic conditions specific to the plastics industry, and other industries related to compostable or biodegradable substitutes for
non-biodegradable plastics.
As a result of our limited operating history and the nature of the markets in which we compete, it is difficult for us to forecast our revenues or earnings accurately. We have
based our anticipated future expense levels largely on our investment plans and estimates of future events, although certain of our expense levels will, to a large extent, become
fixed. As a strategic response to changes in the competitive environment, we may from time to time make certain decisions concerning expenditures, pricing, service or
marketing that could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Due to the foregoing factors, our revenues and operating
results are difficult to forecast.
We will need to secure additional funding and may be unable to raise additional capital on favorable terms, if at all.
We expect that we will have sufficient capital to fund our planned operations through the completion of Phase II of the production capacity buildout at the Kentucky Facility
and to fund a significant portion of our anticipated Greenfield Facility in Bainbridge. Thereafter, we will need to raise additional capital to continue to scale and expand our
manufacturing capability. If we issue equity or debt securities to raise additional funds, (i) we may incur fees associated with such issuance, (ii) our existing stockholders will
experience dilution from the issuance of new equity securities, (iii) we may incur ongoing interest expense and be required to grant a security interest in our assets in connection
with any debt issuance and (iv) the new equity or debt securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of our existing stockholders. In addition, utilization
of our net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to significant annual limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
(“Code”) due to ownership changes resulting from future equity financing transactions. If we raise additional funds through collaboration, licensing or other similar
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. In the
event we are unable to obtain additional financing, we may be unable to successfully implement our business plan, which could have a material and adverse impact on our
business, including you losing your entire investment.
Our biopolymer products may not achieve market success.
Some prospective customers are currently evaluating and testing our products prior to making large-scale purchase decisions. The successful commercialization of our
biopolymers is also dependent on our customers’ ability to commercialize the end-products that they make from our biopolymers, which may never gain market acceptance.
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Market acceptance of our products will depend on numerous factors, many of which are outside of our control, including among others:
•public acceptance of such products;
•our ability to produce products of consistent quality that offer functionality comparable or superior to existing or new polymer products;
•our ability to produce products fit for their intended purpose;
•our ability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals for our products;
•the speed at which potential customers qualify our biopolymers for use in their products;
•the pricing of our products compared to competitive products, including petroleum-based plastics;
•the strategic reaction of companies that market competitive products;
•our reliance on third parties who support or control distribution channels; and
•general market conditions.
We produce bio-based products, whose pricing and availability may be impacted by factors out of our control.
Pricing and availability of raw materials, for use in our businesses can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond our control, including general, domestic and international
economic conditions, labor costs, production levels, competition, and consumer demand. Drought, pestilence, severe weather or other “acts of God” may limit our ability to
procure raw materials if crops are lost. This volatility can significantly affect the availability and cost of raw materials for us and may therefore have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
We sell formulated resins which include raw materials purchased from third parties, including PLA. We currently source all of our PLA from two suppliers, NatureWorks LLC
and Total Corbion PLA. Due to the high rate of growth in the biopolymer market, the demand for PLA and other raw materials used in our products may outpace supply, which
could result in price increases and deficits in the supply necessary to meet customer demand. If we are unable to secure the required quantities of PLA and other third-party raw
materials, we may not be able to achieve our financial forecasts and fulfill customer demand.
If our products and product candidates do not gain market acceptance among key market participants, we may be unable to generate significant revenues, if any.
Even if we obtain regulatory approval for our product candidates, they may not gain market acceptance among plastics manufacturers or other plastic users. Market acceptance
will depend on our ability to demonstrate the benefits of our approved products in terms of safety, efficacy, convenience, biodegradability and environmental friendliness, ease
of administration and cost effectiveness. In addition, we believe market acceptance depends on the effectiveness of our marketing strategy and the pricing of our approved
products.
We have limited experience producing PHA in large commercial quantities.
We have limited experience in producing large quantities of PHA. While we have succeeded in producing smaller amounts of PHA in our pilot plant for customer trials and
testing purposes, we only recently commenced the production of PHA in a large commercial plant with a capacity sufficient to meet the anticipated needs of prospective
customers. We may not be able to cost effectively produce PHA at a scale consistent with customer demand in a timely or economical manner, or that the quality of the
commercial product will be acceptable on a consistent basis. Further, if the Kentucky Facility is not able to meet customer demands, we will have to expand our facilities, which
will disrupt production and deplete our resources.
Some of our PHA products may never become commercially marketable.
Although we do currently sell commercial quantities of compostable PLA-based resins, we only recently commenced producing commercially viable quantities of PHA.
Limited research and testing have been completed on some of the products that we may produce using PHA. For some applications, we will have to go through extensive
research and testing to develop specific products and to determine or demonstrate the safety and effectiveness of their proposed use. Although we have already received food
contact approval for some grades of PHA, some of our product candidates and our proposed testing of those products will require additional regulatory approvals and
clearances. Accordingly, not all of the products we intend to pursue are presently marketable in the fields of use for which we
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hope to develop them, and it is possible (or even probable) that some or all of them may never become legally and commercially marketable. The development and testing of
our proposed products is difficult, time-consuming and expensive, and the successful development of any products based on innovative technologies is subject to inherent
uncertainties and risks of failure. These risks include the possibilities that any or all of the proposed products or procedures may be found to be ineffective, or may otherwise
fail to receive necessary regulatory clearances; that the proposed products or procedures may be uneconomical to produce and market or may never achieve broad market
acceptance; that third parties may hold proprietary rights that preclude us from marketing our intended products or procedures; or that third parties may develop and market
superior or equivalent products and procedures.
We may be unable to obtain certifications required by certain customers.
Many of our customers require biopolymer formulations to undergo biodegradability testing to address physical property deterioration in specific environmental conditions.
Biodegradation certification is important for our customers to ensure those products can be effectively marketed and sold and meet customer demands on environmental
protection. If our new PHA based resins to be sold out of the Kentucky Facility do not achieve the required certifications in a timely manner, we may experience a delay in
going to market. Such a delay could result in us not achieving our financial forecasts and not fulfilling customer demand.
We may be unable to manage rapid growth effectively.
Our failure to manage growth effectively could have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. We anticipate that a period of
significant expansion will be required to address potential growth and to handle licensing and research activities. This expansion will place a significant strain on our
management, operational and financial resources. To manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, we must establish appropriate and scalable operational and
financial systems, procedures and controls and must establish a qualified finance, administrative and operations staff. Our management may be unable to hire, train, retain and
manage the necessary personnel or to identify, manage and exploit potential strategic relationships and market opportunities.
We may be delayed in or unable to procure necessary capital equipment.
While the equipment we use to produce PHA and our other products is currently widely available, we must rely on outside companies to continue to manufacture the equipment
necessary to produce our products. If our suppliers of capital equipment are unable or unwilling to provide us with necessary capital equipment to manufacture our products or if
we experience significant delays in obtaining the necessary manufacturing equipment, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Our success will be influenced by the price of petroleum relative to the cost of bio-based feedstocks.
Our success may be influenced by the price of our products relative to petroleum-based polymers. The cost of petroleum-based polymers is in part based on the price of
petroleum. To date, our PHA biopolymers have been primarily manufactured using canola oil, an agricultural feedstock. If the price of bio-based feedstocks increases and/or the
price of petroleum decreases, our bio-based products may be less competitive relative to petroleum-based polymers. A material decrease in the cost of conventional petroleumbased polymers may require a reduction in the prices of our products for them to remain attractive in the marketplace and/or reduce the size of our addressable market.
Our success will be influenced by the cost and availability of raw materials required to produce Rinnovo polymers.
The cost and/or availability of the raw materials necessary to produce Rinnovo polymers may be influenced by the price of commodity petrochemicals and bio-based feedstock.
Our first targeted Rinnovo polymer requires ethylene oxide, carbon monoxide and a proprietary catalyst as its primary raw materials. If the price of raw materials were to rise or
availability of these materials were to be constrained, the cost and availability of the Rinnovo polymer may be less competitive relative to other polymers.
Certain contracts granting exclusivity rights to customers may limit our ability to sell products in certain markets.
We have entered into certain agreements with customers, which, subject to the terms therein, grant these customers the exclusive right to purchase certain products and, in some
cases, in certain fields and/or territories from us. For example, certain clam-shell food cases made with plastic we produce can only be sold to a single customer; certain stirrers
and straw products can only be sold to several end-users, subject to the purchaser maintaining minimum purchase requirements; one customer has an exclusive right on water
bottles, while another customer has an exclusive right on bottles containing certain alcohol products. These exclusivity arrangements will be expiring between 2022
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and 2026. These agreements could prevent us from selling products to certain prospective customers or entering certain markets, which could have a material and adverse
impact on our potential revenues and our ability more generally to expand our customer base and product lines.
The loss of one or more of our significant customers, a significant reduction in their orders, their inability to perform under their contracts, or a significant deterioration in
their financial condition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
A few significant customers have in the past, and may in the future, account for a significant portion of our revenues in any one year or over a period of several consecutive
years. For example, in 2021, we had two customers that individually each accounted for more than 10% of our revenue and collectively accounted for approximately 35% of
our revenue; in 2020, we had three such customers that collectively accounted for approximately 58% of our revenue; in 2019, we had four such customers that collectively
accounted for approximately 65% of our revenue. The loss of one or more of our significant customers, a substantial reduction in their orders, their inability to perform under
their contracts, and/or a significant deterioration in their financial condition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
We may rely heavily on future collaborative partners.
We may enter into strategic partnerships to develop and commercialize our current and future research and development programs with other companies to accomplish one or
more of the following:
•obtain capital, equipment and facilities;
•obtain funding for research and development programs, product development programs, and commercialization activities;
•obtain expertise in relevant markets;
•obtain access to raw materials, and/or
•obtain sales and marketing services or support.
We may not be successful in establishing or maintaining suitable partnerships, and we may not be able to negotiate collaboration agreements having terms satisfactory to us or
at all. Failure to make or maintain these arrangements or a delay or failure in a collaborative partner’s performance under any such arrangements could have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial condition.
We face and will face substantial competition.
We face and will face substantial competition from a variety of companies in the biodegradable, renewable resource-based plastic segment, as well as from companies in the
conventional, non-biodegradable petroleum-based industry segment. Some of their products are suitable for use in a range of products at a price that may be lower than our
product offerings. Many of these companies have longer operating histories, greater name recognition, larger customer bases and significantly greater financial, sales and
marketing, manufacturing, distribution, technical and other resources than us. Our competitors may be able to adapt more quickly to new or emerging technologies, changes in
customer requirements and changes in laws and regulations. In addition, current and potential competitors have established or may establish financial or strategic relationships
among themselves or with existing or potential customers or other third parties. Accordingly, new competitors or alliances among competitors could emerge and rapidly acquire
significant market share. There can be no assurance that we can develop products that are more effective or achieve greater market acceptance than competitive products, or that
our competitors will not succeed in developing products and technologies that are more effective than those being developed by us and that would therefore render our products
and technologies less competitive or even obsolete. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against current or new competitors.
We may not be able to achieve the proposed production capacity at our Kentucky Facility.
In December 2018, we acquired the Kentucky Facility and embarked on a two-phase commissioning strategy. We believe our ongoing Phase II improvements will expand the
annual capacity of the plant by 45 million pounds of finished product, bringing total annual plant capacity up to an expected 65 million pounds. We expect Phase II production
to commence in the second quarter of 2022. We have invested approximately $114 million in the Phase II expansion through December 31, 2021, excluding pre-engineering
costs, capitalized interest and internal labor and overhead. There can be no assurances, though, that we will be able to achieve such production capacity.
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We may not be able to complete the proposed production capacity buildout at our Greenfield Facility.
In November 2021, we broke ground on our Greenfield Facility located in Bainbridge, Georgia. We believe this plant will have the capacity to produce approximately 62.5
million pounds of neat PHA to be blended with other purchased raw materials. We expect capital expenditures for the Greenfield Facility will range between $500 million to
$612 million. There can be no assurances, however, that we will be able to achieve such production capacity or raise the additional financing required to complete the
Greenfield Facility. Through December 31, 2021, we have invested $77.1 million in the Greenfield Facility, excluding capitalized interest and internal labor.
We may not be able to identify and build a Rinnovo facility.
On August 11, 2021, we acquired Novomer, Inc. (“Novomer”). Novomer has proprietary technology to produce p(3HP), which is a type of PHA and is branded as Rinnovo. We
plan to construct a commercial Rinnovo plant and at scale, we anticipate the proposed Rinnovo facility could produce approximately 168 million pounds of p(3HP). We believe
we can blend Rinnovo with Nodax and other raw materials to further increase the number of finished pounds of product we can produce. We believe the expected capital
expenditures for the Rinnovo facility will range between $100 million and $180 million. There can be no assurances, however, that we will be able to identify an acceptable site,
construct the facility, incorporate Rinnovo into Nodax-based formulations or raise the financing needed to construct the Rinnovo facility.
We may not be able to identify additional facilities and assets or secure the funding necessary to acquire them.
We may need to identify other facilities and assets that would be beneficial to our production of PHA at the commercial scale or our growth in general. We cannot provide
assurances that we will be successful in identifying such facilities and assets or, if we do, securing the funding necessary to acquire them.
Climate change may impact the availability of our facilities and, in addition, we may incur substantial costs to comply with climate change legislation and related
regulatory initiatives.
Changing weather patterns and any increase in frequency of severe storms such as hurricanes and tornadoes could cause disruptions or the complete loss of our facilities. In
addition, climate change concerns, and changes in the regulation of such concerns, including greenhouse gas emissions, could also subject us to additional costs and restrictions,
including increased energy and raw materials costs which could negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations. The effects of climate change can have an
adverse effect not only to our operations, but also that of our suppliers and customers, and can lead to increased regulations and changes in consumer preferences, which could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
We may be subject to product liability claims that may not be covered by insurance and could require us to pay substantial sums.
If we are successful in obtaining regulatory approval for our products and/or otherwise begin marketing them, we will become subject to an inherent risk of, and adverse
publicity associated with, product liability and other liability claims, whether or not such claims are valid. We intend to obtain product liability insurance coverage in amounts
and scope that we believe will be adequate once we begin marketing any products. However, product liability insurance may not be available on commercially acceptable terms,
or at all. Even if such insurance is available, product liability or other claims may exceed our insurance coverage limits. A successful product liability claim that exceeds our
insurance coverage limits could require us to pay substantial sums and could have a material adverse effect on us.
Changes in government regulations encouraging the use of biodegradable alternatives to plastic products may have an adverse effect on our business.
We anticipate future laws, regulations and policies designed to encourage or mandate the increased use of compostable and biodegradable alternatives to nonbiodegradable
plastics may help to create a key market for our products. Several countries and other political subdivisions of countries have enacted or are considering enacting such laws and
regulations. Failure to implement these or similar laws and regulations and changes to existing laws and regulations may adversely affect the demand for our product candidates
in the future.
Compliance costs related to environmental requirements could negatively impact our financial results.
We are, and any potential licensees may be subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations, rules and ordinances relating to pollution, protection of the
environment, climate change, greenhouse gas emissions, and the generation, storage, handling, transportation, treatment, disposal and remediation of hazardous substances and
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waste materials. Costs and capital expenditures relating to environmental, health or safety matters are subject to evolving regulatory requirements and depend on the timing of
the promulgation and enforcement of specific standards which impose the requirements. Moreover, changes in environmental regulations could inhibit or interrupt our
operations, or require modifications to our facilities. Accordingly, environmental, health or safety regulatory matters could result in significant unanticipated costs or liabilities.
Our business is subject to hazards common to chemical, fermentation, polymer, and extraction businesses, any of which could injure our employees or other persons,
damage our facilities or other properties, interrupt our production and adversely affect our reputation and results of operations.
Our business is subject to hazards common to chemical and polymer manufacturing, storage, handling and transportation, including explosions, fires, severe weather, natural
disasters, mechanical failure, unscheduled downtime, transportation interruptions, remediation, chemical spills, discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances or gases
and other risks. These hazards can cause personal injury and loss of life to our employees and other persons, and severe damage to, or destruction of, property and equipment, as
well as environmental contamination. In addition, the occurrence of disruptions, shutdowns or other material operating problems at our facilities due to any of these hazards
may diminish our ability to meet our output goals. Accordingly, these hazards and their consequences could adversely affect our reputation and have a material adverse effect
on our operations as a whole, including our results of operations and cash flows, both during and after any period of operational difficulties.
We may not be able to protect adequately our patents and other intellectual property assets, which could adversely affect our competitive position and reduce the value of
our products, and litigation to protect our patents and intellectual property assets may be costly.
Our commercial success may depend in part on our ability to obtain patent protection for technologies and products we develop, to preserve trade secrets and to operate without
infringing the proprietary rights of others. There can be no assurance that any patents or patent applications that we own, obtain or file or are able to obtain or license from third
parties will afford any competitive advantages or will not be challenged or circumvented by third parties. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that others will not
independently develop similar technologies or duplicate any technology developed by us. Because of the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review
of a potential product, it is possible that before any of our potential products can be commercialized, any related patents may expire or may have only a brief remaining life
span following commercialization, thus reducing any advantage of the patents.
If we are not able to obtain patent coverage or defend the patent protection for our technologies, then we will not be able to exclude competitors from developing or marketing
competing technologies, and we may not generate enough revenues from product sales to justify the cost of development of our technologies and to achieve or maintain
profitability. The patents currently in the portfolio have expiration dates ranging from 2022 to 2040 and any patents resulting from pending patent applications are expected to
have durations that will expire between 2036 and 2041.
Our patent position involves complex legal and factual questions. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in
third-party patents. Patents may not be issued for any pending or future pending patent applications owned by or licensed to us, and claims allowed under any issued patent or
future issued patent owned or licensed by us may not be valid or sufficiently broad to protect our technologies. Moreover, we may be unable to protect certain of our intellectual
property in the United States or in foreign countries. Foreign jurisdictions may not afford the same protections as U.S. law, and we cannot ensure that foreign patent applications
will have the same scope as the U.S. patents. There will be many countries in which we will choose not to file or maintain patents because of the costs involved. Competitors
may also design around our technology or develop competing technologies.
Additionally, any issued patents owned by or licensed to us now or in the future may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. To the extent competitors or other third parties
develop and market products or procedures that we believe infringe our patents and proprietary rights, we may be compelled to initiate lawsuits to protect and enforce our
intellectual property rights. Such litigation is typically expensive, time-consuming and uncertain as to outcome, and may involve opponents who have much more extensive
financial resources than we do. An unfavorable outcome of any such litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
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Third parties may claim that we infringe on their proprietary rights and may prevent us from commercializing and selling our products.
There has been substantial litigation in the manufacturing industry with respect to the manufacture, use, and sale of new products. These lawsuits often involve claims relating to
the validity of patents supporting the new products and/or the validity and alleged infringement of patents or proprietary rights of third parties. We may be required to defend
against challenges to the validity of our patents and against claims relating to the alleged infringement of patent or proprietary rights of third parties.
Litigation initiated by a third party claiming patent invalidity or patent infringement could:
•require us to incur substantial litigation expense, even if we are successful in the litigation;
•require us to divert significant time and effort of our management;
•result in the loss of our rights to develop, manufacture or market our products; and
•require us to pay substantial monetary damages or royalties in order to license proprietary rights from third parties or to satisfy judgments or to settle actual or threatened
litigation.
Although patent and intellectual property disputes within the biopolymer and chemical industries have often been settled through licensing or similar arrangements, costs
associated with these arrangements may be substantial and could include the long-term payment of royalties. Furthermore, the required licenses may not be made available to us
on acceptable terms. Accordingly, an adverse determination in a judicial or administrative proceeding or a failure to obtain necessary licenses could prevent us from
manufacturing and selling our products or increase our costs to market our products.
We rely in part on trade secrets to protect our technology, and our failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could limit our ability to compete.
We rely on trade secrets to protect some of our technology and proprietary information, especially where we believe patent protection is not appropriate or obtainable. However,
trade secrets are difficult to protect. Litigating a claim that a third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade secrets would be expensive and time consuming, and the
outcome would be unpredictable. Moreover, if our competitors independently develop similar knowledge, methods and know-how, it will be difficult for us to enforce our
rights and our business could be harmed.
Our debt obligations could adversely affect our financial condition.
As of December 31, 2021, we had $261.3 million of consolidated debt. Our indebtedness could have significant negative consequences for our business, results of operations
and financial condition, including that it may:
•require us to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay principal and interest on debt, which will reduce the amount of cash flow available to fund
working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and other business activities;
•adversely impact our credit rating, which could increase future borrowing costs, liquidity and access to capital markets;
•limit our future ability to raise funds for capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions or business opportunities, and other general corporate requirements;
•increase our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions; and
•place us at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors with less leverage and/or superior access to capital.
There can be no assurance that our business will generate cash flow from operations, or that additional capital will be available to us, in amounts sufficient to enable us to meet
our debt payment obligations and to fund other liquidity needs. Additionally, events and circumstances may occur which would cause us to not be able to satisfy applicable
draw-down conditions and utilize revolving credit facilities. Furthermore, a default under one debt instrument itself could also lead to a default under agreements governing our
other indebtedness, which may result in that other indebtedness becoming immediately payable in full.
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We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our debt and operating lease obligations, and we may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations
under our debt and operating lease obligations, which may not be successful.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt and operating lease obligations and other obligations depends on our ability to generate cash in the future
and our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business and other factors
beyond our control. There can be no assurance that we will maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any,
and interest on our debt, or to pay our operating lease obligations.
If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service, operating lease obligations and other obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay
investments and capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our debt. These alternative measures may not be successful and may
not permit us to meet our scheduled debt obligations. If our operating results and available cash are insufficient to meet our debt service, operating lease obligations and other
obligations, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. We
may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain the proceeds sought from them, and these proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service or other
obligations then due. Further, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our debt on or before maturity, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our
debt on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Additionally, if we are unable to service our operating lease payments for certain facilities in Bainbridge, Georgia and
Winchester, Kentucky, which we lease pursuant to a sale-leaseback transaction that was entered into in 2018 with a commercial property REIT, we could lose the ability to
occupy and operate those facilities.
We may incur more debt in the future, which could further exacerbate the risks of leverage, including the ability to service our indebtedness.
We may need to incur additional debt, including equipment loans, working capital lines of credit, senior notes and other long-term debt, in the future to complete acquisitions of
facilities, equipment, machinery and other assets or capital projects or for working capital. Although the covenants contained in our current indebtedness instruments impose
limits on our ability to incur new debt, these agreements may permit the incurrence of significant additional debt if we satisfy certain conditions, or such debt instruments may
be amended in the future to do so. If we incur new debt, we could face risks related to being in a highly leveraged company, including our ability to service such indebtedness.
We are subject to a number of restrictive debt covenants under our loan agreements.
Our principal loan agreements contain certain restrictive covenants, which restrict our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, incur certain liens on our
assets or sell assets, make investments, make capital expenditures, pay dividends and make other restricted payments. These loan agreements also require us to maintain
specified financial ratios under certain conditions and satisfy financial condition tests, including a consolidated senior leverage ratio and consolidated fixed charge coverage
ratio.
Our ability to meet those financial ratios and tests and otherwise comply with our financial covenants may be affected by the factors described herein and other factors outside
our control, and we may not be able to meet those ratios, tests and covenants. Our ability to generate sufficient cash from operations to meet our debt obligations will depend
upon our future operating performance, which will be affected by general economic, financial, competitive, business and other factors beyond our control. A breach of any of
these covenants, ratios, tests or restrictions, as applicable, or any inability to pay interest on, or principal of, our outstanding debt as it becomes due could result in an event of
default. Upon an event of default, if not waived by our lenders, our lenders may declare all amounts outstanding as due and payable. Such an acceleration of the maturity of our
indebtedness may, among other things, prevent or limit us from engaging in transactions that benefit us, including responding to changing business and economic conditions and
taking advantage of attractive business opportunities.
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We may not be able to satisfy the requirements of our participation in a New Markets Tax Credit (“NMTC”) program for funding our plant expansions.
We have entered into several arrangements under the NMTC program with various third-party financial institutions (“Investors”) to help fund various phases of plant
expansions at our Bainbridge, Georgia, and Winchester, Kentucky locations. In connection with the NMTC transactions we received proceeds that were restricted for use on
approved capital expenditures and working capital needs at specific subsidiaries. The NMTCs are subject to 100% recapture of the tax credit for a period of seven years as
provided in the Code. We are required to comply with various regulations and contractual provisions that apply to the NMTC arrangements. We have agreed to indemnify the
Investors for any loss or recapture of the NMTCs until such time as our obligation to deliver tax benefits is relieved. The maximum potential amount of future payments under
this indemnification could be up to the face amount of the related debt, net of certain leverage loans receivable in connection with the NMTC transactions, which amount
totaled $13.4 million as of December 31, 2021. Our obligation to deliver tax benefits will be relieved in various stages from April 2026 through November 2026. Noncompliance with applicable requirements could result in projected tax benefits not being realized by an Investor and our being required to indemnify such Investor, which could
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity
Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income will be subject to certain limitations as a result of the business combination, private placement and
past transactions.
Certain of our deferred tax assets relate to federal and state net operating losses and credits. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had available federal net operating loss
carryforwards of $156 million and $65 million, respectively, and no available capital loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income. We had state net operating loss
carryforwards as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 of $173 million and $65 million, respectively. A portion of these net operating loss carryforwards could expire unused and be
unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. In addition, in general, under Section 382 of the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to
limitations on our ability to utilize our pre-change net operating losses (“NOLs”) to offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally
occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who owns at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases its ownership by
more than 50 percentage points over its lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. A portion of our existing NOLs is subject to limitations arising from
previous ownership changes in 2014. In addition, we believe the business combination (“Business Combination”) pursuant to which we acquired Meredian Holdings Group, Inc.
(“Legacy Danimer”) and the related private placement of our Class A common stock (“common stock”) that we completed in connection therewith constitutes an ownership
change under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired under state law. A portion of our existing NOLs attributable to Legacy Danimer and its subsidiaries is
also subject to the so called separate-return-limitation-year (“SRLY”) rules that may apply to consolidated tax groups.
Our ability to utilize our NOLs is also conditioned upon our attaining profitability and generating U.S. federal and state taxable income. We have incurred significant net losses
in the past, and it is anticipated that we will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future; therefore, we do not know whether or when we will generate the U.S.
federal or state taxable income necessary to utilize our NOL carryforwards, even to the extent they are not subject to limitation by Section 382 of the Code or the SRLY rules.
We face various risks related to the ongoing coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and similar public health crises, which may have material adverse effects on our business,
financial position, results of operations and liquidity.
We face various risks related to health epidemics, pandemics and similar outbreaks, including the ongoing coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) pandemic. Such risks
include disruptions or restrictions on our employees’ ability to work effectively, as well as temporary closures of our facilities or the facilities of our customers or suppliers.
It is possible that the continued spread of COVID-19 could also further cause disruption in our supply chain; cause delay or limit the ability of other customers to perform,
including in making timely payments to us; and cause other unpredictable events. In addition, the continued spread of COVID-19 has led to disruption and volatility in the
global capital markets, which increases the cost of capital and adversely impacts access to capital.
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We continue to work with our stakeholders (including customers, employees, suppliers and local communities) to responsibly address COVID-19. Our management is focused
on mitigating the impact of the pandemic, which has required and will continue to require a substantial investment of time and resources across Danimer and could delay other
value-added initiatives. We continue to monitor the situation, to assess further possible implications to our business, supply chain and customers, and to take actions in an effort
to mitigate adverse consequences.
The situation surrounding COVID-19 remains fluid and the ongoing impact on our business and results of operations, financial condition, expected cash flows and liquidity
increases the longer the virus impacts activity levels in the United States and globally, both during the initial outbreak, as well as if additional outbreaks occur at a later date. For
this reason, we cannot reasonably estimate with any degree of certainty the future impact COVID-19 may have on our results of operations, financial position, and liquidity.
The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may impact our business, operating results, financial condition and liquidity will depend on future developments and numerous
and evolving factors that are highly uncertain, vary by market and cannot be accurately predicted or quantified at this time, including the duration and spread of the outbreak;
new information concerning its transmission and severity; government mandated restrictions and regulations; business and workforce disruptions; impact on demand for our
products, and the effectiveness of actions taken to contain and treat the disease; actions taken or that might be taken by governments, businesses or individuals to contain or
reduce its repercussions and mitigate its economic implications; evolving macroeconomic factors, including general economic uncertainty, unemployment rates and
recessionary pressures; decreased consumer spending levels; reduction or changes in customer demand for our products and services; our ability to manufacture, sell and provide
our products and services, including as a result of travel restrictions, closed borders, operating restrictions imposed on our facilities or reduced ability of our employees to
continue to work efficiently; increased operating costs (whether as a results of changes to our supply chain or increases in employee costs or otherwise); collectability of
customer accounts; additional and prolonged devaluation of other countries’ currencies relative to the dollar; and the general impact of the pandemic on our customers,
employees, suppliers, vendors and other stakeholders. Additionally, customers might defer decision making, delay orders or seek to renegotiate or terminate existing
agreements.
The continuing global pandemic may also result in delays in our ability to apply for and obtain further regulatory approval for our products in various jurisdictions.
The impact of COVID-19 may also exacerbate other risks discussed herein, any of which could have a material effect on us. This situation is changing rapidly, and additional
impacts may arise that we are not aware of currently.
We depend on key personnel.
We depend greatly on our executive officers and other employees. Our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to attract and retain additional skilled personnel, which will
require substantial additional funds. There can be no assurance that we will be able to find, attract and retain additional qualified employees, directors, and advisors having the
skills necessary to operate, develop and grow our business. Our inability to hire qualified personnel, the loss of services of any of our executive officers, or the loss of services of
other key employees, or advisors that may be hired in the future, may have a material and adverse effect on our business.
If we experience a significant disruption in our information technology systems, including security breaches, or if we fail to implement new systems and software
successfully, our business operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
We depend on information technology systems throughout Danimer to, among other functions, control our manufacturing processes, process orders and bill, collect and make
payments, interact with customers and suppliers, manage inventory and otherwise conduct business. We also depend on these systems to respond to customer inquiries,
contribute to our overall internal control processes, maintain records of our property, plant and equipment and record and pay amounts due to vendors and other creditors. The
failure of our information technology systems to perform as we anticipate could disrupt our business and could result in transaction errors, processing inefficiencies and the loss
of sales and customers. As we upgrade or change systems, we may also experience interruptions in service, loss of data or reduced functionality and other unforeseen material
issues that could adversely impact our ability to provide quotes, take customer orders and otherwise run our business in a timely manner. In addition, if our new systems fail to
provide accurate and increased visibility into pricing and cost structures, it may be difficult to improve or maximize our profit margins. As a result, our results of operations
could be adversely affected.
In addition, cyber-attacks or security breaches could compromise confidential, business critical information, cause a disruption in our operations or harm our reputation. Our
information technology systems are subject to potential
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disruptions, including significant network or power outages, cyberattacks, computer viruses, other malicious codes and/or unauthorized access attempts, any of which, if
successful, could result in data leaks or otherwise compromise our confidential or proprietary information and disrupt our operations. Despite our efforts to protect sensitive
information and comply with and implement data security measures, there can be no assurance that any controls and procedures that we have in place will be sufficient to
protect us. Further, as cyber threats are continually evolving, our controls and procedures may become inadequate and we may be required to devote additional resources to
modify or enhance our systems in the future. We may also be required to expend resources to remediate cyber-related incidents or to enhance and strengthen our cyber security.
Any such disruptions to our information technology systems, breaches or compromises of data, and/or misappropriation of information could result in violation of privacy and
other laws, litigation, fines, negative publicity, lost sales or business delays, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.
Government regulation of our business is extensive and regulatory approvals are uncertain, expensive and time-consuming.
Our research, development, testing, manufacturing and marketing of most of our intended products are subject to an extensive regulatory approval process by the FDA and
other regulatory agencies in the U.S. and abroad. The process of obtaining FDA and other required regulatory approvals is lengthy, expensive and uncertain. There can be no
assurance that, even after such time and expenditures, we will be able to obtain necessary regulatory approvals for the manufacturing or marketing of any products. Even if
regulatory clearance is obtained, a marketed product is subject to continual review, and later discovery of previously unknown safety issues or failure to comply with the
applicable regulatory requirements may result in restrictions on a product’s marketing or withdrawal of the product from the market, as well as possible civil or criminal
sanctions.
Changes in sentiment regarding and laws and regulations relating to plastic products could reduce demand for our products and/or increase the cost of producing our
products and have an adverse effect on our business.
Plastic products have recently faced increasingly negative public sentiment and scrutiny. In addition, foreign, state and local governments have increasingly proposed, or in
some cases implemented, restrictions or bans on plastic-based products, including single-use plastics, plastic straws and utensils. Notwithstanding the fact that our bio-plastic
products are intended to address many of the concerns regarding traditional petroleum-based plastics, increased regulation of, or prohibition on, the use of plastics generally, as
well as negative public sentiment regarding such products, could increase the costs incurred by our customers to use such products or otherwise limit the use of these products,
and could lead to a decrease in demand for the products we make or an increase in the cost of production of such products. Such a decrease in demand could adversely affect our
business, operating results and financial condition.
We have determined there were material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021. If we are unable to develop and maintain an
effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results in a timely manner, which may adversely affect
investor confidence in us and materially and adversely affect our business and operating results.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our management is likewise required, on a
quarterly basis, to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls and to disclose any changes and material weaknesses identified through such evaluation in those internal
controls.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.
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Based on our evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2021, we identified a material weakness in risk assessment
resulting in the following material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting:
•Ineffective controls over the accuracy of the quantities billed for product revenue.
•Ineffective controls over the expense attribution for certain stock-based compensation awards.
•Ineffective controls over the preparation and review of the tax provision, including the assignment of control operators with requisite knowledge, experience, and
expertise.
•Ineffective controls over the processing and payment of vendor invoices for certain contracts with progress billings.
We continue to evaluate steps to remediate the material weaknesses. These remediation measures may be time consuming and costly and there is no assurance that these
initiatives will ultimately have the intended effects.
If we identify any new material weaknesses in the future, any such newly identified material weakness could limit our ability to prevent or detect a misstatement of our accounts
or disclosures that could result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements. In such case, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities
law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to applicable stock exchange listing requirements, investors may lose confidence in our financial
reporting and our stock price may decline as a result. We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, or any measures we may take in the future, will be
sufficient to avoid potential future material weaknesses.
We may be unsuccessful in integrating acquisitions.
There may be many challenges to integrating acquired businesses into our Company, including eliminating redundant operations, facilities and systems, coordinating
management and personnel, retaining key employees, managing different corporate cultures and achieving cost reductions and cross-selling opportunities. We may not be able
to meet these challenges.
Potential international business opportunities may expose us to additional risks.
A part of our growth strategy depends on us expanding internationally. Although sales outside of the United States account for a lesser percentage of our total net sales, we
expect to increase our level of business activity outside of the United States. Some countries that present potential good business opportunities also face political and economic
instability and vulnerability to infrastructure and other disruptions. Seeking to expand our business internationally exposes us to additional risks, which include foreign
exchange risks and currency fluctuations, as discussed more fully below, political and economic uncertainties, changes in local business conditions and national and
international conflicts. We also face the potential risks arising from staffing, monitoring and managing international operations, including the risk such activities may divert
our resources and management time. In addition, compliance with the laws, regulations and taxes of multiple international jurisdictions increases our cost of doing business.
International operations are subject to anti-corruption laws and anti-competition regulations, among others. For example, the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and
similar anti-corruption laws outside of the United States generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments or providing anything of value
to improperly influence foreign government officials and certain others for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, or obtaining an unfair advantage. Violations of these
laws and regulations could result in criminal and civil sanctions, disrupt our business and adversely affect our brands, international expansion efforts, business and operating
results.
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Risks Related to our Common Stock
An active trading market for our Common Stock may not be available on a consistent basis to provide stockholders with adequate liquidity. Our stock price may be
extremely volatile, and our stockholders could lose a significant part of their investment.
An active trading market for shares of our common stock may not be sustained on a consistent basis. The public trading price for our common stock will be affected by a
number of factors, including:
•reported progress of our business and technology development, relative to investor expectations;
•changes in earnings estimates, investors’ perceptions, recommendations by securities analysts or our failure to achieve analysts’ earnings estimates;
•quarterly variations in our or our competitors’ results of operations;
•general market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our competitors;
•future issuance and/or sale of our common stock or preferred stock;
•announcements by us, or our competitors, of acquisitions, new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships or capital commitments;
•commencement of, or involvement in, litigation;
•any major change in our board of directors or management;
•changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals;
•announcements related to patents issued to us or our competitors and to litigation involving our intellectual property;
•a lack of, limited, or negative industry or security analyst coverage;
•developments in our industry and general economic conditions;
•short-selling or similar activities by third parties; and
•other factors described elsewhere in these “Risk Factors.”
As a result of these factors, our stockholders may not be able to resell their shares of common stock at, or above, their purchase price. In addition, the stock prices of many
technology companies have experienced wide fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of those companies. Any negative change in the public’s
perception of the prospects of industrial biotechnology or “clean technology” companies could depress our stock price regardless of our results of operations. These factors may
have a material adverse effect on the market price of our common stock.
Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and their affiliates may prevent new investors from influencing significant corporate decisions.
Our executive officers and directors as a group beneficially own approximately 14.6% of our outstanding common stock. As a result, these shareholders will be able to exercise
a significant level of control over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, any amendment of our fourth amended and restated certificate of
incorporation (“Certificate of Incorporation”), as amended and/or restated hereafter, and approval of significant corporate transactions. This control could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in management and will make the approval of certain transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these
shareholders.
We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.
We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. Consequently, investors may need to rely on sales of their shares
after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.
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There can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”).
If NYSE delists our securities from trading on its exchange for failure to meet the listing standards, we and our securityholders could face significant material adverse
consequences including:
•a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;
•a determination that our common stock is a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in common stock to adhere to more stringent rules, possibly resulting in a
reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for shares of our common stock;
•a limited amount of analyst coverage; and
•a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.
If we do not meet the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the market price of our securities may decline.
Fluctuations in the price of our securities could contribute to the loss of all or part of your investment. If an active market for our securities develops and continues, the trading
price of our securities could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Any of the factors listed below
could have a material adverse effect on your investment in our securities and our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for them. In such
circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.
Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include:
•actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to us;
•changes in the market’s expectations about our operating results;
•success of competitors;
•our operating results failing to meet the expectation of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;
•changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning Danimer or the biopolymer industry in general;
•operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to ours;
•our ability to market new and enhanced products and technologies on a timely basis;
•changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;
•our ability to meet compliance requirements;
•commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us;
•changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;
•the volume of our shares of common stock available for public sale;
•any major change in our board of directors or management;
•sales of substantial amounts of our shares of common stock by our directors, executive officers or significant stockholders or the perception that such sales could occur;
and
•general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism.
Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities irrespective of our operating performance. The stock market in general, and NYSE in
particular, have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the particular companies affected.
The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of our securities, may not be predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the market for stocks or the stocks of other
companies which investors perceive to be similar to ours could depress our share price regardless of our business, prospects, financial conditions, or results of operations. A
decline in the market price of our securities also could adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the future.
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We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, or we may be subject to restructuring, impairment or other charges that could have a significant negative effect on
our financial condition, results of operations and the price of common stock, which could cause you to lose some or all of your investment.
Factors outside of our control may, at any time, arise. As a result of these factors, we may be forced to later write-down or write-off assets, restructure our operations or incur
impairment or other charges that could result in us reporting losses.
Even though these charges may be non-cash items and therefore not have an immediate impact on our liquidity, the fact that we report charges of this nature could contribute to
negative market perceptions about us or our securities. In addition, charges of this nature may cause us to be unable to obtain future financing on favorable terms or at all.
The issuance or sale of shares of our common stock, or rights to acquire shares of our common stock, could depress the trading price of our common stock.
We may conduct future offerings of our common stock, preferred stock or other securities that are convertible into or exercisable for our common stock to finance our
operations or fund acquisitions, or for other purposes. In addition, as of December 31, 2021, we have 10,589,010 shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon the
exercise of outstanding options to purchase common stock issued under Legacy Danimer’s stock incentive plans, which outstanding options were assumed by the Company in
connection with the Business Combination, and the Company’s 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (“2020 Plan”), 2,529,732 shares of common stock underlying the unvested
portion of outstanding restricted stock awards made under the 2020 Plan, 3,914,525 shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon the exercise of Private Warrants,
223,052 shares of common stock reserved for future grant or issuance under the 2020 Plan and 2,566,724 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under the
Company’s 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and 125,489 shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding Legacy Danimer non-plan
options that were assumed by the Company in connection with the Business Combination. In addition to the stock options granted under our equity plans, we awarded 1,466,874
and 244,073 stock options in 2021 and 2020, respectively, as well as 95,943 performance shares in 2021 that were contingent upon an increase in the number of shares issuable
under the 2020 Incentive Plan, which occurred in January 2022 when an additional 2,895,411 shares that had been reserved for future issuance under Legacy Danimer’s stock
incentive plans (as adjusted by the merger consideration exchange ratio in connection with the Business Combination) were assumed under the 2020 Plan. In December 2021,
we issued $240 million principal amount convertible notes (“Convertible Notes”). The initial conversion rate is 92.7085 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of
Convertible Notes, which represents an initial conversion price of approximately $10.79 per share of common stock. If the Convertible Notes were to be converted into
common stock in their entirety using the initial conversion rate, we would issue an additional 22,250,040 shares of common stock. If we issue additional shares of our common
stock or rights to acquire shares of our common stock, if any of our existing stockholders sells a substantial amount of our common stock, or if the market perceives that such
issuances or sales may occur, then the trading price of our common stock may significantly decline. In addition, our issuance of additional shares of common stock will dilute
the ownership interests of our existing common stockholders.
The capped call transactions may affect the value of our common stock.
In connection with our issuance of the Convertible Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions. The capped call transactions are generally intended to
reduce the potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the Convertible Notes and/or offset any potential cash payments we are required to make in excess of
the principal amount of converted notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap.
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In addition, the option counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various derivatives with respect to our common stock
and/or purchasing or selling our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the Convertible Notes (and are likely to do so
following any conversion of the Convertible Notes, any repurchase of the Convertible Notes by us on any fundamental change repurchase date, any redemption date or any
other date on which the notes are retired by us, in each case if we exercise the relevant election to terminate the corresponding portion of the capped call transactions). This
activity could also cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the market price of our common stock and, to the extent the activity occurs following conversion or during any
observation period related to a conversion of notes, it could affect the number of shares of common stock that convertible noteholders receive upon conversion of the
Convertible Notes.
The direction or magnitude of any potential effect that the transactions described above may have on the price of our common stock, if any, is uncertain and any of such effects
could adversely affect the price of our common stock.
We have incurred and will continue to incur significant increased expenses and administrative burdens as a public company, which could have an incremental adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses as a public company that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), including the requirements of Section 404, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(“PCAOB”) and the securities exchanges, impose additional reporting and other obligations on public companies. Compliance with public company requirements increases
costs and makes certain activities more time-consuming. A number of those requirements require us to carry out activities we have not done previously. For example, we have
created new board committees and have adopted new internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures. In addition, expenses associated with SEC reporting
requirements continue to be incurred. It may also continue to be more expensive to obtain director and officer liability insurance. Risks associated with our status as a public
company may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or as executive officers. The additional reporting and other
obligations imposed by these rules and regulations increase legal and financial compliance costs, and the costs of related legal, accounting and administrative activities. These
increased costs may require us to commit a significant amount of money that could otherwise have been used to expand the business and achieve strategic objectives. Advocacy
efforts by stockholders and third parties may also prompt additional changes in governance and reporting requirements, which could further increase costs.
We no longer qualify as an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act.
Since the market value of our outstanding securities held by non-affiliates on June 30, 2021 exceeded $700 million, we are deemed a “large accelerated filer,” as defined by the
SEC, as of January 1, 2022, and in turn we are no longer an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. As a result, for the year ended December 31, 2021, we are
subject to auditor attestation over our internal controls over financial reporting as required by Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Compliance with Section 404(b)
requires a significant amount of management's time and we have incurred expenses on information technology, process improvement, headcount additions, and consulting
services in order to be in compliance with such requirements.
Furthermore, as a large accelerated filer, we will also have to file a more expansive proxy statement and be subject to shorter filing deadlines, which will require additional time
and expense as well.
Our management has limited experience in operating a public company.
Our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or effectively manage our
continued transition to a public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. Their limited experience in
dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an increasing amount of their time may be
devoted to these activities which will result in less time being devoted to our management and growth. We may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate level of
knowledge, experience and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal controls over financial reporting required of public companies in the United States. The
development and implementation of the standards and controls
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necessary for us to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public company in the United States may require costs greater than expected. It is possible that we
will be required to expand our employee base and hire additional employees to support our operations as a public company which will increase our operating costs in future
periods.
The loss of certain key personnel could negatively impact the operations and financial results of our business.
Our ability to successfully operate our business is dependent upon the efforts of certain key personnel of ours and there can be no assurance that they will be able to do so. It is
possible that we will lose some key personnel, the loss of which could negatively impact our operations and profitability. Furthermore, certain of our key personnel may be
unfamiliar with the requirements of operating a company regulated by the SEC, which could cause us to have to expend time and resources helping them become familiar with
such requirements.
We may issue additional shares of common stock or preferred shares under an employee incentive plan which would dilute the interest of our stockholders.
Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of 200,000,000 shares of common stock, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, in each case, par value $0.0001 per
share. We may issue a substantial number of additional shares of common stock or shares of preferred stock under an employee incentive plan. The issuance of additional
common stock or preferred shares:
•may subordinate the rights of holders of common stock if one or more classes of preferred stock are created, and such preferred shares are issued, with rights senior to
those afforded to common stock; and
•could cause a change in control if a substantial number of shares of common stock are issued, which may affect, among other things, our ability to use our net operating
loss carry forwards, if any, and could result in the resignation or removal of our present officers and directors.
Our Certificate of Incorporation provides, subject to limited exceptions, that the courts of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder
litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.
Our Certificate of Incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that derivative actions brought in our name, actions against directors, officers and employees for
breach of fiduciary duty and other similar actions may be brought in the state courts in the State of Delaware or, if no state court located within the State of Delaware has
jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be
deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation. In addition, our Certificate of Incorporation provides that this choice of
forum does not apply to any complaint asserting a cause of action under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. Finally, our Certificate of Incorporation provides that federal
district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
In March 2020, the Delaware Supreme Court issued a decision in Salzburg et al. v. Sciabacucchi, which found that an exclusive forum provision providing for claims under the
Securities Act to be brought in federal court is facially valid under Delaware law. It is unclear whether this decision will be appealed, or what the final outcome of this case will
be. We intend to enforce this provision, but we do not know whether courts in other jurisdictions will agree with this decision or enforce it.
This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers,
other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in the
Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which
could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Because we have no current plans to pay cash dividends on common stock for the foreseeable future, you may not receive any return on investment unless you sell
common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.
We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion and debt repayment and have no current plans to pay any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any
decision to declare and pay dividends as a public company in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other things, our
results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions, and other factors that our board of
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directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be limited by covenants of any existing and future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries
incur. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in common stock unless you sell common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or our market, or if they change their recommendations
regarding our securities adversely, the price and trading volume of our securities could decline.
The trading market for our securities will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish about us, our business, market, or
competitors. If no additional securities or industry analysts commence coverage of our share price and trading volume may be negatively impacted. If any of the analysts who
may cover us change their recommendation regarding our shares of common stock adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the
price of our shares of common stock would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
Techniques employed by short sellers may drive down the market price of our common stock and/or spur litigation or regulatory action.
Short selling is the practice of selling securities that a seller does not own but rather has borrowed from a third party with the intention of buying identical securities back at a
later date to return to the lender. Short sellers hope to profit from a decline in the value of the securities between the sale of the borrowed securities and the purchase of the
replacement securities, as short sellers expect to pay less in that purchase than they received in the sale. As it is in short sellers’ interest for the price of the security to decline,
many short sellers publish, or arrange for the publication of, negative opinions and allegations regarding the relevant issuer and its business prospects in order to create negative
market momentum and generate profits for themselves after selling a security short. These short attacks have, in the past, led to selling of shares in the market.
We have had instances where we have been the subject of negative publicity campaigns based on incomplete, outdated or misunderstood information. We do not believe there is
any merit to these campaigns and we believe that their sole purpose was to benefit the short sellers of our securities. Furthermore, we believe that our responses to such
campaigns, together with the substantial amount of publicly available information about us, sufficiently demonstrate the lack of merit of each claim. It is not clear what longterm effect such negative publicity could have on us and/or whether we will continue to be subject to short seller attacks from time to time in the future. If we were to become
the subject of any additional unfavorable allegations, whether such allegations are proven to be true or untrue, we may have to expend a significant amount of resources to
investigate such allegations and/or defend ourselves. While we would prefer to strongly defend against any such short seller attacks, we may be constrained in the manner in
which we can proceed against the relevant short sellers by principles of freedom of speech, applicable state law or issues of commercial confidentiality. Such a situation could
be costly and time-consuming, and could divert management’s attention from our day-to-day operations. Even if such allegations are ultimately proven to be groundless,
allegations against us could severely impact the market price of our common stock and our business operations.
We believe that the several previously disclosed class action securities claims, the first of which was filed against us on May 14, 2021, are a result of these short seller reports.
Prior thereto, on May 5, 2021, we received a letter from the Atlanta regional office of the SEC, in connection with a non-public, fact-finding inquiry, requesting that the
Company voluntarily produce certain specified information. On July 14, 2021, we timely and voluntarily produced the information requested by the SEC. On January 26, 2022,
we received a follow-up request from the SEC for additional documents and information. We intend to fully comply with this and any subsequent requests we may receive.
ITEM 1B.
None.
ITEM 2.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters, primary research facility, PLA reactive extrusion plant, tolling operation and our PHA demonstration plant are located in Bainbridge, GA, in
approximately 200,000 square feet. Our PHA commercial production facility is located in Winchester, Kentucky in approximately 80,000 square feet.
The triple net lease under which we lease these properties, except for the PLA reactive extrusion plant we own, has an initial term through December 31, 2038 with four
optional renewal terms of five years each.
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Novomer’s 26,230 square feet offices are located in Rochester, NY, which we are leasing through June 30, 2028 and which contains one optional renewal term of five years.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Please refer to Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding material legal proceedings.
In the ordinary course of business, we may be a party to various other legal proceedings from time to time.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Certain Information Regarding the Trading of Our Common Stock
Our Common Stock currently trades under the symbol “DNMR” on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). Through December 29, 2020, our common stock, Units, and
Warrants were traded under the symbols “LOAK”, “LOAK-U”, and “LOAK-WS”, respectively, and these securities commenced public trading effective May 5, 2020. Upon
the consummation of the Business Combination, we separated our Units into their component units of one share of common stock and one-half warrant. On December 30, 2020,
our Warrants began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “DNMR-WS”. We redeemed these Warrants on June 16, 2021, after which trading ceased.
Holders of Our Common Stock
As of March 7, 2022, there were approximately 275 holders of record of shares of our common stock. These amounts do not include stockholders for whom shares are held in
“nominee” or “street” name.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
During the year ended December 31, 2021, we did not issue or sell any unregistered securities except as previously disclosed in our Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission
File No. 001-39280) filed on December 21, 2021.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the quarter ended December 31, 2021, 210,689 shares were surrendered to us in connection with our payment of the tax withholding obligations of participants in
connection with the partial vesting of their restricted stock awards.
Dividends
We have not paid any dividends on our common stock to date. It is our present intention to retain any earnings for use in our business operations and, accordingly we do not
anticipate that the board of directors will declare any dividends in the foreseeable future on our common stock.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes appearing in Part II, Item 8 of this Report. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. See
the section entitled “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in the
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under the section entitled “Risk Factors” or elsewhere in this Report. Unless the context
otherwise requires, references in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” to “we”, “us”, “our”, “Danimer”,
“Danimer Scientific”, and the “Company” are intended to mean the business and operations of Danimer and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Introductory Note
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations describes the business historically operated by Meredian Holdings Group and its
subsidiaries (“Legacy Danimer”) under the “Danimer Scientific” name as an independent enterprise prior to December 29, 2020.
On December 29, 2020, the registrant, Live Oak Acquisition Corp. (“Live Oak”), merged with and into Legacy Danimer, with Legacy Danimer surviving as the surviving
company (“Business Combination”) and as a wholly owned subsidiary of Live Oak, and changed its name from Live Oak Acquisition Corp. to Danimer Scientific, Inc.
(“Danimer”). Live Oak Acquisition Corp. (“Live Oak”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on May 24, 2019 as a special purpose acquisition company formed for the
purpose of effecting a business combination with one or more businesses. Live Oak completed its initial public offering in May 2020.
On August 11, 2021, we closed the acquisition of Novomer, Inc. (“Novomer”) in exchange for $153.9 million in cash, gross of cash acquired, subject to certain customary
adjustments as set forth in the merger agreement. Novomer's financial results are included in those of the Company from that date forward. In 2020, Novomer generated no
revenue and incurred a net loss of $9.1 million. Novomer utilizes feedstocks as an input into its proprietary thermal catalytic conversion process to produce a unique type of
PHA or p(3HP) or otherwise referred to under its brand name as Rinnovo.
Overview
We are a performance polymer company specializing in bioplastic replacement for traditional petroleum-based plastics. We bring together innovative technologies to deliver
biodegradable bioplastic materials to global consumer product companies. We believe that we are the only commercial company in the bioplastics market to combine the
production of a base polymer along with the reactive extrusion capacity in order to give customers a “drop-in” replacement for a wide variety of petroleum-based plastics. We
derive our revenue from product sales of PLA- and PHA-based resins as well as from services such as R&D and tolling.
PHA-based Resins: We are a leading producer of polyhydroxyalkanoate (“PHA”), a biodegradable plastic alternative, which we sell under the proprietary Nodax brand name,
for use in a wide variety of plastic applications including straws and food containers, among other things. We make Nodax through a fermentation process where bacteria
consume vegetable oil and make PHA within their cell walls as energy reserves. We harvest the PHA from the bacteria, then purify and filter the bioplastic before forming the
PHA into pellets, which we combine with other inputs using a reactive extrusion process to manufacture formulated finished product. PHAs are a complete replacement for
petroleum-based plastics where the convertors do not have to purchase new equipment to switch to the new biodegradable plastic. Utilizing PHA as a base resin significantly
expands the number of potential applications for bioplastics in the industry and enables us to produce resin that is not just compostable, but also fully biodegradable.
We recently began making PHA on a commercial scale. In December 2018, we acquired a fermentation facility in Winchester, Kentucky (“Kentucky Facility”). We embarked
on a two-phase commissioning strategy for the Kentucky Facility. Phase II construction is underway with production expected to commence in the second quarter of 2022,
which will expand the capacity of the plant by 45 million pounds of finished product, bringing total plant capacity up to 65 million pounds of finished product per year. We have
invested approximately $114 million of the approximate budgeted $128 million, in the Phase II expansion through December 31, 2021, excluding pre-engineering costs,
capitalized interest and internal labor and overhead.
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In November 2021, we broke ground for the construction of a PHA plant in Bainbridge, Georgia ("Greenfield Facility") that would require a capital investment of approximately
$500 million to $612 million with a planned annual production capacity of approximately 125 million pounds of finished product. Through December 31, 2021, we have
invested approximately $77 million in the Greenfield Facility, excluding capitalized interest and internal labor. We may add additional capacity to the Greenfield Facility at a
future date.
We currently anticipate spending between $100 million to $180 million on the Rinnovo plant. Once the Rinnovo plant is completed and after making some additional
investments in extrusion capacity, the Danimer network is expected to have production capacity of approximately 330 million pounds of PHA-based finished product resins
when blended with other inputs. Danimer also expects to have approximately 60 million pounds of Rinnovo remaining to sell on a standalone basis or in formulations that don't
include Nodax.
PLA-based Resins: Since 2004, we have been producing proprietary plastics using a natural plastic called polylactic acid (“PLA”) as a base resin. PLA has limited functionality
in its unformulated, or “neat,” form. We purchase PLA and formulate it into bioplastic resins by leveraging the expertise of our chemists and our proprietary reactive extrusion
process. Our formulated PLA products allow many companies to begin to use renewable and compostable plastics to meet their customers’ growing sustainability needs. We
were the first company in the world to create a bioplastic suitable for coating disposable paper cups to withstand the temperatures of hot liquids such as coffee. We have
expanded our product portfolio and now supply customers globally.
Research and Development and Other Services: Our technology team partners with global consumer product companies to develop custom biopolymer formulations for
specific applications. R&D contracts are designed to develop a formulated resin using PHA, PLA and other biopolymers that can be run efficiently on existing conversion
equipment. We expect successful R&D contracts to culminate in supply agreements with the customers. Our R&D services not only provide revenue but also a pipeline of future
products.
In addition to producing our own products, we also toll manufacture for customers that need the unique extruder or reactor setup we employ for new or scale-up production. Our
specialty tolling services primarily involve processing customer-owned raw materials to assist them in addressing their extrusion capacity constraints or manufacturing
challenges.
Comparability of Financial Information
Our results of operations may not be comparable between periods as a result of the Business Combination and the acquisition of Novomer.
As a result of the Business Combination, we are an SEC-registered and NYSE-listed company, which will require us to continue to hire additional personnel and implement
procedures and processes to address public company regulatory requirements and customary practices. We expect to continue to incur additional expenses as a public company
for, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees and additional internal and external accounting and legal and administrative resources,
including increased audit and legal fees.
Key Factors Affecting Operating Results
We believe that our performance and future success depend on several factors that present significant opportunities for us but also pose risks and challenges, including those
discussed below and in the section of this Report titled “Risk Factors.”
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Factors Impacting Our Revenue
We derive our revenue from product sales of PHA- and PLA-based resins as well as from services such as R&D and tolling.
Our product revenue is significantly impacted by our ability to continue to successfully scale the Kentucky Facility for commercial production of PHA. The completion of Phase
II of the Kentucky Facility will significantly increase our capacity to produce PHA, which is in high demand by our customers. Using our PHAs as base resin significantly
expands the number of potential applications for bioplastics and also enables us to produce a resin that is not just compostable, but also fully biodegradable. Since we just
recently introduced our PHA on a commercial scale, our product revenues are also impacted by the timing and success of customer trials as well as product degradation testing
and certifications. Our product revenue from PLA-based resins is primarily impacted by the effective launch of new product offerings in new markets by our customers as well
as the ability of our suppliers to continue to grow their production capacity of neat PLA. Finally, our product revenue is impacted by our ability to deliver biopolymer
formulations that can be efficiently run on customer conversion equipment and meet customer application specifications and requirements.
We have a fairly low number of customers. In 2021, we had two customers that each accounted for more than 10% of total revenue and collectively represented 35% of total
revenue. In 2020, we had three such customers that collectively represented 58% of total revenue.
Our service revenue is primarily impacted by the timing of, and execution against, customer contracts. Research and development services generally involve milestone-based
contracts to develop PHA-based solutions designed to a customer’s specifications. Upon the completion of research and development contracts, customers generally have the
option to enter into long-term supply agreements with us for the developed product solutions. Our ability to grow our service revenue depends on our ability to achieve a track
record of developing successful biopolymer formulations for our customers and our ability to effectively transition those customer formulations to commercial scale production.
Factors Impacting Our Operating Expenses
Costs of revenue
Cost of revenue is comprised of costs of goods sold and direct costs associated with research and development service projects. Costs of goods sold consists of raw materials
and ingredients, labor costs including stock-based compensation for production staff, related production overhead, rent and depreciation costs. Costs associated with research
and development service contracts include labor costs, related overhead costs and outside consulting and testing fees incurred in direct relation to the specific service contract.
Selling, general and administrative expense
Selling, general and administrative expense consists of salaries, marketing expense, corporate administration expenses, stock-based compensation not allocated to research and
development or costs of revenue personnel, and elements of depreciation, rent and facility expenses that are not directly attributable to direct costs of production or associated
with research and development activities.
Research and development expense
Research and development expense includes salaries, stock-based compensation, third-party consulting and testing fees, and rent and related facility expenses directly
attributable to research and development activities not associated with revenue generating service projects.
Impacts Related to the COVID-19 Pandemic
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 to be a global pandemic and recommended containment and mitigation measures
worldwide. In response, government authorities have issued an evolving set of mandates, including requirements to shelter-in-place, curtail business operations, restrict travel
and avoid physical interaction. These mandates and the continued spread of COVID-19 have disrupted normal business activities in many segments of the global economy,
resulting in weakened economic conditions. Government mandates have been lifted by certain public authorities and economic conditions have improved in certain sectors of
the economy. Certain regions of the world have experienced increasing numbers of COVID-19 cases, however, and if this continues and if public authorities intensify efforts to
contain the spread of COVID-19, normal business activity may be further disrupted and economic conditions could weaken.
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Our ability to continue to operate without any significant negative impacts will in part depend on our ability to protect our employees and our supply chain. We have endeavored
to follow actions recommended by governments and health authorities to protect our employees, with particular measures in place for those working in our manufacturing and
laboratory facilities. We have been able to broadly maintain our operations, and we intend to continue to work with our stakeholders (including customers, employees, suppliers
and local communities) to responsibly address this global pandemic. However, uncertainty resulting from the global pandemic could result in an unforeseen disruption to our
supply chain (for example a closure of a key manufacturing or distribution facility or the inability of a key material or transportation supplier to source and transport materials)
that could impact our operations.
Although our revenue has continued to grow during the ongoing global pandemic, we believe that some of our customers have deferred decision making and commitments
regarding future orders and new contracts. The global pandemic has also resulted in elevated shipping costs as well as delays in performing trials with new customers and
obtaining certification for new products. During this period and especially prior to the merger, we have delayed certain capital expenditures in order to conserve financial
resources, resulting in a slower than expected scale up of the Kentucky Facility. We have not observed any material impairments of our assets or a significant change in the fair
value of assets due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
For additional information on risk factors that could impact our results, please refer to “Risk Factors” located elsewhere in this Report.
Current Developments
During our fiscal year, we made further inroads in our mission to create biodegradable consumer packaging and other products which address the global plastics waste crisis,
building on our team’s many accomplishments since we became a public company in late 2020 by:
•Acquiring and integrating Novomer;
•Continuing Phase II of the expansion of our Kentucky Facility on track for completion by Q2 2022;
•Negotiating development and supply agreements with Mars and Total Corbion PLA;
•Breaking ground on the Greenfield Facility; and
•Issuing $240 million of convertible notes to assist with funding capital expenditures.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reported periods. The more critical accounting estimates include estimates related to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, leases and business combinations. We
also have other key accounting policies, which involve the use of estimates, judgments and assumptions that are significant to understanding our results, which are described in
Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue from product sales and services in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). Under ASC 606, we
recognize revenue when our customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for those
goods or services. At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within each contract and determine which are performance obligations and assess whether
each promised good or service is distinct. We then recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or
as) the performance obligation is satisfied.
We derive our revenues from: 1) product sales of compostable resins; and 2) research and development (R&D) services related to developing customized formulations of
biodegradable resins based on PHA as well as tolling revenues.
We generally produce and sell finished products and we typically recognize revenue for these sales upon shipment. Due to the highly specialized nature of our products, returns
are infrequent, and therefore we do not estimate amounts for sales returns and allowances. We offer a standard quality assurance warranty related to the fitness of our finished
goods. There are no forms of variable consideration such as discounts, rebates, or volume discounts that we estimate to reduce our transaction price.
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R&D service revenues generally involve milestone-based contracts under which we work with a customer to develop a PHA-based specific solution designed to the customer’s
specifications, which may involve a single or multiple performance obligations. When an R&D contract has multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price
to the performance obligations utilizing a cost-plus approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price, which contemplates the level of effort to satisfy the performance
obligations, and then allocate the transaction price to each of the performance obligations based on the relative percentage of the stand-alone selling price. We recognize revenue
for these R&D services over time with progress based on personnel hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated personnel hours for each performance obligation
identified within the contract. Upon completion of the R&D services, the customers have an option to enter into long-term supply agreements with us for the product(s) that
were developed within the respective contracts. We concluded these customer options were marketing offers, not separate performance obligations, since the options did not
provide a material right to any of our customers.
Stock-based Compensation
We have granted stock-based awards to employees with vesting requirements based on duration of service only, a combination of market-based and service-based conditions,
and a combination of performance-based and service-based conditions. We recognize expense associated with service-based only condition awards on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period. We recognize expense associated with awards with market-based or performance-based vesting conditions on a straight-line basis over the longest
of the explicit, implicit or derived service period term of the award.
We use a Black-Scholes option pricing model to value stock option awards and we value for restricted stock awards without a market-based component at the price of our
common stock. For awards with a market-based component, we use a Monte Carlo simulation. Instruments that may be settled in cash are recorded as liabilities and are
revalued each period. All other instruments qualify as equity and are valued only at the grant date. For more information about our methods of valuation, see Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
We record the effects of forfeitures as they occur.
Leases
We account for leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, and we determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. We record right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
operating leases based on the present value of the future lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. As most of the leases do not provide a readily determinable
rate implicit in the lease, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date, such as rates recently offered to us by lenders on
proposed borrowings, in determining the present value of future payments. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease, typically at our own discretion.
We evaluate the renewal options at commencement and if they are reasonably certain of exercise, we include the renewal period in the lease term.
Business Combinations
We recognize assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated acquisition date fair values, with the excess of purchase price over the estimated fair values of
identifiable net assets recorded as goodwill. Assigning fair values may require us to make significant estimates and assumptions regarding the fair value of identifiable
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, or other assets or liabilities. We may refine these estimates if necessary over a period not to exceed one year by taking into
consideration new information that, if known at the acquisition date, would have affected the fair values recognized for assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Significant estimates and assumptions are used in estimating the value of acquired identifiable intangible assets, including estimating future cash flows based on forecasted
revenues and EBITDA margins that we expect to generate following the acquisition and applying an appropriate discount rate to estimate a present value of those cash flows
and determining their useful lives. These assumptions are forward-looking and their realization will be affected by future economic and market conditions.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
A discussion of recently issued accounting standards applicable to us is included in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands)
Revenue:
Products
Services
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Gross profit percentage
Operating expense:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
(Gain) loss on sale of assets
Total operating expense
Loss from operations
Nonoperating (expense) income:
Gain on remeasurement of private warrants
Interest, net
Gain on forgiveness of debt
Loss on loan extinguishment
Other, net
Total nonoperating (expense) income:
Loss before income taxes
Income taxes
Net loss

Years Ended December 31,
2020

2021
$

50,769
7,980
58,749
57,865
884
1.5 %

$

$

40,692
6,641
47,333
35,876
11,457
24.2 %

Change
$

10,077
1,339
11,416
21,989
(10,573 )

80,004
20,270
82
100,356
(99,472 )

19,343
7,851
(9 )
27,185
(15,728 )

60,661
12,419
91
73,171
(83,744 )

27,767
(763 )
1,776
(2,604 )
(44 )
26,132
(73,340 )
13,233
(60,107 )

3,720
(2,080 )
5,266
(31 )
6,875
(8,853 )
(8,853 )

24,047
1,317
(3,490 )
(2,604 )
(13 )
19,257
(64,487 )
13,233
(51,254 )

$

$

Revenue
Revenue in 2021 increased 24% as compared to 2020, driven by a year-over-year increase in product revenue of 25%. Shipment volume in 2021 as compared to 2020 increased
17% and our weighted average selling price increased 6% for the same periods. This increase in product revenue was attributable to an increase in PHA-based product sales of
$16.3 million, which was partially offset by a decrease in PLA-based product sales of $6.2 million. This increase in PHA-based product sales was the result of the continued
increase of production capacity at our Kentucky Facility. The decrease in PLA-based product sales was primarily the result of some of our PLA customers deciding to increase
their inventory levels in 2020 to protect against potential supply chain disruptions that might arise due to the spread of the COVID-19 virus. Once these higher inventory levels
were achieved, certain of these customers slowed their orders beginning in the fourth quarter of 2020 and continuing for much of 2021. The 2021 increase in service revenue as
compared to 2020 relates primarily to increased revenue from research and development contracts as we continue to address customer demand for new applications by
expanding our capacity in this area by adding personnel and equipment.
We had two customers that accounted for 35% of total revenue during 2021, as compared to three customers that accounted for 58% of total revenue during 2020.
Cost of revenue and gross profit
Cost of revenue in 2021 increased 61% compared to 2020. The increase in cost of revenue is primarily a result of the cost of PHA-based products representing a significantly
larger portion of our total cost of revenue during 2021 than in 2020. The average cost per pound of PHA-based products sold in 2021 was significantly higher than that of PLAbased products due to (1) increasing depreciation costs as we placed additional PHA production capacity in service and (2) elevated per-unit fixed-cost absorption at our
Kentucky Facility as we ran these new assets at less than full capacity while scaling up production. Included in the increase in cost of revenue was a $4.4 million increase in
depreciation expense and a $0.5 million increase in rent expense. We anticipate that our per-unit fixed-cost absorption will improve as rent, depreciation and other fixed costs
become a smaller portion of our overall cost of revenue, as PHA production output at the Kentucky Facility continues to increase.
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Operating expense
The increase in selling, general and administrative expense in 2021 as compared to 2020 was due primarily to an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $45.5 million,
which was primarily related to equity awards that were granted in conjunction with the Business Combination. Also contributing to this increase were $3.2 million in legal fees
incurred to support our transition to becoming a publicly-traded company, our acquisition of Novomer in August 2021 and our defense against ongoing litigation; $2.6 million
in other Novomer deal-related expenses; an increase of $1.8 million in accounting and auditing fees representing costs incurred to address the financial reporting requirements
of becoming a public company; a $2.4 million increase in property and other insurance costs associated with our growing asset base; increases in compensation and benefits
related to hiring additional finance and administrative staff; and incremental operating expenses arising from the inclusion of Novomer in our results starting in mid-August
2021. The increase in research and development expense year over year was primarily attributed to increases in stock-based compensation expense of $6.8 million primarily
related to equity awards granted in conjunction with the Business Combination, $3.7 million of incremental R&D expenses attributable to Novomer's operations (inclusive of
depreciation and amortization), and increased compensation and benefits costs of $1.9 million related to additional headcount in the research and development areas.
Gain on remeasurement of private warrants
The gains on remeasurement of private warrants primarily reflect “mark-to-market” adjustments reflecting the change in the price of our common stock during each year. The
2020 gain is based on the change in the price of our common stock between the Business Combination date of December 29, 2020 and December 31, 2020.
Interest, net
Net interest expense in 2021 decreased by $1.3 million as compared to 2020. Interest expense decreased primarily due to the payoff of the 2019 Term Loan in January 2021, the
settlement of convertible notes into equity in December 2020, and the extinguishment of certain loans issued in connection with the New Market Tax Credit program. This
decrease was partially offset by capitalized interest declining to $0.6 million in 2021 from $3.7 million in 2020. The interest capitalization primarily relates to the purchase,
modification and installation of machinery and equipment at the Kentucky Facility and declined due to a reduction in debt balances when comparing the annual periods.
Gain on forgiveness of debt and loss on extinguishment of debt
During 2021, we recognized a loss of $2.6 million due to the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs and prepayments and other fees related to the voluntary pay off of our
2019 Term Loan balance, which was partially offset by the $1.8 million gain recognized from the forgiveness of our PPP Loan. During 2020, we recognized a gain of $5.3
million on the extinguishment of New Markets Tax Credit (“NMTC”) loans, as further described in Note 9 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Income taxes
In 2021, we recorded significant deferred tax liabilities in connection with the acquisition of Novomer. As a result, we expect to realize certain of our deferred tax assets to
offset these liabilities and we have released the valuation allowance associated with these deferred tax assets. This release of valuation allowance has been recorded as a tax
benefit of $13.2 million in the current period. Other than the release of the valuation allowance related to the Novomer acquisition, we continued to maintain a full valuation
allowance against our net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding realization of such assets. There have been no significant changes in estimated uncertain tax
benefits as of December 31, 2021. In 2020, we had no income tax expense or benefit since we were maintaining a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets.
Our effective tax rates differed from the federal statutory rate of 21% due to our net loss position and maintaining a full valuation allowance, other than as noted in connection
with the acquisition of Novomer in the current period.
Net loss
The increase in net loss in 2021 as compared to 2020 was primarily attributable to the stock-based compensation expenses and the lower gross profit as discussed above,
partially offset by the larger gain on remeasurement of the private warrants and the 2021 income tax benefit of $13.2 million.
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Year Ended December 31, 2020 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2019
Management’s Discussion and Analysis comparing the results for the year ended December 31, 2020 to the results for the year ended December 31, 2019 can be found in our
Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity are equity issuances and debt financings. We had accumulated deficits of $118.9 million and $58.8 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. As of December 31, 2021, we had $286.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $296.9 million. As of December 31, 2020, we had $377.6
million in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $351.9 million. While we believe we have developed an ongoing source of revenue that will be sufficient to cover
our ongoing operating costs, we are currently experiencing a period of significant capital expenditures resulting from the ongoing expansion and construction of our
manufacturing and production facilities.
Excluding pre-engineering costs, capitalized interest and internal labor and overhead, we have invested $113.6 million in the Phase II expansion through December 31, 2021. In
total, we expect to invest approximately $128 million for the Phase II expansion by the time it is completed. We broke ground on our Greenfield Facility construction ahead of
schedule in November 2021 and started placing orders for long-lead time equipment items to mitigate the impacts of ongoing inflation and delivery delays that may result from
global supply chain challenges. As of December 31, 2021, we have invested $77.1 million of capital for the Greenfield Facility. The completion of the Greenfield Facility is
contingent upon receiving additional financing. We believe we have adequate liquidity to fund our operations for the next twelve months.
2021 Debt Financings
3.25% Convertible Senior Notes
On December 21, 2021, we issued $240 million principal amount 3.250% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (“Notes”) and governed by an indenture (“Indenture”).
The Notes are our senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our existing and future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of payment
to our existing and future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; (iii) effectively subordinated to our existing and future secured indebtedness, to the extent of
the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables.
The Notes accrue interest at a rate of 3.250% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2022. The Notes
will mature on December 15, 2026. Before June 15, 2026, noteholders have the right to convert their Notes only upon the occurrence of certain events. Starting on June 15,
2026, noteholders may elect to convert their Notes at any time until the close of business on December 11, 2026. We will settle conversions by paying or delivering, as
applicable, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election. The initial conversion rate is 92.7085 shares of
common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Notes, or approximately $10.79 per share of common stock. The conversion rate and conversion price will be subject to
customary adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events. In addition, if certain corporate events that constitute a “Make-Whole Fundamental Change” (as defined in the
Indenture) occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a specified period of time.
The Notes will be redeemable at our option between December 19, 2024, and October 20, 2026, but only if certain liquidity conditions are satisfied and the last reported sale
price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price on (i) each of at least 20 trading days during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading
day before the date we send the related redemption notice; and (ii) the trading day immediately before the date we send such notice. However, we may not redeem less than all
of the outstanding notes unless at least $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of notes are outstanding and not called for redemption as of the time we send the related
redemption notice. The redemption price will be a cash amount equal to the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus any accrued interest. In addition, calling any
Note for redemption will constitute a Make-Whole Fundamental Change with respect to that Note, in which case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note
will be increased in certain circumstances.
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Capped Calls
Also in December 2021, in connection with the Notes, we purchased capped calls (“Capped Calls”) with certain well-capitalized financial institutions for $35 million. The
Capped Calls were structured to partially offset the increase in the outstanding number of shares of our common stock should we settle the Notes in shares, or to reduce the net
cash outlay required should we settle the Notes in cash. The Capped Calls are call options that permit us, at our option, to require the counterparties to deliver to us shares of
our common stock.
The number of shares to be delivered upon such exercise is dependent on the market value of our common stock at the time of exercise, subject to a cap initially equal to $16.92,
and an initial strike price of $10.79 per share. The cap and strike price are subject to adjustment in response to specified changes in our capitalization such as stock splits.
Considering these unadjusted figures and assuming a cash settlement of the principal amount of the Notes upon a conversion, if we settle the incremental value of the Notes
upon conversion with shares when the market price (as measured according to the terms of the Capped Call) of our common stock is between $10.79 and $16.92, we will be able
to call shares equal to the number of incremental shares issuable under the Notes. If such stock price is less than that, then the Capped Calls are “out of the money” and we
would not exercise them. To the extent such stock price is greater than $16.92, we would be unable to call enough shares under the Capped Calls to entirely offset the number of
incremental shares to be issued by us. We may net-settle the Capped Calls and receive cash instead of shares, and the Capped Calls have an outside expiration date of April 12,
2027.
2020 Debt Financings
In January and August of 2020, we issued convertible notes for an aggregate principal amount of $2.7 million. During 2020, these notes were converted to 195,069 shares of
Legacy Danimer stock, which was then converted to 1,686,507 shares of our common stock on December 29, 2020.
In April 2020, we received $1.8 million in funds under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP Loan”). In connection with the Business Combination, proceeds at closing were
deposited into an escrow account to fully fund repayment of this loan. During 2021, our PPP Loan was forgiven and we received the escrow balance, net of associated fees, of
$1.8 million and recognized a gain of $1.8 million. See Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
2019 Debt Financings
In March 2019, we entered into a credit agreement (“2019 Term Loan”) for a $30 million term loan maturing on October 13, 2023. On January 29, 2021, we terminated the
2019 Term Loan by paying the outstanding principal amount of $27.0 million, a prepayment fee of $0.5 million and $0.2 million in accrued interest.
In March 2019, we entered into a subordinated credit agreement (“Subordinated Term Loan”) for $10 million in term loans. The term loans mature on February 13, 2024 and
require monthly interest only payments with the outstanding principal balance due at maturity. After an amendment on March 18, 2021, the base interest rate is the LIBOR plus
2%. The Subordinated Term Loan provides for “springing” financial covenants including leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio and adjusted EBITDA covenants that apply
only if Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries have less than $10 million of unrestricted cash on deposits and imposes a maximum capital expenditures limit.
Our ability to prepay the loan is restricted until after July 1, 2022.
In April and November 2019, we entered into financing arrangements under the NMTC program with various unrelated third-party financial institutions (individually and
collectively referred to as “Investors”) in the amounts of $9.0 million and $12.0 million, respectively. Proceeds of these NMTC notes were primarily used to purchase and install
new equipment at our facilities in Bainbridge, Georgia, and Winchester, Kentucky. We make interest-only payments on a quarterly basis with interest calculated annually at
1.96% on the $9.0 million note and under the same terms at a rate of 1.06% on the $12.0 million note. As further described in Note 9 to our Consolidated Financial Statements,
these arrangements also include a put/call feature which becomes enforceable at the end of the seven-year compliance periods whereby we may be obligated or entitled to
repurchase the Investor’s interests in each of the Investment Funds for a nominal amount or fair value. We believe the Investors will exercise their put options at the end of the
compliance periods for each of the transactions for nominal amounts, which would result in the extinguishment of these NMTC notes payable and a corresponding gain.
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2021 Equity Issuances
At December 31, 2020, there were 16,000,000 outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. Each warrant entitled the holder to purchase one share of our
common stock at a price of $11.50. During 2021, warrant holders exercised 12,033,169 warrants. Net of fees, we collected $138.2 million in connection with these exercises.
2020 Equity Issuances
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we sold 516,763 shares of Legacy Danimer common stock for $32.5 million, net of issuance costs. In addition, 184,587 Legacy
Danimer employee and nonemployee stock options were exercised for aggregate proceeds of $5.5 million. In connection with the Business Combination, we realized net
proceeds after transaction costs of approximately $381 million.
Cash Flows for 2021 and 2020
The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities:
Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Net cash used in operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

2021
$
$
$

2020
(62,963 )
(336,168 )
306,202

$
$
$

(13,797 )
(38,259 )
422,675

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash used in operating activities was $63.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to net cash used in operating activities of $13.8 million during the
comparable period for 2020. The period-to-period change was primarily attributable to the decline in gross profit related to the scale up of the Kentucky Facility, an increase in
operating expenses between the periods, and a $21.7 million increase in cash used to fund changes in working capital.
Cash flows from investing activities
For the year ended December 31, 2021, we used $336.2 million in investing activities which compares to $38.3 million used in investing activities for the year ended December
31, 2020. This increase was due to spending $151.2 million, net of cash acquired, for the acquisition of Novomer, as well as spending $185.4 million on purchases of property,
plant and equipment in 2021 as compared to $38.3 million in 2020. The increase in purchases of property, plant and equipment was related to capital expenditures incurred in
conjunction with the Phase II expansion of the production capacity of our Kentucky Facility and beginning construction of the Greenfield Facility. Through December 31,
2021, we incurred $113.6 million of approximately $128 million planned for the Phase II expansion project and $77.1 million of the $500 million to $612 million planned for
the Greenfield Facility.
Cash flows from financing activities
For 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $306.2 million, which consisted primarily of:
•Proceeds of $240.2 million from the issuance of the Notes, offset by $35.0 million used to purchase capped call options
•Proceeds of $138.2 million from exercise of our publicly-traded warrants
•Principal payments on long-term debt of $27.2 million, primarily driven by the voluntary repayment of the 2019 Term Loan in the amount of $27 million
•Payment of debt issuance costs, primarily related to the Notes, of $10.4 million.
For 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $422.7 million, which consisted primarily of:
•Proceeds of $382.1 million from the Business Combination and PIPE offering, net of cash transaction costs
•Proceeds of $32.5 million from sales of common stock, net of issuance costs
•Proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $5.5 million
•Proceeds of $4.5 million from long-term debt
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Material Cash Requirements
We enter into a variety of contractual obligations in addition to capital expenditures as part of our normal operations. As of December 31, 2021, we have (i) debt obligations
related to our $240.0 million Convertible Notes which mature in 2026 and other non-NMTC debt obligations of $10.9 million, which include cash principal and interest
payments through 2026, (ii) operating and finance lease obligations that total $58.1 million in cash payments through 2038, and (iii) purchases related to our capital projects for
engineering services, construction services, construction materials and equipment purchases of approximately $72.5 million which we will incur during 2022 and 2023. We
expect to fund these cash requirements from cash on hand.
Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
At December 31, 2021, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.
Currently we do not engage in off-balance sheet financing arrangements.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Under SEC rules and regulations, because we are considered to be a “smaller reporting company”, we are not required to provide the information required by this item in this
report.
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

See financial statements included in Item 15, “Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules,” of this Report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (“Certifying Officers”) carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2021. Our Certifying Officers concluded that, as a
result of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting as described below, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31,
2021. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
In light of the material weaknesses described below, management performed additional analyses and other procedures to ensure that our Consolidated Financial Statements were
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, management believes that the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report fairly present, in all
material respects, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows as of and for the periods presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.
The Company acquired Novomer, Inc. (“Novomer”) during 2021, and management excluded Novomer from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, Novomer’s internal control over financial reporting associated with 20% of total assets and less than 1% of total
revenues included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021.
Management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Certifying Officers, evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2021 using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
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(2013). Based on this assessment, we identified a material weakness in risk assessment resulting in the following material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2021:
•Ineffective controls over the accuracy of the quantities billed for product revenue.
•Ineffective controls over the expense attribution for certain stock-based compensation awards.
•Ineffective controls over the preparation and review of the tax provision, including the assignment of control operators with requisite knowledge, experience, and
expertise.
•Ineffective controls over the processing and payment of vendor invoices for certain contracts with progress billings.
Except for the control deficiency over the accuracy of the quantities billed for product revenue, for which no adjustment was required, the other control deficiencies resulted in
misstatements that were corrected prior to the issuance of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Because these particular control deficiencies create a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement to the Consolidated Financial Statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, we concluded that the control deficiencies represent
material weaknesses and in turn that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2021.
Management’s Remediation Plans
Management remains committed to operating effective internal controls over financial reporting and plans to remediate the identified material weaknesses by enhancing its risk
assessment process and by taking the following specific actions:
•Designing and enhancing procedures, and automated controls related to the accuracy of the quantities billed for product revenue.
•Designing and enhancing controls over determining appropriate expense attribution for certain stock-based compensation awards.
•Designing and enhancing controls over the preparation and review of the income tax provision, including the involvement of individuals with requisite knowledge,
experience, and expertise.
•Designing and enhancing controls over processing and paying vendor invoices for certain contracts with progress billings.
These remediation actions have been reported to and are overseen by the Audit Committee. Management believes these measures will remediate the material weaknesses and
strengthen internal control over financial reporting. Management is currently assessing the design and operating effectiveness of the revised and new controls and will not
consider these material weaknesses to have been remediated until these controls operate effectively for sufficient periods of time and management has concluded, through
testing, that these controls are operating effectively.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Except as related to the material weaknesses described above, there have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection
with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the Company’s fourth fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2021 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
ITEM 9C.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.
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PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Danimer’s directors and executive officers and their ages as of March 7, 2022 are as follows:
Name
Executive Officers
Stephen E. Croskrey*
John A. Dowdy, III
Phillip Van Trump
Michael Smith
Scott Tuten
Non-Employee Directors
John P. Amboian(1)(3)
Richard J. Hendrix (2)
Christy Basco(1)
Philip Gregory Calhoun(2)
Gregory Hunt (1)
Dr. Isao Noda(3)
Stuart Pratt*

Age

Position

62
49
45
53
46

Chief Executive Officer, Director and Chairman of the Board
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Science & Technology Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Marketing & Sustainability Officer

60
56
55
59
65
71
76

Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

* Due to the nature of the relationship these directors have with Danimer, they are deemed to not be independent directors.
(1) Member of the audit committee.
(2) Member of the compensation committee.
(3) Member of the nominating and corporate governance committee.
Executive Officers
Stephen E. Croskrey. Mr. Croskrey has served as chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of Danimer since December 2020. From February 2016 through the
Business Combination, Mr. Croskrey was chief executive officer and a member of the board of directors of Legacy Danimer. Mr. Croskrey is a business leader with over 30
years of experience in overseeing the strategic direction and operations of companies that manufacture and market a variety of products such as industrial fibers, and lawenforcement gear. From 1999 to 2005, Mr. Croskrey served as the president and chief executive officer of Armor Holdings Products, LLC, a major manufacturer of military,
law enforcement, and personnel safety equipment. During such tenure its annual revenue increased from $45 million to over $300 million as a result of him overseeing the
acquisition and integration of 13 companies and implementing associated organic growth initiatives. Mr. Croskrey has also held senior executive positions at Allied Signal and
Mobil Oil. Mr. Croskrey received an MBA degree from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University. He also received a Bachelor of Science degree in
Engineering from the United States Military Academy at West Point where he was also commissioned as an officer in the U.S. Army and served as a company commander,
attaining the rank of captain during his six years of active duty. He is well-qualified to serve on the Board due to his extensive leadership, operational and advisory background
as well as his significant strategic experience in acquiring and integrating companies.
John A. Dowdy, III. Mr. Dowdy has been Danimer’s chief financial officer since December 2020, and prior to that had been Legacy Danimer’s chief financial officer since
May 2014. He has significant experience in private industry and public company finance and accounting, including assisting emergent companies in the transition from
privately-held to publicly-traded businesses. Prior to joining Legacy Danimer, from 2008 to 2014, Mr. Dowdy served as Vice President of Finance for international business and
chief accounting officer at Yandex, one of Europe’s largest internet companies and the leading internet search provider in Russia. During his tenure as Yandex’s chief
accounting officer, Mr. Dowdy played a key role in facilitating its successful $1.4 billion initial public offering in 2011. From 1997 to 2007, Mr. Dowdy was the chief
accounting officer of CTC Media, assistant corporate controller for Golden Telecom and an auditor with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Mr. Dowdy is a Certified Public
Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting from the University of Georgia, having graduated summa cum laude.
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Phillip Van Trump. Mr. Van Trump has been Danimer’s chief science and technology officer since December 2020, and prior to that had been Legacy Danimer’s chief
technology officer since 2014. Mr. Van Trump manages research and development, product development, regulatory affairs and intellectual property for Danimer. Prior to these
roles, Mr. Van Trump worked in a variety of positions within Legacy Danimer, performing bench-scale to pilot-level research as well as playing an integral role in the
procurement of equipment and laboratory personnel to advance Danimer’s objectives. He holds a Bachelor of Science in molecular biology and microbiology from the
University of Central Florida and an MBA from Emory University.
Michael Smith. Mr. Smith has been Danimer’s chief operating officer since December 2020 and prior to that had been Legacy Danimer’s chief operating officer since 2007. He
has significant manufacturing experience, especially in implementing lean manufacturing techniques, and is integral to the continuous-process improvement of Danimer’s
manufacturing operations. Prior to joining Legacy Danimer, Mr. Smith held high-level manufacturing positions at Ingersoll Rand from 1991 to 1996, Amoco from 1996 to
1998, British Petroleum from 1998 to 2004, and Propex from 2004 to 2007. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in industrial and systems engineering from the Georgia
Institute of Technology and has received extensive training in the Six Sigma Tools process controls and lean manufacturing techniques.
Scott Tuten. Mr. Tuten has been Danimer’s chief marketing and sustainability officer since December 2020 and prior to that had been Legacy Danimer’s chief marketing
officer since 2006. Mr. Tuten has significant experience in the fields of international logistics, supply-chain management, transportation, inventory control, operations, sales and
warehousing. Mr. Tuten joined Danimer in 2006 as vice president of operations and was quickly promoted to senior vice president of operations. In 2014, Mr. Tuten was
appointed chief marketing officer to manage overall sales and marketing. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in logistics and an M.B.A. from Georgia Southern
University.
Michael Hajost. Effective upon the filing of this Annual Report, Michael A. Hajost will become Danimer's Chief Financial Officer. When he becomes Danimer's Chief
Financial Officer, Mr. Hajost will also serve as Danimer's Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer. Once Mr. Hajost becomes Danimer's Chief Financial
Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer, John A. Dowdy, III will no longer serve in those capacities, but will remain employed by Danimer and
serve as Danimer’s Senior Vice President of Financial Planning and Analysis.
Since February 7, 2022, Mr. Hajost has been Special Advisor to the CEO of Danimer. Between January 2019 and February 2022, Mr. Hajost was Executive Vice President,
Finance, and Chief Financial Officer of Strategic Materials, Inc., a comprehensive glass recycler in North America with approximately 900 employees in over 50 locations. Prior
to Strategic Materials, from 2015 to 2018, Mr. Hajost was Senior Vice President, Finance, and Chief Financial Officer of Accuride Corporation (NYSE: ACW), a global leader
in the design and manufacture of wheel components for the commercial truck, passenger car and off-road vehicle industries. From 2008 to 2015, Mr. Hajost was Vice President,
Treasury and Investor Relations, at Carpenter Technology Corporation (NYSE: CRS), a leading international manufacturer of specialty alloys and engineered products. Mr.
Hajost’s corporate career was preceded by five years of service as an officer in the U.S. Army where he attained the rank of Captain. Mr. Hajost obtained his M.B.A. from the
Booth School of Business at the University of Chicago in 1992 and graduated from the United States Military Academy with a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering in
1985. Mr. Hajost is 58 years old and has no family relationships with any other director or executive officer of Danimer.
Non-Employee Directors
John P. Amboian. Mr. Amboian served as Live Oak’s Chairman from May 2020 to December 2020 and continues to serve on the Board following the completion of the
Business Combination. Mr. Amboian is a business leader with over 30 years of experience in mergers and acquisitions, capital management, product development, branding and
distribution for both privately held and public companies, across multiple industries. He served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Nuveen Investments, Inc., or
Nuveen (formerly NYSE: JNC), from 2007 to 2016. He was President of Nuveen from 1999 through 2007 after joining as its Chief Financial Officer from 1995 to 1999.
During his time in leadership positions at Nuveen, Mr. Amboian participated in over 20 M&A and capital markets transactions, in addition to playing a leading role in Nuveen’s
sale to an investment group led by Madison Dearborn, in 2007 and Nuveen’s sale process to TIAA (Teacher’s Insurance and Annuity Association of New York) in 2014. Mr.
Amboian served on the Nuveen Mutual Funds board from 2007 through 2016 in addition to serving on Nuveen Investments’ public board from 1996 through 2007. Prior to
Nuveen, Mr. Amboian was the Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President of Strategy of the Miller Brewing Company. He began his career in Corporate and
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International Finance at Kraft Foods, Inc., where he ended his tenure as Treasurer. Since 2013, Mr. Amboian has served at Madison Dearborn Partners as an industry advisor
and is an Independent Director of the general partnership of Adams Street Partners, a private-markets investment firm. Additionally, Mr. Amboian is Chairman of Evanston
Capital, a hedge fund alternative investment manager, and since 2017 has been a senior advisor to Estancia Capital. Since 2018, he chairs the board of North Square
Investments, a boutique asset management firm. He is also on the advisory board of Cresset Capital Management, a wealth management firm. He advises several small
businesses on organic and inorganic growth initiatives through JA Capital Advisors, LLC. He received both his Bachelor’s degree and his M.B.A. from the University of
Chicago. He is well-qualified to serve on our board due to his extensive finance, investment and operational background.
Richard Hendrix. Mr. Hendrix served as Live Oak's Chief Executive Officer and as a director on the Board from May 2020 to December 2020, and continues to serve on the
Board following the completion of the Business Combination. He has significant experience in executive leadership, corporate strategy, M&A, capital markets and corporate
finance for public companies. Over the course of his career, Mr. Hendrix has worked extensively with issuers and investors focused on companies in the financial services, real
estate, energy, industrial, and business and consumer services sectors. He has led dozens of initial equity offerings for founder-led and Sponsor-backed companies primarily
within the banking, insurance and real estate sectors. Additionally, Mr. Hendrix has considerable experience advising chief executives, boards of directors and large
shareholders regarding strategy, capital structure and capital access. He has significant leadership experience in the financial industry, having served as Chief Executive Officer
of FBR & Co., or FBR (formerly Nasdaq: FBRC), a capital markets firm, from 2009 to 2017, and Chairman from 2012 to 2017. Mr. Hendrix helped FBR grow into a leading
bookrunner for initial common stock offerings for middle market U.S. companies. While at FBR Mr. Hendrix oversaw the growth of the company and oversaw numerous
strategic transactions while in his role as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer at FBR, ultimately executing a merger with B. Riley Financial, Inc. (Nasdaq: RILY) in 2017.
Following the merger, Mr. Hendrix served as director of B. Riley Financial until October 2017. Mr. Hendrix is a co-founder and Managing Partner of Live Oak Merchant
Partners, a merchant bank providing capital and advisory services to middle market companies across several industries. Mr. Hendrix also currently serves as a Senior Advisor
to Crestview Partners, a private equity firm, since 2017 and is currently the Chairman of Protect My Car, a portfolio company of Crestview Partners that provides extended auto
warranty plans to consumers. Mr. Hendrix’s affiliation with Crestview Partners began with Crestview’s investment in FBR over a decade before. In the last five years, Mr.
Hendrix has also been the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of RJH Management Co, a privately held investment management business. Mr. Hendrix received his B.S. in
Finance from Miami University. He is well-qualified to serve on our board due to his extensive finance, investment and advisory background.
Christy Basco. Ms. Basco has been a member of the Board since December 2020, and prior to that, a member of Legacy Danimer’s board of directors from July 2020 to
December 2020. Ms. Basco has served as Senior Vice President and Controller of PepsiCo Foods North America, a snack and convenient foods business that includes Frito-Lay
North America (FLNA) and Quaker Foods North America. She has extensive experience in financial reporting and oversight in maintaining strong internal controls. During her
tenure at PepsiCo, which commenced in January 1996, Ms. Basco has held progressively complex leadership roles, having started in FLNA’s Control organization, working
across multiple functions before moving to the FLNA Finance Transformation team. Prior to joining PepsiCo, Ms. Basco was an accounting manager at American Airlines, Inc.
and started her career as a public accountant with the accounting firm of Arthur Andersen, LLP. Ms. Basco is a Certified Public Accountant and holds Bachelor’s and Master’s
degrees in Accounting from Louisiana Tech University. She is well-qualified to serve on the Board and all of its board committees due to her extensive financial, accounting
and operational background.
Philip Gregory Calhoun. Mr. Calhoun has been a member of the Board since December 2020, and prior to that, a member of Legacy Danimer’s board of directors from 2014 to
December 2020, and was a director of Danimer’s Meredian, Inc. and Danimer Scientific, L.L.C. subsidiaries prior to their merger in June 2014. Mr. Calhoun is president and
chief executive officer of Circle C. Farms, Inc., a commercial farm and cattle ranch located in Colquitt, Georgia, where Mr. Calhoun has worked since 1981. Mr. Calhoun also is
the sole proprietor of GC Sprayer Service, Inc., a crop-dusting operation in Colquitt, Georgia. Mr. Calhoun also serves as a director of First National Bank of Decatur County
located in Bainbridge, Georgia, Miller County Gin in Colquitt, Georgia and American Peanut Growers, a peanut-shelling plant in Donalsonville, Georgia. He is well-qualified to
serve on the Board and all of its board committees due to his extensive commercial and operational background.
Gregory Hunt. Mr. Hunt has been a member of the Board since December 2020, and prior to that, a member of Legacy Danimer’s board of directors from June 2019 to
December 2020. Since May 2012, Mr. Hunt has been the chief
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financial officer and treasurer of Apollo Management, LP, the investment adviser to Apollo Investment Corp., a management investment company. From April 2010 to May
2012, he served as the Executive Vice President and chief financial officer for Yankee Candle Company. Prior to joining Yankee Candle, from 2007 to 2010, Mr. Hunt served
as the Executive Vice President of Strategic and Commercial Development for Norwegian Cruise Lines. Prior to joining Norwegian Cruise Lines, Mr. Hunt served as chief
financial officer and chief restructuring officer of Tweeter Home Entertainment Group, Inc. from 2006 to 2007 and the chief financial officer and co-chief executive of Syratech
Corporation from 2001 to 2006. Prior to Syratech, he held several senior financial leadership positions including chief financial officer of NRT Inc., Culligan Water
Technologies, Inc. and Samsonite Corporation. Mr. Hunt currently serves as a member of the board of directors of Kymera Corporation and audit committee chairman, a
member of the board of directors of GoodWest Industries and co-chairman of the board of advisors for the University of Vermont School of Business. Mr. Hunt is a Certified
Public Accountant and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting with dual concentration in finance from the University of Vermont. He is well-qualified to serve on the Board
and all of its board committees due to his extensive financial, operational and advisory background.
Dr. Isao Noda. Dr. Noda has been a member of the Board since December 2020, and prior to that, a member of Legacy Danimer’s board of directors from 2016 to December
2020. Prior to joining Legacy Danimer, he had a distinguished career extending over three decades at Procter & Gamble and is recognized as one of the world’s leading
authorities in the field of polymer science, including the field of bioplastics known as PHA. Currently, Dr. Noda is an affiliated teaching professor at the University of
Delaware. Dr. Noda holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering, a Master of Science in Bioengineering, a Master of Philosophy and a Ph.D. in Chemical
Engineering from Columbia University. He earned a Doctorate in Science degree in Chemistry from the University of Tokyo. He is well-qualified to serve on the Board due to
his education and science background as well as his expertise in the fields of polymer science and bioplastics.
Stuart W. Pratt. Mr. Pratt has been a member of the Board since December 2020, and prior to that, a member of Legacy Danimer’s board of directors from May 2015 to
December 2020 and its chairman of the board from January 2016 to December 2020. Since 2001, Mr. Pratt has been the president and chief executive officer of the Fort Point
Real-Estate Company. He also has served as the chairman of the board of Hunneman, a commercial real estate firm in Boston, Massachusetts since 2016 and previously served
as its chief executive officer. In the 1970s, he was the chief executive officer of Federal Street Equities based in Houston, Texas. Mr. Pratt currently serves on the board of
overseers of Boston University and is also a trustee emeritus of Boston University where he was chairman of the Real Estate Committee and served on its Audit, Academic
Affairs and Finance committees. Additionally, he also serves as a trustee and chairman of the board of the Peabody Essex Museum, a director of Maritime International Inc.
based in Bedford, Massachusetts and Avrio AI based in Boston, Massachusetts. Mr. Pratt received his Bachelor of Arts from Boston University. He is well-qualified to serve on
the Board and all of its board committees due to his executive leadership, operational and advisory background.
Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive officers and any persons who own more than 10% of our capital stock to file with the SEC (and, if such
security is listed on a national securities exchange, with such exchange) various reports as to ownership of such capital stock.
Based solely upon reports and representations submitted by the directors, executive officers and holders of more than 10% of our capital stock, all Forms 3, 4 and 5 showing
ownership of and changes of ownership in our capital stock during the 2021 fiscal year were timely filed with the SEC, except for two Form 4 filings by Mr. Hendrix (relating to
an aggregate of three transactions), two Form 4 filings by Mr. Amboian (relating to an aggregate of three transactions), and one Form 4 filing by Mr. Croskrey (relating to a
single transaction), which in each case were filed late due to an administrative oversight.
Code of Ethics
Danimer has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our directors, officers and employees. The Code of Ethics is available on Danimer’s website at www.danimerscientific.com.
Information contained on or accessible through Danimer’s website is not a part of this Report, and the inclusion of Danimer’s website address in this Report is an inactive
textual reference only. The Board is responsible for overseeing the Code of Ethics and must approve any waivers of the Code of Ethics for employees, executive officers and
directors. We expect that any amendments to the Code of Ethics, or any waivers of its requirements, will be disclosed on our website.
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Changes to Security Holder Director Nomination Procedures
Our Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (“Bylaws”), adopted January 28, 2022 contain certain changes to the procedures stockholders must follow in order to provide
advance notice for the nomination of directors. This advance notice provision was amended to clarify that a stockholder who wishes to provide advanced notice must provide
additional categories of information in their notice to the Secretary, including (i) information about the stockholder and their investment, (ii) financial interests and other
background information regarding the stockholder’s affairs and affiliations, (iii) groups of stockholders with which the stockholder may be associated, and (iv) agreements
among the proposing stockholder and other individuals or entities appurtenant to their proposal. Stockholders providing notice may also be required to update and supplement
such notice in certain circumstances, particularly if requested to provide additional information by the Company.
The foregoing summary of the revisions to the Bylaws does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the Bylaws, attached as Exhibit 3.2 to
this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.
Below is a description of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board. The written charters of the
committees are available to stockholders on the investors section of our website at www.danimerscientific.com. Each of the committees has authority to engage legal counsel or
other experts or consultants, as it deems appropriate to carry out its responsibilities.
Audit Committee
Danimer’s audit committee consists of Gregory Hunt, Christy Basco and John P. Amboian. The Board has determined that each of the members of the audit committee satisfies
the independence requirements of NYSE and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. Each member of the audit committee can read and understand fundamental financial
statements in accordance with NYSE audit committee requirements. In arriving at this determination, the Board examined each audit committee member’s scope of experience
and the nature of their prior and/or current employment.
Gregory Hunt serves as the chair of the audit committee. The Board has determined that Mr. Hunt qualifies as an audit committee financial expert within the meaning of SEC
regulations and meets the financial sophistication requirements of the NYSE listing standards. In making this determination, the Board considered Mr. Hunt’s formal education
and previous experience in financial roles. Both Danimer’s independent registered public accounting firm and management periodically will meet privately with Danimer’s
audit committee.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Danimer has designed, and intends to modify as necessary or appropriate, our compensation and benefits program to attract, retain, incentivize and reward deeply talented and
qualified executives who share our philosophy and desire to work towards achieving our goals. Danimer believes its compensation program should promote the success of the
company and align executive incentives with the long-term interests of its shareholders. Danimer’s current executive compensation programs reflect our startup origins in that
they consist primarily of salary and stock option awards. As Danimer’s needs evolve, Danimer intends to continue to evaluate and modify its philosophy and compensation
programs as circumstances require or is appropriate.
This section provides an overview of Danimer’s executive compensation programs as they relate to the executive officers named below (“named executive officers”), including
a narrative description of the material factors necessary to understand the information disclosed in the summary compensation table below. Our board of directors, with input
from the Chief Executive Officer, has historically determined the compensation for Danimer’s named executive officers. Danimer’s named executive officers in 2021 and 2020,
are shown in the following Summary Compensation Table.
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Summary Compensation Table
The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation of the named executive officers.
Name and Principal Position
Stephen E. Croskrey
Chief Executive Officer
John A. Dowdy, III
Chief Financial Officer
Phillip Van Trump
Chief Science and Technology
Officer

Year

Salary ($)

Stock Awards
($)(2)

Bonus ($)(1)

Option Awards
($)(2)

All Other
Compensation ($)(3)

Total ($)

2021
2020

875,000
424,327

2,671,314
3,818,945

57,145,505
-

11,147,551
24,662,958

24,433
24,233

71,863,803
28,930,463

2021
2020

300,000
260,558

56,241
75,000

13,894,449
-

6,434,909

19,219
22,262

14,269,910
6,792,729

2021
2020

300,000
260,558

56,241
75,000

13,894,449
-

6,434,909

23,003
28,975

14,273,693
6,799,442

(1)The 2020 bonus amount for Mr. Croskrey represents a success bonus paid in January 2021 in connection with the closing of the Business Combination in December 2020.
The 2021 bonus amount for Mr. Croskrey represents a one-time bonus equal to $2,000,000 in connection with entering into the Croskrey Employment Agreement (as defined
below), an annual incentive bonus of $410,093 for 2021 expected to be paid in March 2022, and a bonus of $261,221 paid pursuant to the 2020 Croskrey Employment
Agreement. The 2021 bonus amounts for Mr. Dowdy and Mr. Van Trump are expected to be paid in March 2022.
(2)The amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant-date fair value of awards granted to each named executive officer, computed in accordance with the Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation.
(3)All Other Compensation is comprised of Danimer matching contributions under Danimer’s 401(k) plan which is a tax-qualified defined contribution plan, use of company
car, car allowance, use of company housing, and/or certain tuition payments. The following table summarizes “All Other Compensation” provided to the named executive
officers during the year ended December 31, 2021, as follows:
•Mr. Croskrey: annual value (on depreciation basis) of company house ($7,081); annual value (on depreciation basis) of company automobile ($5,752); and 401(k) plan
match ($11,600).
•Mr. Dowdy: personal use (on a lease value basis) of a company automobile ($5,461); car allowance ($2,159) and 401(k) match ($11,600).
•Mr. Van Trump: personal use (on a lease value basis) of a company automobile ($457); car allowance certain tuition payments ($17,007); and 401(k) match ($5,538).
Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table
For 2021, the compensation program for Danimer’s named executive officers consisted of base salary and incentive compensation delivered in the form of an annual bonus
and/or stock-based compensation awards.
Base Salary
Base salary for Danimer’s named executive officers has historically been set at a level that is commensurate with such executive’s duties and authorities, contributions, prior
experience and sustained performance.
Cash Bonus
In 2021, pursuant to the Croskrey Employment Agreement (as defined below), Mr. Croskrey received a one-time cash bonus equal to $2,000,000 in connection with entering
into such agreement and was eligible to receive an annual cash incentive bonus having a target equal to between 1.25 times and 2.5 times his annual base salary subject to
satisfaction of performance targets established by the Compensation Committee and the Board. Danimer provides annual bonuses to the other named executive officers having a
target equal to 50% of the officer’s annual base salary based on performance targets established by the Compensation Committee and the Board. Each of Messrs. Dowdy and
Van Trump earned a discretionary cash bonus of $56,241 in respect of fiscal year 2021, which bonuses are expected to be paid in March 2022.
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In 2020, pursuant to the 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement (as defined below), Mr. Croskrey was entitled to receive a bonus equal to ten percent (10%) of Danimer’s
EBITDAR (earnings before interests, taxes, depreciation, amortization and rent, stock-based compensation, certain non-recurring charges and operating leases) until such bonus
amount equals his base annual salary then in effect, and five percent (5%) of any additional EBITDAR in excess thereof. Danimer provides annual bonuses to the other named
executive officers based on the achievement of individual and corporate performance, as determined by the Board and the Compensation Committee. Each of Messrs. Dowdy
and Van Trump earned a discretionary cash bonus of $75,000 in respect of fiscal year 2020, which bonuses were paid in 2021.
Legacy Danimer Stock Incentive Plans
Danimer provided stock options to the named executive officers under Legacy Danimer’s 2016 Director and Executive Officer Stock Incentive Plan and/or Legacy Danimer’s
2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plans (collectively, “2016 Plans”), as determined by Legacy Danimer’s board of directors in their sole discretion. Legacy Danimer believed that
such equity awards served to better align the interests of stockholders and the named executive officers and served as a strong retention tool. In September 2020, pursuant to
their employment agreements, Messrs. Dowdy and Van Trump were each granted stock options to acquire 10,000 shares of Legacy Danimer common stock under the 2016
Plans. The options granted to Messrs. Dowdy and Van Trump vest annually over three years.
In connection with the Merger Agreement, each of the Legacy Danimer Options that was outstanding immediately prior to the Closing, whether vested or unvested, was
converted into an option to purchase a number of shares of common stock on the same terms and conditions as were applicable under such Assumed Legacy Danimer Option
(including applicable vesting and exercise conditions) except that (a) the number of shares of Common Stock that are subject to each such Assumed Legacy Danimer Option
was determined by multiplying the number of shares Legacy Danimer common stock subject to the corresponding Assumed Legacy Danimer Option by a fraction (“Award
Exchange Ratio”), the numerator of which is the Closing Per Share Merger Consideration multiplied by the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the Closing
Date and the denominator of which is the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the Closing Date (rounded down to the nearest whole share) and (b) the exercise
price per share of each such Assumed Legacy Danimer Option is equal (i) the per share exercise price of the corresponding Legacy Danimer option divided by (ii) the Award
Exchange Ratio (rounded up to the nearest whole cent).
2020 Stock Incentive Plan and 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
At Danimer’s special meeting of stockholders held on December 28, 2020 (“Special Meeting”), Danimer’s stockholders approved the 2020 Plan and the 2020 ESPP. The 2020
Plan and the 2020 ESPP were previously approved, subject to stockholder approval, by the Board on September 30, 2020. The 2020 Plan and the 2020 ESPP became effective
immediately upon the Closing.
Benefits and Perquisites
Danimer provides benefits to its named executive officers on the same basis as provided to all of our employees, including medical, dental and vision insurance; life insurance;
accidental death and dismemberment insurance; critical illness insurance; short-and long-term disability insurance; and a tax-qualified Section 401(k) plan for which Danimer
matches elective deferrals of up to 4% of an employee’s eligible earnings. The named executive officers are entitled either to use of a company car or a monthly car allowance.
Certain executives also receive reimbursement for tuition for graduate level degrees. Except as otherwise disclosed herein, Danimer does not maintain any other executivespecific benefit or perquisite programs.
Additionally, Danimer had previously agreed to provide Mr. Croskrey with, or reimburse him for, a rental home or apartment in the Bainbridge, Georgia area, reasonably
satisfactory to Mr. Croskrey. Going forward, Mr. Croskrey will be obligated to pay the Company market rental rates for such property.
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control
Mr. Croskrey and Legacy Danimer entered into the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement on August 13, 2018 (“Prior Croskrey Employment Agreement”), pursuant
to which he earned a base salary of $400,000 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, and was entitled to certain benefits, perquisites, and payments in connection with a
change of control of Legacy Danimer. On October 3, 2020, Mr. Croskrey and Legacy Danimer entered into an amendment (“Amendment”) to the Prior Croskrey Employment
Agreement providing, among other things, that the Prior Croskrey Employment Agreement would be terminated effective upon the closing of the Business Combination.
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The Amendment provides that Mr. Croskrey would be entitled to receive the bonus equal to one percent (1%) of the gross purchase price paid by Live Oak for Legacy Danimer
(net of Legacy Danimer’s closing costs and expenses) upon the closing of the Business Combination, as set forth in the Prior Croskrey Employment Agreement, but that Mr.
Croskrey was waiving a separate severance payment to which he would have been entitled to effective upon the closing of the Business Combination under the Prior Croskrey
Employment Agreement.
See “Agreements with Danimer’s Named Executive Officers” below for a description of potential payments upon termination or change of control under each of the named
executive officers’ respective employment agreements.
Agreements with Danimer’s Named Executive Officers
Employment Agreement with Stephen E. Croskrey
On October 3, 2020, Mr. Croskrey and Live Oak entered into the Employment Agreement (“2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement”), which became effective upon the closing
of the Business Combination. The Prior Croskrey Employment Agreement described above under “— Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control” terminated
upon the effectiveness of the Croskrey Employment Agreement.
The 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement became effective upon the closing of the Business Combination. The 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement provided that Mr.
Croskrey would serve as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Danimer (“Board”), and provided for an annual base salary of $425,000, which was
to increase by $25,000 on January 1 of each year of the term. Under the 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement, Mr. Croskrey was entitled to an annual bonus based upon
Danimer’s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, rent and operating leases (“EBITDAR”) for each fiscal year, pursuant to which Mr. Croskrey would be
paid an annual bonus equal to (i) 10% of Danimer’s EBITDAR until such bonus amount equals his annual base salary then in effect, plus (ii) 5% of Danimer’s EBITDAR in
excess thereof. The 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement also provided that Mr. Croskrey would be entitled to participate in Danimer’s equity incentive plans for executives
and employees and receive annual equity awards thereunder. Under the 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement, Mr. Croskrey was eligible to participate in employee benefit
plans offered to Danimer’s executives and was entitled to use of a reasonably acceptable rental home or apartment in the area of Bainbridge, GA, as well as reimbursements for
incremental living expenses of up to $1,500 per month for the periods during which he resides in such rental home on Danimer business, as well as a potential gross-up for such
reimbursement.
On July 23, 2021, the Company and Mr. Croskrey entered into an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (“Croskrey Employment Agreement”), which amended and
restated the 2020 Croskrey Employment Agreement in its entirety. The Croskrey Employment Agreement ends on December 31, 2024, unless earlier terminated in accordance
with its terms. The Croskrey Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Croskrey shall continue to serve as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of
the Company, and provides for an annual base salary of $875,000, effective as of January 1, 2021. Additionally, the Croskrey Employment Agreement provides that Mr.
Croskrey is entitled to a one-time bonus paid simultaneously with the execution of the Croskrey Employment Agreement, equal to $2,000,000. The Croskrey Employment
Agreement also provides that upon satisfaction of performance targets to be established by the Board of Directors, Mr. Croskrey will be paid an annual incentive award for such
year equal to between 1.25 times his Annual Base Salary and 2.5 times his Annual Base Salary.
The Croskrey Employment Agreement states that each year during the term, and simultaneously with the execution of the Croskrey Employment Agreement with respect to
2021, Mr. Croskrey will receive a long term incentive award, of which 50% shall be in the form of performance stock awards and 50% shall be in the form of stock options, to
vest upon satisfaction of the performance targets to be established by the Board of Directors for each such year. In the event that such performance stock awards and/or stock
options awarded to Mr. Croskrey are not available to be issued to Mr. Croskrey for any reason, then the Company shall pay to Mr. Croskrey, upon the vesting of such long term
incentive award, an amount in cash equal to the notional value that each such performance stock award and/or stock option would have had on the date of such vesting as though
it had been granted to Mr. Croskrey on the date of grant, as applicable. In the event that the Company is unable for any reason to issue to Mr. Croskrey stock options,
performance stock awards, other equity based awards or shares of common stock, whether underlying such awards or otherwise, that the Company has contractually agreed to
in prior agreements with Mr. Croskrey, then the Company shall be contractually obligated to pay to Mr. Croskrey, upon the vesting of any such awards, an amount in cash equal
to the notional value that each such stock option, performance stock award or other equity based award would have had on the date of such vesting as though it had been
granted to Mr. Croskrey on the date such other agreement giving rise to such award was entered into; provided that in either such case, any such cash payment shall be payable
over a
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period of three years in equal quarterly installments, starting with the date of the vesting of such award. The cash-settlement provision in respect of equity awards described
above is hereinafter referred to as the “Cash-Settlement Right.”
Under the Croskrey Employment Agreement, Mr. Croskrey is also eligible to participate in employee benefit plans offered to the Company’s executives, the Company shall
provide Mr. Croskrey with the use of a reasonably acceptable rental home or apartment at market rates in the Bainbridge, Georgia area, and will also provide Mr. Croskrey with
the use of a corporate vehicle.
Pursuant to the Croskrey Employment Agreement, upon a termination of Mr. Croskrey’s employment (a) by the Company without cause, (b) by Mr. Croskrey for good reason,
or (c) by the Company or any successor either upon the occurrence of a change in control (or within one year thereafter), and provided that Mr. Croskrey delivers to the
Company a waiver and release of claims: (i) Mr. Croskrey will receive an amount in cash equal to 24 months of his annual base salary; (ii) Mr. Croskrey will receive the annual
incentive award as of the date of termination; (iii) any unvested equity awards that are held by Mr. Croskrey, other than any unvested performance stock award portion of any
long term incentive award (“excluded award”), shall automatically vest and become exercisable (as applicable) as of the date of termination, provided that with respect to any
excluded award, in the event of such termination, and provided Mr. Croskrey remains on the Board following such termination, the excluded award will remain in effect and
continue to vest in accordance with its terms so long as Mr. Croskrey remains on the Board, and the long term incentive performance targets established with respect to such
excluded award shall be deemed achieved in the event that such termination arises in connection with a change in control; provided further that with respect to such termination
where Mr. Croskrey does not remain on the Board, any such excluded award will vest pro rata in accordance with its terms if the related long term incentive performance targets
established with respect thereto as of the date of termination have been achieved, with such long term incentive performance targets being deemed achieved in the case of a
termination in connection with a change in control; and (iv) in the event that Mr. Croskrey is entitled to and elects to utilize coverage under Section 4980B of the Code
(“COBRA Coverage”), Mr. Croskrey shall be reimbursed for COBRA Coverage for he and his dependents for the lesser of 24 months following termination or the date that the
COBRA Coverage terminates in accordance with its terms.
The Croskrey Employment Agreement also contains certain restrictive covenants pursuant to which Mr. Croskrey is subject to non-competition and non-solicitation obligations
during the term of thereof and for a period of 12 months following his termination. The Croskrey Employment Agreement also contains customary non-disparagement
covenants and confidentiality obligations to which Mr. Croskrey is subject.
All payments and benefits provided under the Croskrey Employment Agreement shall be subject to any compensation recovery or clawback policy as required under applicable
law, rule or regulation or otherwise adopted by the Company from time to time.
Employment Agreement with Other Named Executive Officers
On August 31, 2020, each of the other named executive officers entered into Amended and Restated Employment Agreements (each, an “NEO Employment Agreement”) with
Legacy Danimer. Under the NEO Employment Agreement, John A. Dowdy, III will serve as Chief Financial Officer and Phillip Van Trump will serve as Chief Science and
Technology Officer. Except as otherwise set forth below, each of the NEO Employment Agreement have identical terms, as summarized below.
Under the NEO Employment Agreements, each of Messrs. Dowdy and Van Trump earn a salary of $300,000 per year. Under the NEO Employment Agreements, each such
named executive officer is entitled to an annual bonus under Danimer’s employee bonus plan, if any, or as otherwise approved by Danimer’s Board of Directors. The NEO
Employment Agreements also provide that such named executive officers will be entitled to participate in certain of Danimer’s equity incentive plans for executives and
employees and receive annual equity awards thereunder, and provides that each such named executive officer shall be granted a stock option for 10,000 shares of Legacy
Danimer’s common stock, at an exercise price of $63 per share, vesting in three, approximately equal, annual instalments, beginning on September 1, 2021. These options for
Legacy Danimer common stock have been converted into options to purchase shares of common stock. See “Legacy Danimer Stock Incentive Plans”. Under the NEO
Employment Agreements, such named executive officers are eligible to participate in employee benefit programs available to similarly situated employees and are entitled to use
of a Danimer-owned automobile.
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Pursuant to each NEO Employment Agreement, upon a termination of such named executive officer’s employment by Danimer without cause but not in connection with a
change in control of Danimer, such named executive officer will receive his annual base salary for 12 months following the date of his termination.
Pursuant to each NEO Employment Agreement, upon a termination of such named executive officer’s employment by Danimer without cause in connection with a change in
control of Danimer or within 12 months following a change in control of Danimer, such named executive officer will receive his annual base salary for 24 months following the
date of his termination.
Other Compensation Arrangements with Named Executive Officers
Danimer’s named executive officers also received upon closing of the Business Combination new grants of unvested options to purchase shares of common stock under
Danimer’s new equity incentive plan in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. Messrs. Croskrey, Dowdy and Van Trump received a number of option shares
equal to 3.0%, 0.75% and 0.75%, respectively, of the number of fully-diluted shares of common stock (excluding certain shares underlying warrants) outstanding as of the
Closing, at an exercise price equal to $24.20, which represented the greater of the fair market value at Closing and ten dollars ($10). Since fair market value at Closing exceeded
ten dollars $10 per share, each of those persons became entitled to receive additional restricted shares of common stock in an amount equal to the difference between such fair
market value and $10, multiplied by the number of options shares and divided by such fair market value. We issued such restricted shares after the end of the 2020 fiscal year on
March 10, 2021.
Mr. Croskrey also received, in connection his payoff of certain indebtedness to Legacy Danimer prior to the closing of the Merger, a new option grant to purchase 1,154,616
shares of common stock under the 2020 Plan, which option will not be exercisable until the later to occur of February 1, 2024 or the approval by Danimer’s shareholders of an
amendment to the 2020 Plan to increase the number of shares available under the plan in an amount sufficient to permit the exercise of the option. See “Certain Relationships
and Related Party Transactions—Transactions with Certain Directors and Executive Officers”.
In connection with entering into the Croskrey Employment Agreement, on July 23, 2021, Mr. Croskrey received a performance stock award consisting of 95,943 performance
shares of the Company’s common stock. The performance shares shall be issued only if (A) to the extent necessary, after the approval by the shareholders of the Company of an
amendment to the 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares available under the plan in an amount sufficient to permit the vesting and issuance of the
performance shares in accordance with the award, and (B) they have vested in accordance with the following vesting criteria: (i) 30% of the performance shares (“ROE Metric
Shares”) shall be subject to vesting upon achievement of the pre-tax return on equity (“ROE”) metric as follows: the threshold for vesting the ROE Metric Shares shall be the
Company achieving ROE of at least 5%, in which event 50% of the ROE Metric Shares shall vest, and upon the Company achieving ROE of 9%, 100% of the ROE Metric
Shares shall vest, with pro rata vesting of the ROE Metric Shares for any amount of ROE in between such ranges; (ii) 30% of the performance shares (“EBITDA Metric
Shares”) shall be subject to vesting upon achievement of the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) metric as follows: the threshold for
vesting the EBITDA Metric Shares shall be the Company achieving EBITDA of at least $45 million, in which event 50% of the EBITDA Metric Shares shall vest, and upon the
Company achieving $65 million of EBITDA, 100% of the EBITDA Metric Shares shall vest, with pro rata vesting of the EBITDA Metric Shares for any amount of EBITDA in
between such ranges; and (iii) 40% of the performance shares (“Neat Capacity Metric Shares”) shall be subject to vesting upon achievement of the nameplate capacity for neat
PHA production (“Neat Capacity”) metric as follows: the threshold for vesting the Neat Capacity Metric Shares shall be the Company achieving a Neat Capacity of at least 75
million pounds, in which event 50% of the Neat Capacity Metric Shares shall vest, and upon the Company achieving 90 million pounds of Neat Capacity, 100% of the Neat
Capacity Shares shall vest, with pro rata vesting of the Neat Capacity Metric Shares for any amount of Neat Capacity in between such ranges. For purposes of the PSA, (a) ROE
shall mean the pre-tax return on equity equal to earnings before taxes divided by the average shareholders’ equity, based on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for
the period in question, and the vesting of the ROE Metric Shares shall be measured based on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, (b) EBITDA shall be determined based on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the period in question, and the vesting of the EBITDA
Metric Shares shall be measured based on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023, and (c) Neat Capacity shall be
determined based upon a third-party certification of the ability of the Company to produce the quantities of neat PHA set forth above based on its facilities, and not necessarily
actual production of such quantities, and the vesting of the Neat Capacity Metric Shares shall be measured as of December 31, 2023. The award terminates
50

on the earlier of July 23, 2024 or Mr. Croskrey’s termination date (as defined in the Long Term Incentive Plan). This performance stock award is subject to the Cash-Settlement
Right.
On July 23, 2021, Mr. Croskrey also received an option to purchase 244,073 shares of the Company’s common stock, which shall only be exercisable if (A) to the extent
necessary, after the approval by the shareholders of the Company of an amendment to the long term incentive plan to increase the number of shares available under the plan in
an amount sufficient to permit the exercise of the option shares, and (B) the option shares have vested, which vesting shall occur as follows: (i) one-third of the option shares
shall vest on July 23, 2022, (ii) one-third of the option shares shall vest on July 23, 2023, and (iii) one-third of the option shares shall vest on July 23, 2024. The expiration date
of the option shares is the earlier of July 23, 2031 or Mr. Croskrey’s termination date (as defined in the plan). This option grant is subject to the Cash-Settlement Right.
Retirement Benefits
Danimer provides a tax-qualified Section 401(k) plan for all employees, including the named executive officers. Danimer matches elective deferrals of up to 4% of an
employee’s eligible earnings. Danimer does not provide to employees, including its named executive officers, any other retirement benefits, including but not limited to taxqualified defined benefit plans, supplemental executive retirement plans and nonqualified defined contribution plans.
Executive Compensation
The Board expects to review executive compensation periodically to ensure that executive compensation remains competitive such that Danimer is able to recruit, incentivize
and retain qualified executives. Following the consummation of the Business Combination, the named executive officers will be employed in accordance with the terms of the
employment agreements discussed above, and Danimer intends to develop an executive compensation program that is designed to also align with the long-term interests of
Danimer’s shareholders for value creation and conformance with prevailing standards of good corporate governance.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2021 Year End
The following tables present information regarding outstanding equity awards held by Danimer’s named executive officers as of December 31, 2021.

Name

Stephen E.
Croskrey

John A. Dowdy,
III

Phillip Van
Trump

Grant Date

December 29, 2020
March 10, 2021
March 10, 2021
July 23, 2021
July 23, 2021
July 23, 2021
June 30, 2016
December 18, 2017
September 1, 2020
December 29, 2020
March 10, 2021
March 10, 2021
June 30, 2016
December 18, 2017
September 1, 2020
December 29, 2020
March 10, 2021
March 10, 2021

Restricted
Shares
(#)

503,012
754,518
125,754
188,629
122,754
188,629

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
Exercisable (#)

Performance Shares
(#)

95,943
-

758,099
109,896
30,524
620,729
247,266
30,524
-

Number of Securities
Underlying
Unexercised Options
Unexercisable (#)

2,571,737
1,154,418
244,073
61,056
642,934
61,056
642,934
-

Option
Exercise Price
($)

24.20
24.20
18.24
3.28
3.28
6.88
24.20
3.28
3.28
6.88
24.20
-

Award
Vest
Date

December 29, 2023
December 29, 2023
January 26, 2024
February 1, 2024
February 29 2024
July 23, 2024
June 30, 2019
December 18, 2020
September 1, 2023
December 29, 2023
December 29, 2023
January 26, 2024
June 30, 2019
December 18, 2020
September 1, 2023
December 29, 2023
December 29, 2023
January 26, 2024

Director Compensation
In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, on December 29, 2020, we awarded our directors (other than our Chief Executive Officer and a director that is
affiliated with a customer) options to purchase 50,000 shares
51

of our common stock. Our board of directors is currently evaluating our director compensation policy, but intends to develop a board of directors compensation program that is
designed to align compensation with Danimer’s business objectives and the creation of stockholder value, while enabling Danimer to attract, retain, incentivize and reward
directors who contribute to the long-term success of Danimer. Regarding expenses, Danimer’s policy is to reimburse directors for reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket
expenses incurred in connection with attending board and committee meetings or performing other services in their capacities as directors. In addition, Stuart Pratt receives fees
earned pursuant to a consulting agreement.
In 2020, our current employee director, Mr. Croskrey, was compensated pursuant to his prior employment agreements (which are described above under the heading
“Agreements with Danimer’s Named Executive Officers”).
The following table shows information regarding the compensation earned by Danimer’s directors, other than any directors who are also named executive officers, for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2021.
Name
John P. Amboian
Richard Hendrix
Christy Basco
Philip Gregory Calhoun
Gregory Hunt
Dr. Isao Noda
Stuart Pratt

Fees Earned or Paid in Cash
24,000

Stock Awards
($)

Option Awards
($)
82,400

-

All Other Compensation
($)

Total ($)
-

106,400

Consulting Agreement of Stuart Pratt
Mr. Pratt and Legacy Danimer entered into a letter agreement on March 1, 2016 (“Prior Pratt Consulting Agreement”), pursuant to which he earned a base salary of $18,000 for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and was entitled to certain benefits and perquisites. Mr. Pratt’s salary was increased by resolution of the board of directors to $2,000
per month beginning in March 2020. On October 3, 2020, Mr. Pratt and Danimer entered into an amendment to the Prior Pratt Consulting Agreement providing, among other
things, that the Prior Pratt Consulting Agreement would be terminated effective upon the closing of the Business Combination and that Mr. Pratt waived any severance payment
to which he may have been entitled.
On October 3, 2020, Mr. Pratt and Danimer also entered into the Consulting Agreement (“New Pratt Consulting Agreement”), which was effective upon the closing of the
Business Combination and ends on October 3, 2023, unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms. Under the New Pratt Consulting Agreement, Mr. Pratt is entitled to
an annual base salary of $18,000. Pursuant to the New Pratt Consulting Agreement, upon the closing of the Business Combination, Mr. Pratt was also granted options to
purchase 30,000 shares of our common stock, at an exercise price of $24.20, and was entitled to additional restricted shares of common stock if the fair market value of our
common stock at the closing of the Business Combination exceeded $10 per share. Since fair market value at the closing of the Business Combination exceeded ten dollars $10
per share, Mr. Pratt became entitled to receive additional restricted shares of common stock in an amount equal to the difference between such fair market value and $10,
multiplied by the number of options shares and divided by such fair market value. Danimer issued such restricted shares after the end of the 2020 fiscal year on March 10, 2021.
The nature of Mr. Pratt’s relationship with Danimer deems him to not be independent as a director of Danimer.
On August 12, 2021, we entered into an agreement with Mr. Pratt, pursuant to which, in the event that we are unable for any reason to issue to Mr. Pratt stock options, restricted
stock awards, performance stock awards, other equity based awards or shares of common stock, whether underlying such awards or otherwise, that we have contractually
agreed to in prior agreements with Mr. Pratt, then we shall be contractually obligated to pay to Mr. Pratt, upon the vesting of any such awards, an amount in cash equal to the
notional value that each such stock option, restricted stock award, performance stock award or other equity based award would have had on the date of such vesting as though it
had been granted to Mr. Pratt on the date such other agreement giving rise to such award was entered into; provided that any such cash payment shall be payable over a period of
three years in equal quarterly installments, starting with the date of the vesting of such award.
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Compensation Committee Interlocks And Insider Participation
During 2021, with the exception of Stuart Pratt, none of the members of our Compensation Committee (i) served as an officer or employee of Danimer or its subsidiaries; (ii)
was formerly an officer of Danimer or its subsidiaries; or (iii) entered into any transactions with Danimer or its subsidiaries. Mr. Pratt is a member of our Board of Directors,
was a member of our Compensation Committee through May 5, 2021, is the former chairman of the board of directors of Legacy Danimer and has entered into certain
transactions with Legacy Danimer and Danimer. See “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions—Transactions with Certain Directors and Executive Officers”.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATE STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The following table sets forth, as of February 18, 2022 (“Table Date”), certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of common stock outstanding by:
•each person who is known by the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of common stock;
•each current named executive officer and director of the Company; and
•all current executive officers and directors of the Company, as a group.
Unless otherwise indicated, each person named in the table below has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned. Unless otherwise
indicated, the address of each person named in the table below is c/o Danimer Scientific, Inc., 140 Industrial Blvd., Bainbridge, GA 39817.
Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), which generally provide that a person has beneficial ownership
of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power over that security, including options and warrants that are currently exercisable or exercisable
within 60 days and shares underlying restricted stock awards that are currently issuable or issuable within 60 days.
The beneficial ownership percentages set forth in the table below are based on approximately 100,750,215 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of the Table Date.
In computing the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that person, we deemed outstanding shares of common
stock subject to options held by that person that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date, shares of common stock subject to warrants and
shares of restricted stock that vest within 60 days of the Table Date. We did not deem these shares outstanding, however, for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership
of any other person.
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Unless otherwise noted in the footnotes to the following table, and subject to applicable community property laws, the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting
and investment power with respect to their beneficially owned common stock.

Name of Beneficial Owner
Directors and Named Executive Officers:
Stephen E. Croskrey (1)
Stuart Pratt (2)
Philip Gregory Calhoun (3)
John A. Dowdy III (4)
Michael Smith (5)
Phillip Van Trump (6)
Scott Tuten (7)
Dr. Isao Noda (8)
Gregory Hunt (9)
Christy Basco
John P. Amboian (10)
Richard J. Hendrix (11)
Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (12 Individuals) (12)
Five Percent Holders:
The Vanguard Group(13)
Invesco, Ltd. (14)
BlackRock, Inc.(15)

Number of Shares of
Common Stock Beneficially
Owned
4,027,742
1,648,210
3,810,661
1,306,961
900,454
957,215
816,796
356,071
65,531
923,418
598,789
15,411,848
8,028,738
6,376,582
5,550,559

Percentage of Outstanding
Common Stock %
4.0
1.6
3.8
1.3
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
14.6
7.8
6.3
5.5

* Less than 1%.
(1)Excludes 3,725,989 shares underlying options granted in connection with the business combination (“Business Combination”) between the Company, then known as
Live Oak Acquisition Corp. (“Live Oak”) before changing its name to Danimer Scientific, Inc. in connection with the Business Combination, and Meredian Holdings,
Inc., which together with its subsidiaries operated under the “Danimer Scientific” name as an independent enterprise (“Legacy Danimer”) prior to the Business
Combination, which Business Combination resulted in Legacy Danimer becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, that are not presently exercisable and not
exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 244,073 shares underlying options granted subsequent to the Business Combination that are not presently
exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 1,154,616 shares and 244,073 shares underlying restricted stock awards and performance stock awards,
respectively, that are not issuable within 60 days of the Table Date
(2)Includes 50,000 shares underlying options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Includes 18,315 shares underlying Assumed Legacy
Danimer Options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 342,258 shares underlying options granted in connection with the
Business Combination that are not presently exercisable and not exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 14,670 shares underlying restricted stock awards
that are not issuable within 60 days of the Table Date.
(3)Includes 3,429,018 shares held by the Greg Calhoun DGT Family Trusts u/t/a dated September 22, 2020 GST Exempt Trust and 66,806 shares held by the Greg
Calhoun DGT Family Trusts u/t/a dated September 22, 2020 GST Non-Exempt Trust, which may be deemed to be owned by Mr. Calhoun, and 55,952 shares underlying
options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Mr. Calhoun disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares other than to the
extent of any pecuniary interest he may have therein, directly or indirectly.
(4)Includes 308,285 shares held by the John Adams Dowdy, III Living Trust and 13,840 shares owned by Mr. Dowdy’s children, which shares may be deemed to be
owned by Mr. Dowdy, and 948,136 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes
61,056 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 642,934 shares underlying options granted in connection with the Business Combination that are not
presently exercisable
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and not exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 314,383 shares underlying restricted stock awards that are not issuable within 60 days of the Table Date.
Mr. Dowdy disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest he may have therein, directly or indirectly.
(5)Includes 866,093 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 61,056 shares
underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 642,934 shares underlying options granted in connection with the Business Combination that are not presently
exercisable and not exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 314,383 shares underlying restricted stock awards that are not issuable within 60 days of the
Table Date.
(6)Includes 898,519 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 61,056 shares
underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 642,934 shares underlying options granted in connection with the Business Combination that are not presently
exercisable and not exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 314,383 shares underlying restricted stock awards that are not issuable within 60 days of the
Table Date.
(7)Includes 627,043 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 61,056 shares
underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 642,934 shares underlying options granted in connection with the Business Combination that are not presently
exercisable and not exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 314,383 shares underlying restricted stock awards that are not issuable within 60 days of the
Table Date.
(8)Includes 301,941 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 50,000 shares underlying options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the
Table Date.
(9)Includes 10,531 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 55,000 shares underlying options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the
Table Date.
(10)Includes 50,000 shares underlying options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Includes (i) 363,943 shares that are held by the John
P. Amboian 2008 Living Trust and (ii) 181,972 shares that are held by Kings Trail Trust dated September 19, 2018. Includes (i) 218,335 private warrants to purchase
shares of common stock that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date (“Warrants”) and are held by the John P. Amboian 2008 Living Trust and
(ii) 109,168 Warrants held by Kings Trail Trust dated September 19, 2018. Mr. Amboian is the sole trustee of the John P. Amboian 2008 Living Trust and his spouse is
the sole trustee of the Kings Trail Trust dated September 19, 2018 and, as such, Mr. Amboian may be deemed to beneficially own the shares and the Warrants held by
those trusts. Mr. Amboian disclaims any beneficial ownership of the shares and the Warrants held by these trusts other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest he may
have therein, directly or indirectly
(11)Includes 50,000 shares underlying options that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Includes 341,324 shares held by RJH Management
LLC. Includes 207,465 Warrants held by RJH Management LLC. Mr. Hendrix owns and controls RJH Management and as such, has voting and investment discretion
with respect to the shares and Warrants held of record by RJH Management and may be deemed to have shared beneficial ownership of the common stock and the
Warrants held directly by RJH Management. Mr. Hendrix disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares and the Warrants other than to the extent of any
pecuniary interest he may have therein, directly or indirectly.
(12)Includes 3,696,530 shares underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 305,000 shares underlying other options that are or will become exercisable within 60
days of the Table Date. Includes 534,968 shares underlying Warrants that are or will become exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 244,224 shares
underlying Assumed Legacy Danimer Options and 6,884,056 shares underlying other options granted in connection with the Business Combination that are not presently
exercisable and not exercisable within 60 days of the Table Date. Excludes 2,625,675 shares underlying restricted stock awards and performance stock awards that are not
issuable within 60 days of the Table Date.
(13)Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 9, 2022 by The Vanguard Group, Inc. In such filing, The Vanguard Group lists its address as 100
Vanguard Blvd., Malvern, PA 19355, and indicates that, as of December 31, 2021, The Vanguard Group had sole voting power with respect to zero shares of common
stock and shared voting power with respect to 169,405 shares of common stock, and
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that The Vanguard Group had sole dispositive power with respect to 7,793,683 shares of common stock and shared dispositive power with respect to 235,055 shares of
common stock.
(14)Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 11, 2022 by Invesco Ltd. and certain of its affiliates. In such filing, Invesco lists its and its affiliates
address as 1555 Peachtree Street NE, Suite 1800, Atlanta, GA 30309, and indicates that, as of December 31, 2021, Invesco and its affiliates had sole voting power with
respect to 6,212,533 shares of common stock and shared voting power with respect to zero shares of common stock, and that Invesco and its affiliates had sole dispositive
power with respect to 6,376,582 shares of common stock and shared dispositive power with respect to zero shares of common stock.
(15)Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 4, 2022 by BlackRock, Inc. on its own behalf. In such filing, BlackRock, Inc. lists its address as 55
East 52nd Street. New York, NY 1005, and indicates that, as of December 31, 2021, BlackRock, Inc. had sole voting power with respect to 5,482,919 shares of common
stock, and that BlackRock, Inc. did not have shared voting power or shared dispositive power with respect to any shares of common stock and had sole dispositive power
with respect to 5,550,559 shares of common stock.
We are not aware of any material proceedings to which any of our directors, nominees for director, executive officers, affiliates of the foregoing persons or any security holder,
including any owner of record or beneficially of more than five percent (5%) of any class of our voting securities, is a party adverse to us or has a material interest adverse to us.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information for all equity compensation plans at December 31, 2021, under which the equity securities of the Company were authorized for
issuance:
Number of securities
to be issued
upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders:
2020 Plan
2020 ESPP

Weighted average exercise
price of outstanding options,
warrants and rights
8,578,204
2,571,737

$
$

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance

15.68
8.19

223,052
2,566,724

Additionally, on January 16, 2022, the remaining authorized but unissued 2,895,411 shares under Legacy Danimer’s stock incentive plans (as adjusted by the merger
consideration exchange ratio in connection with the Business Combination) were assumed into the 2020 Plan.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The following includes a summary of transactions since January 1, 2020 to which we have been a party, in which the amount involved in the transaction exceeded $120,000,
and in which any of our directors, executive officers or, to our knowledge, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our capital stock or any member of the immediate family of
any of the foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than equity and other compensation, termination, change of control, and other
arrangements, which are described under the section entitled “Executive Compensation.”
Transactions with Certain Directors and Executive Officers
Stephen E. Croskrey, our chief executive officer and chairman, leases a house from Danimer in Brinson, Georgia for a nominal rental fee and has an option to purchase such
property from Danimer, which option continues co-terminously with Mr. Croskrey’s employment as chief executive officer of Danimer.
Mr. Croskrey had acquired 483,977 shares of Legacy Danimer Common Stock upon exercise of options granted by Legacy Danimer and for which the exercise prices were paid
in the form of non-recourse notes issued by Mr. Croskrey to Legacy Danimer. The aggregate amount of principal and accrued interest payable by Mr. Croskrey to Legacy
Danimer in the amount of approximately $22,848,285 was paid off prior to the closing of the Business Combination
56

(“Croskrey Note Payoff”). In connection with the Croskrey Note Payoff, Mr. Croskrey received upon closing of the Business Combination a new option grant to purchase
1,154,616 shares of Common Stock under the 2020 Incentive Plan, which option will not be exercisable until the later to occur of February 1, 2024 or the approval by our
shareholders of an amendment to the 2020 Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares available under the 2020 Incentive Plan in an amount sufficient to permit the exercise
of the option. This option grant is subject to the Cash-Settlement Right.
Stuart Pratt, a director of Danimer and the former chairman of the board of directors of Legacy Danimer, had acquired 187,147 shares of Legacy Danimer common stock upon
exercise of options granted by Legacy Danimer and for which the exercise prices were paid in the form of non-recourse notes issued by Mr. Pratt to Legacy Danimer. The
aggregate amount of principal and accrued interest payable by Mr. Pratt to Legacy Danimer in the amount of approximately $5,923,821 was paid off prior to the closing of the
Business Combination (“Pratt Note Payoff”). In connection with the Pratt Note Payoff, Mr. Pratt received upon closing of the Business Combination a new option grant to
purchase 312,258 shares of Common Stock under the 2020 Incentive Plan, which option will not be exercisable until the later to occur of February 1, 2024 or the approval by
our shareholders of an amendment to the 2020 Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares available under the 2020 Incentive Plan in an amount sufficient to permit the
exercise of the option. Pursuant to a letter agreement, dated as of August 12, 2021, between the Company and Mr. Pratt, in the event that the Company is unable for any reason
to issue to Mr. Pratt stock options, restricted stock awards, performance stock awards, other equity based awards or shares of common stock, whether underlying such awards or
otherwise, that the Company has contractually agreed to in prior agreements with Mr. Pratt, then the Company shall be contractually obligated to pay Mr. Pratt, upon the vesting
of any such awards, an amount in cash equal to the notional value that each such stock option, restricted stock award, performance stock award or other equity based award
would have had on the date of such vesting as though it had been granted to Mr. Pratt on the date such other agreement giving rise to such award was entered into; provided that
any such cash payment shall be payable over a period of three years in equal quarterly installments, starting with the date of the vesting of such award. The options held by Mr.
Pratt described above are subject to this cash-settlement right.
Philip Gregory Calhoun, a director of Danimer, as part of a 2020 private placement transaction of Legacy Danimer, acquired 7,940 shares of Legacy Danimer Common Stock
for a purchase price of $500,220. In 2020, Mr. Calhoun has acquired 31,935 shares of Legacy Danimer Common Stock upon exercise of options granted by Legacy Danimer in
conjunction with certain debt financings for which the exercise prices were paid in cash in the aggregate amount of $658,050.
Dr. Isao Noda, a former director of Legacy Danimer, held an aggregate principal amount of $200,000 of Legacy Danimer’s 8% convertible notes, which converted into shares
of Common Stock effective as of the closing of the Business Combination.
Consulting Relationship
Mr. Pratt entered into a consulting agreement with us in connection with the Business Combination. Mr. Pratt continues to provide services to Danimer commensurate with his
role.
Lock-Up Agreement
In connection with the closing of the Business Combination, on December 29, 2020, the Company and Messrs. Croskrey, Pratt, Dowdy, Van Trump, Smith and Tuten entered
into a Lock-Up Agreement (“Lock-Up Agreement”). The terms of the Lock-Up Agreement provide that our securities held by these individuals that were acquired pursuant to
the Merger Agreement or otherwise issued pursuant to the Merger Agreement will be locked-up until the earlier of (i) one year after the closing of the Business Combination or
(ii) subsequent to the closing of the Business Combination, (x) if the reported closing price of the common stock equals or exceeds $12.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits,
stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any twenty (20) trading days within any 30-trading day period commencing at least one hundred fifty (150)
days after the closing of the Business Combination, or (y) the date on which Danimer completes a liquidation, merger, capital stock exchange, reorganization or other similar
transaction that results in all of Danimer’s stockholders having the right to exchange their shares of common stock for cash, securities or other property.
We have agreed that the restrictions in the Lock-Up Agreement will not apply to (i) the delivery to the Company by Messrs. Croskrey or Pratt of the amounts of common stock
needed to effect the Croskrey Note Payoff or Pratt Note Payoff, respectively, and (ii) the sale of common stock by either of Messrs. Croskrey or Pratt to satisfy their respective
tax obligations in connection with the foregoing clause (i).
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The restrictions in the Lock-Up Agreement have now expired.
Indemnification Agreements
We entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers, including each of Messrs. Croskrey, Pratt, Calhoun, Noda, Hunt, Amboian,
Hendrix, Dowdy, Van Trump, Smith and Tuten. These agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors and executive officers for certain expenses,
including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director or executive officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their services as one of
Danimer’s directors or executive officers or as a director or executive officer of any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at our request.
Sponsor Agreements
Live Oak Sponsor Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Sponsor”) that is affiliated with current and former members of our board of directors, has entered
certain agreements with Live Oak, our predecessor company.
Founder Shares
In June 2019, the Sponsor purchased 5,031,250 shares (“Founder Shares”) of Live Oak’s Class B common stock for an aggregate price of $25,000. On January 14, 2020, the
Sponsor contributed back to Live Oak, for no consideration, 718,750 Founder Shares. In February 2020, Live Oak effected a stock dividend for 0.333333333 shares for each
Founder Share outstanding, resulting in the Sponsor holding an aggregate of 5,750,000 Founder Shares, 750,000 of which were later forfeited, resulting in 5,000,000 Founder
Shares outstanding. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, each of the Founder Shares converted into a share of common stock on a one-for-one basis.
Private Warrants
Simultaneously with the closing of Live Oak’s initial public offering, the Sponsor purchased an aggregate of 6,000,000 warrants from Live Oak (each, a “Private Warrant”) at a
price of $1.00 per Private Warrant, for an aggregate purchase price of $6,000,000. Each Private Warrant is exercisable to purchase one share of common stock at a price of
$11.50 per share.
Registration Rights Agreement
Pursuant to a registration rights agreement entered into on May 5, 2020, the holders of the Private Warrants (and the shares of Class A Common Stock underlying such Private
Warrants) and shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the Founder shares had registration rights to require us to register a sale of any such holders’ securities. In a
Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (Commission File No. 333-252515) declared effective on February 16, 2021, we registered 3 million Private Warrants (and the shares of
Class A common stock underlying such Private Warrants) and 5 million shares of common stock that were issued upon conversion of the Founder Shares, all of which Private
Warrants and shares of common stock were owned by the Sponsor. On March 23, 2021, the Sponsor made a pro rata in kind distribution to its members, without consideration,
of all of its 3 million Private Warrants. On July 8, 2021, the Sponsor made a pro rata in kind distribution to its members, without consideration, of all of its 5 million shares of
common stock.
Subscription Agreement
In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Live Oak entered into Subscription Agreements with a number of subscribers, pursuant to which the subscribers
agreed to purchase, and Live Oak agreed to sell to the subscribers, an aggregate of 21,000,000 shares of Live Oak Class A common stock, for a purchase price of $10.00 per
share and an aggregate purchase price of $210,000,000, in a private placement (“PIPE”). Live Oak ValFund Plastics Fund LLC, which was affiliated with a member of our
board of directors, purchased 4,905,000 shares of Live Oak Class A common stock in the PIPE for a total purchase price of $49,050,000.
Related Person Transactions Policy
The Board adopted a written Related Person Transactions Policy that sets forth Danimer’s policies and procedures regarding the identification, review, consideration and
oversight of “related person transactions.” For purposes of Danimer’s policy only, a “related person transaction” is a transaction, arrangement or relationship (or any series of
similar transactions, arrangements or relationships) in which Danimer or any of our subsidiaries are participants involving an amount that exceeds $120,000, in which any
“related person” has a material interest.
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Transactions involving compensation for services provided to Danimer as an employee, consultant or director will not be considered related person transactions under this
policy. A related person is any executive officer, director, nominee to become a director or a holder of more than 5% of any class of Danimer’s voting securities (including
Danimer’s common stock), including any of their immediate family members and affiliates, including entities owned or controlled by such persons.
Under the policy, the related person in question or, in the case of transactions with a holder of more than 5% of any class of Danimer’s voting securities, an officer with
knowledge of a proposed transaction, must present information regarding the proposed related person transaction to Danimer’s audit committee (or, where review by Danimer’s
audit committee would be inappropriate, to another independent body of the Danimer Board) for review. To identify related person transactions in advance, Danimer will rely
on information supplied by Danimer’s executive officers, directors and certain significant stockholders. In considering related person transactions, Danimer’s audit committee
will take into account the relevant available facts and circumstances, which may include, but are not limited to:
•the risks, costs and benefits to Danimer;
•the impact on a director’s independence in the event the related person is a director, immediate family member of a director or an entity with which a director is
affiliated;
•the terms of the transaction;
•the availability of other sources for comparable services or products; and
•the terms available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties.
Danimer’s audit committee will approve only those transactions that it determines are fair to us and in Danimer’s best interests.
Director Independence
The Board has determined that each of the directors on the Board other than Stephen E. Croskrey and Stuart Pratt qualify as independent directors, as defined under the listing
rules of NYSE listing standards, and the Board consists of a majority of “independent directors,” as defined under the rules of the SEC and NYSE listing rules relating to
director independence requirements.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) is the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.
Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for the Company by KPMG for 2021 and 2020 were as follows, in thousands:
2021
Audit Fees
Audit Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

$

$

2020
1,655
3
9
199
1,866

$

$

688
43
731

Audit Fees. Consist of fees for the annual audit of the Company's consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the annual audit of the
Company's internal control over financial reporting for the year ended December 31, 2021, the quarterly reviews of the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements
included in its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, services related to other regulatory filings made with the SEC, and comfort letters.
Audit Related Fees. Consist of fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the consolidated financial
statements but are not reported in the prior paragraph. These fees are related to subscriptions to online accounting, educational, and public company transition matters.
Tax Fees. Consist of tax compliance and preparation services for the year ended December 31, 2021. There were no tax fees for the year ended December 31, 2020.
All Other Fees. Consist of fees for other professional services provided during the year ended December 31, 2021. These fees related to an internal control over financial
reporting readiness assessment for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021. There were no other fees for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Auditor Independence. The Audit Committee has considered the non-audit services provided by KPMG and determined that the provision of such services had no effect on
KPMG’s independence from the Company.
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy and Procedures.
The Audit Committee must review and pre-approve all audit and non-audit services provided by KPMG, which was our independent registered public accounting firm, and has
adopted a Pre-Approval Policy. In conducting reviews of audit and non-audit services, the Audit Committee will determine whether the provision of such services would impair
the auditor’s independence. The term of any pre-approval is twelve months from the date of pre-approval, unless the Audit Committee specifically provides for a different
period. Any proposed services exceeding pre-approved fee ranges or limits must be specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
Requests or applications to provide services that require pre-approval by the Audit Committee must be accompanied by a statement of the independent auditors as to whether, in
the auditor’s view, the request or application is consistent with the SEC’s and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board’s rules on auditor independence. Each preapproval request or application must also be accompanied by documentation regarding the specific services to be provided.
The Audit Committee has not waived the pre-approval requirement for any services rendered by KPMG to the Company. All of the services provided by KPMG to the
Company described above were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Index
1. Financial Statements
Index to financial statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Page number
F-1

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 2021, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the three years ended December 31, 2021

F-3
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8
F-9
F-10

2. Financial Statement Schedules
The information required by Schedule II is included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. All other schedules required by Item 15(b) are not applicable or not
required.
(b) Exhibits:
Exhibit No.
2.1+

2.2

Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 3, 2020, by and among Live Oak, Merger Sub, Legacy Danimer, Live Oak Sponsor Partners, LLC,
as representative for Live Oak for certain purposes described in the Merger Agreement, and John A. Dowdy, Jr., as representative of the shareholders of
Legacy Danimer for certain purposes described in the Merger Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on October 5, 2020).
Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 8, 2020, by and among Live Oak, Merger Sub, Legacy Danimer, Live Oak
Sponsor Partners, LLC and John A. Dowdy, Jr. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 00139280) filed on October 9, 2020).
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2.3
2.4+
3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
10.1
10.2#
10.3#
10.4#
10.5#
10.6#
10.7#
10.8#
10.9#
10.10
10.11†
10.12†

Amendment No. 2 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 11, 2020, by and among Live Oak, Merger Sub, Legacy Danimer, Live Oak
Sponsor Partners, LLC and John A. Dowdy, Jr. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 00139280) filed on December 14, 2020)
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 28, 2021, by and among the Company, Merger Sub, Novomer and Stockholders' Representative (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on August 3, 2021).
Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 5, 2021).
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No.
001-39280) filed on February 3, 2022).
Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333236800) (as amended, the “S-1”)).
Form of Warrant of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the S-1).
Warrant Agreement, dated May 5, 2020 by and between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on May 11, 2020).
Form of Lock-Up Agreement by and among Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and certain stockholders of Legacy Danimer (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit B attached to Exhibit 2.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on October 5, 2020).
Indenture, dated as of December 21, 2021, between Danimer Scientific, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on December 21, 2021).
Form of certificate representing the 3.250% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
(Commission File No. 001-39280) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed
on December 21, 2021).
Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed
on October 5, 2020).
Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 5, 2021).
Danimer Scientific, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex C to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus on Form 424B3 (File
No. 333-249691) filed on December 16, 2020 (the “424B3”)).
Danimer Scientific, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Annex D to the 424B3).
Consulting Agreement, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and Stuart Pratt, dated October 3, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-249691) (as amended, the “S-4”)).
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. and John A. Dowdy, III, dated August 31, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the S-4).
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. and Michael Smith, dated August 31, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the S-4).
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. and Scott Tuten, dated August 31, 2020 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the S-4).
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and between Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. and Phillip Van Trump, dated August 31, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the S-4).
Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated October 3, 2020, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and Michael Smith (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the S-4)
Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated October 3, 2020, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and Scott Tuten (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the S-4).
Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated October 3, 2020, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and Phillip Van Trump
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the S-4).
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10.13†
10.14†
10.15†
10.16†
10.17
10.18†
10.19†

10.20†

10.21

10.22
10.23
10.24†
10.25#
10.26#

Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated October 3, 2020, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and Stuart Pratt (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the S-4).
Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated October 3, 2020, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and Stephen E. Croskrey
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the S-4).
Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement, dated October 3, 2020, by and between Live Oak Acquisition Corp. and John A. Dowdy, III
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the S-4).
Loan Agreement, dated as of April 25, 2019, by and among Carver Development CDE VI, LLC, ST CDE LXII, LLC, and Danimer Scientific
Manufacturing, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the S-4).
QLICI Loan and Security Agreement dated as of November 7, 2019, by and between Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc. and AMCREF Fund 51, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the S-4).
Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of March 13, 2019, among Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC and Meredian Bioplastics, Inc., as borrowers,
Meredian, Inc, Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc. and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., as guarantors, the lenders party thereto and
Southeast Community Development Fund X, L.L.C., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the S-4).
Amendment No. One to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2020, among Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC and Meredian
Bioplastics, Inc., as borrowers, Meredian, Inc, Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc. and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., as
guarantors, the lenders party thereto and Southeast Community Development Fund X, L.L.C., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.20 to the S-4).
Amendment No. Two to Loan and Security Agreement and Consent, dated as of December 22, 2020, among Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC and
Meredian Bioplastics, Inc., as borrowers, Meredian, Inc., Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc., and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc.,
as guarantors, the lenders party thereto, and Southeast Community Development Fund X, L.L.C., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. . 001-39280) filed on March 24, 2021).
Amendment No. Three to Loan and Security Agreement and Consent, dated as of March 18, 2021, among Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company, Meredian Bioplastics, Inc., a Georgia corporation, as borrowers, Meredian, Inc., a Georgia corporation, Danimer
Scientific, L.L.C., a Georgia limited liability company, Danimer Bioplastics, Inc., a Georgia corporation, and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, as guarantors, the several entities party thereto as lenders, and Southeast Community Development Fund X, L.L.C., a Delaware
limited liability company, as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 00139280) filed on March 24, 2021).
Ratification by Guarantor, dated March 18, 2021, by Meredian Holdings Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on March 24, 2021).
Termination Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2021, by and among White Oak Global Advisors, LLC, Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC, Meredian,
Inc., Meredian Bioplastics, Inc., Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc., Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., and Meredian Holdings
Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on February 4, 2021).
Amended and Restated Master Lease Agreement, dated May 2020, between Store Capital Acquisitions, LLC and Meredian Holdings Group, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the S-4).
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Danimer Scientific, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to
Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 5, 2021).
Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Danimer Scientific, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 5, 2021).
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10.27
10.28

10.29#
10.30#
10.31#
10.32#
10.33

10.34
10.35

10.36
10.37*
10.38#
16.1
16.2
21.1*
23.1*
23.2*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1**

Revolving Credit Agreement, made and entered into on April 29, 2021, by and among Danimer Scientific Holdings, Inc., Meredian, Inc., Meredian
Bioplastics, Inc., Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc. and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., as borrowers, and Truist Bank, as lender
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on May 5, 2021).
Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of April 29, 2021, made by Danimer Scientific Holdings, Inc., Meredian, Inc., Meredian Bioplastics, Inc.,
Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc., Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., Danimer Scientific, Inc. and Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. in
favor of Truist Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on May 5,
2021).
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2021, between Danimer Scientific, Inc. and Stephen E. Croskrey (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on July 29, 2021).
Performance Stock Agreement, dated July 23, 2021, between the Company and Stephen E. Croskrey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on July 29, 2021).
Stock Option Agreement, dated July 23, 2021, between the Company and Stephen E. Croskrey (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on July 29, 2021).
Letter Agreement, dated August 12, 2021, between the Company and Stuart Pratt (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on August 16, 2021).
Amendment No. Four to Loan and Security Agreement and Consent, dated as of December 15, 2021, among Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC,
Meredian Bioplastics, Inc., Meredian, Inc., Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc., and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., the several
entities party thereto as lenders, and Southeast Community Development Fund X, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on December 16, 2021).
Ratification by Guarantor, dated December 15, 2021, by Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on December 16, 2021).
First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of December 15, 2021, among Danimer Scientific Holdings, Inc., Meredian, Inc., Meredian
Bioplastics, Inc., Danimer Scientific, L.L.C., Danimer Bioplastics, Inc. and Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc., Danimer Scientific, Inc., Meredian
Holdings Group, Inc. and Truist Bank (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed
on December 16, 2021).
Reaffirmation and Ratification of Guarantor, dated December 15, 2021, by Danimer Scientific, Inc. and Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on December 16, 2021).
Form of Confirmation for Capped Call Transactions.
Employment Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2022, between Michael A. Hajost and Danimer Scientific, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 21, 2021).
Letter from WithumSmith+Brown, PC to the Commission, dated January 5, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to Current Report on Form
8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 5, 2021).
Letter from Thomas Howell Ferguson P.A. to the Commission, dated January 6, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.2 to Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission File No. 001-39280) filed on January 6, 2021).
Subsidiaries of Danimer Scientific Inc.
Consent of KPMG LLP
Consent of Thomas Howell Ferguson P.A.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Rule 13a-14(a)/15(d)-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Section 1350 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
63

101.INS*
101.SCH*
101.CAL*
101.LAB*
101.PRE*
101.DEF*
104

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase
XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed with this Annual Report
** Furnished with this Annual Report
+ The schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be
furnished to the SEC upon request.
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan arrangement.
† Portions of this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Danimer Scientific, Inc.
Date: March 7, 2022

By:

/s/ Stephen E. Croskrey
Stephen E. Croskrey
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
Person
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Date

/s/ Stephen E. Croskrey
Stephen E. Croskrey

Chief Executive Officer, Director, and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 7, 2022

/s/ John A. Dowdy, III
John A. Dowdy, III

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 7, 2022

/s/ John P. Amboian
John P. Amboian

Director

March 7, 2022

/s/ Richard J. Hendrix
Richard J. Hendrix

Director

March 7, 2022

/s/ Christy Basco
Christy Basco

Director

March 7, 2022

/s/ Philip Gregory Calhoun
Philip Gregory Calhoun

Director

March 7, 2022

/s/ Gregory Hunt
Gregory Hunt

Director

March 7, 2022

/s/ Dr. Isao Noda
Dr. Isao Noda

Director

March 7, 2022

/s/ Stuart Pratt
Stuart Pratt

Director

March 7, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Danimer Scientific, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Danimer Scientific, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 7, 2022 expressed an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to
be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which
they relate.
Revenue recognition for research and development services
As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company enters into certain contracts with customers to provide research and development services
related to developing customized formulations of biodegradable resins based on polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA). Revenue for such research and development services is
recognized over time with progress measured utilizing an input method based on personnel hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated personnel hours.
F-1

The engagement team identified the evaluation of revenue recognition for research and development services as a critical audit matter. Specifically, evaluating the
estimated stage of completion of the services and the future personnel hours required to complete the services involved a high degree of subjective auditor judgment.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain
internal controls related to the Company’s revenue recognition process for research and development services, including controls related to estimating the stage of
completion of the services and the future personnel hours required to complete the services.
We evaluated the reasonableness of the Company’s estimated stage of completion of the services and estimated future personnel hours required to complete the services
for a selection of research and development service contracts by:
•interviewing project personnel to gain an understanding of the status of the project including the stage of completion
•comparing quarterly estimated personnel hours to historical personnel hours incurred to assess management’s ability to estimate
•performing a retrospective review of personnel hours incurred subsequent to year-end
•inspecting evidence, such as steering committee materials, status reports or correspondence between the Company and the customer, and comparing them to
management’s estimated stage of completion for the related research and development services
•confirming terms and conditions of the research and development services contracts directly with the customer to assess management’s estimated stage of completion.
Valuation of acquired technology intangible asset
As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 11, 2021, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Novomer, Inc. for $151.2
million, net of cash acquired. As a result of the acquisition, the Company recorded an acquired technology intangible asset in the amount of $84.4 million based on the
estimated acquisition date fair value.
We identified the valuation of the acquired technology intangible asset as a critical audit matter. Key assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the acquired
technology intangible asset included the revenue growth rates, EBITDA margins, and the discount rate. Evaluating the key assumptions involved challenging auditor
judgment as they represent subjective determinations of future performance as well as future market and economic conditions. Additionally, the audit effort associated
with evaluating the fair value of the acquired technology intangible asset required specialized skills and knowledge.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain
internal controls related to the Company’s determination of the estimated fair value of the acquired technology intangible asset, including controls related to the
development of the revenue growth rates, EBITDA margins, and discount rate assumptions. We assessed the reasonableness of the Company’s forecasted revenue growth
rates and EBITDA margins by comparing them to relevant industry data and other third party information. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with
specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in evaluating the discount rate used in the valuation, by comparing the inputs to publicly available data for comparable
entities and in testing the estimate of the fair value of the acquired technology intangible asset using the Company’s cash flow forecasts and the discount rate, and
comparing the result to the Company’s fair value estimate.
/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.
Atlanta, Georgia
March 7, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Danimer Scientific, Inc.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited Danimer Scientific, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, because of the effect of
the material weaknesses, described below, on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related
notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated March 7, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness in risk assessment resulted in
the following material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting: (1) ineffective controls over the accuracy of the quantities billed for product revenue, (2)
ineffective controls over the expense attribution for certain stock-based compensation awards, (3) ineffective controls over the preparation and review of the tax provision,
including the assignment of control operators with requisite knowledge, experience and expertise, and (4) ineffective controls over the processing and payment of vendor
invoices for certain contracts with progress billings have been identified and included in management’s assessment. The material weaknesses were considered in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2021 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report on those consolidated
financial statements.
The Company acquired Novomer, Inc. (Novomer) during 2021, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, Novomer’s internal control over financial reporting associated with 20% of total assets and less than 1% of total revenues included
in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company
also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Novomer.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
March 7, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Danimer Scientific Inc., as successor to Meredian Holdings Group, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019, of Danimer Scientific
Inc., as successor to Meredian Holdings Group, Inc., (the Company), and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our
opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of the Company’s operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company was not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Thomas Howell Ferguson P.A.
We served as Meredian Holding Group, Inc.’s auditor since its incorporation in 2014 and previously served as the auditor of the predecessors of Meredian Holding Group, Inc.
since 2013. We resigned as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm in January 2021.
Tallahassee, Florida
October 15, 2020, except for the effects of the revision discussed in Note 1 to the 2020 Consolidated Financial Statements, as to which the date is March 29, 2021
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DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Other receivables, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Contract assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Right-of-use assets
Leverage loans receivable
Restricted cash
Loan fees
Other assets
Total assets

December 31,
2021
$

$

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Unearned revenue and contract liabilities

$

Current portion of lease liability
Current portion of long-term debt, net
Total current liabilities
Private warrants liability
Long-term lease liability, net
Long-term debt, net
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

$

286,487
17,149
3,836
24,573
4,737
3,576
340,358
316,181
84,659
62,649
19,240
13,408
481
1,397
224
838,597

20,790
18,777
214

December 31,
2020
$

$

$

377,581
6,605
13,642
3,089
1,466
402,383
106,795
1,801
19,387
13,408
2,316
111
546,201

10,610
9,220

3,337
357
43,475

2,455
3,000
25,201
50,486

9,578
22,693
260,934
1,014
638
338,332

82,860
24,175
31,386
1,250
190,157

$

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 19)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stoc k, $0.0001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized: 100,687,820 and 84,535,640 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively

$

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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10
619,145
(118,890 )
500,265
838,597

$

$

8
414,819
(58,783 )
356,044
546,201

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Revenue:
Products
Services
Total revenue

DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020
$

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
(Gain) loss on sale of assets
Legal settlement
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations

50,769
7,980
58,749

$

40,692
6,641
47,333

2019
$

26,862
5,482
32,344

57,865
80,004
20,270
82
158,221
(99,472 )

35,876
19,343
7,851
(9 )
63,061
(15,728 )

21,237
16,027
5,482
(281 )
8,000
50,465
(18,121 )

$

3,720
(2,080 )
5,266
(31 )
6,875
(8,853 )
(8,853 )

$

(3,135 )
5,550
277
2,692
(15,429 )
(4,085 )
(19,514 )

$

(0.30 )

$

(0.77 )

Nonoperating (expense) income:
Gain on remeasurement of private warrants
Interest, net
Gain on forgiveness of debt
Loss on loan extinguishment
Other, net
Total nonoperating (expense) income:
Loss before income taxes
Income taxes
Net loss

$

27,767
(763 )
1,776
(2,604 )
(44 )
26,132
(73,340 )
13,233
(60,107 )

Basic and diluted net loss per share

$

(0.65 )

Weighted average number of shares used to compute
Basic and diluted net loss per share

93,078,004

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
F-7

29,570,658

-

25,335,298

DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands)
Common stock:
Balance, beginning of period
Issuance of common stock
Balance, end of period

2021
$

Additional paid-in capital:
Balance, beginning of period

8
2
10

$

414,819
138,196

Exercise of warrants, net of issuance costs
Stock-based compensation expense
Fair value of private warrants converted to public warrants
Purchase of capped call options
Stock issued under stock compensation plans
Shares retained for employee taxes
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Beneficial conversion feature on convertible notes
Private warrants liability assumed in business combination
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Conversion of debt to common stock
Convertible debt converted at date of reverse acquisition
Recapitalization proceeds from sale of common stock, net of transaction costs of $22,844
Sale of common shares to private investors
Balance, end of period
Accumulated deficit:
Balance, beginning of period
Net loss
Balance, end of period
Total stockholders' equity

Years Ended
December 31,
2020

$

2019
3
5
8

$

3
3

66,503

56,751

55,270
45,515
(35,040 )
3,005
(1,728 )
(892 )
619,145

3,645
5,540
32,517
93
(86,580 )
655
11,068
171,380
209,998
414,819

5,271
8,752
331
(4,602 )
66,503

(58,783 )
(60,107 )
(118,890 )
500,265

(49,930 )
(8,853 )
(58,783 )
356,044

(30,416 )
(19,514 )
(49,930 )
16,576

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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$

DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Gain on remeasurement of private warrants
Stock-based compensation

2021
$

(60,107 )

$

(27,767 )
55,270

Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Loss on write-off of deferred loan costs
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts
Amortization of right-of-use assets and lease liability
Gain on forgiveness of debt
(Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets
Other
Interest incurred but not paid
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition:
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Contract assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued and other long-term liabilities
Unearned revenue and contract liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Acquisition of Novomer, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
Investment in leverage loans receivable related to NMTC financing
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt
Proceeds from exercise of warrants, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from Business Combination and PIPE offering
Purchase of capped call options
Principal payments on long-term debt
Transaction costs related to Business Combination and PIPE offering
Cash paid for debt issuance costs
Employee taxes related to stock-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
Proceeds from NMTC financing
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash-beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash-end of period

Years Ended
December 31,
2020

$

(8,853 )

2019
$

(3,720 )

(19,514 )
-

11,674
(13,233 )
1,939
480
(1,040 )
(1,776 )
82
389
-

3,645
4,609
1,655
514
(5,266 )
(9 )
809

5,271
3,507
4,137
1,511
562
(5,550 )
(281 )
-

(10,835 )
(9,799 )
(4,336 )
(2,110 )
(75 )
2,048
(1,526 )
(2,241 )
(62,963 )

(1,600 )
(6,604 )
(2,392 )
(708 )
5
993
5,250
(2,125 )
(13,797 )

2,195
(2,993 )
(263 )
(757 )
(73 )
3,635
7,360
(420 )
(1,673 )

(185,411 )
(151,179 )
422
(336,168 )

(38,268 )
9
(38,259 )

(36,560 )
875
(13,408 )
(49,093 )

240,245
138,196
(35,040 )
(27,162 )

48,251
(15,222 )

(10,424 )
(1,728 )
2,899
(890 )
106
306,202

4,547
403,702
(1,941 )
(21,556
)
(135 )
5,540
32,518
422,675

(92,929 )
379,897
286,968

370,619
9,278
379,897

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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$

(4,681 )
8,752
21,000
(4,602 )

$

53,498
2,732
6,546
9,278

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Description of Business
Danimer Scientific, Inc. (“Danimer”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Company”) is a performance polymer company specializing in bioplastic
replacements for traditional petroleum-based plastics.
The Company (formerly Live Oak Acquisition Corp. (“Live Oak”)), was originally incorporated in the State of Delaware on May 24, 2019 as a special purpose acquisition
company formed for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization, or similar business
combination with one or more businesses. Live Oak completed its initial public offering in May 2020. On December 29, 2020 (“Closing Date”), Live Oak consummated a
business combination (“Business Combination”) pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 3, 2020, (as amended by Amendment No. 1, dated as of
October 8, 2020, and Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 11, 2020, (collectively “Merger Agreement”), by and among Live Oak, Green Merger Corp., (“Merger Sub.”)
and Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. (“MHG” or “Legacy Danimer”). Immediately upon consummation of the Business Combination, Merger Sub. merged with and into
Legacy Danimer, with Legacy Danimer surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Live Oak. In connection with the Business Combination, Live Oak changed its
name to Danimer Scientific, Inc.
The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “DNMR”. Unless the context otherwise requires, “we”, “us”, “our”, “Danimer”,
“Danimer Scientific”, and the “Company” refer to Danimer Scientific, Inc., the combined company and its subsidiaries following the Business Combination. Refer to Note 4
for further discussion of the Business Combination.
On August 11, 2021, we closed the acquisition of Novomer, Inc. (“Novomer”). Novomer's financial results are included in our consolidated results from the acquisition date
forward.
Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and
consolidate all assets and liabilities of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
We do not have any items of other comprehensive income (loss), accordingly, there is no difference between net loss and comprehensive (loss) income for 2021, 2020 or
2019, so a separate Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) that would otherwise be required is not presented.
COVID-19
In late 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus was reported in Wuhan, Hubei, China. In March 2020, the World Health Organization determined the resulting outbreak of
COVID-19, the disease caused by this novel coronavirus, to be a pandemic. The pandemic is disrupting supply chains worldwide as national and local governments
implement measures intended to slow the spread of COVID-19, with production and sales across a range of industries impacted in different ways. The extent of future impacts
of COVID-19 on our operations and our financial performance will depend on developments outside of our control, including the duration and spread of the outbreak; its
impact on customers, employees, and vendors; and broader economic conditions, all of which remain uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the President of the United States signed and enacted into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES
Act”) and the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021 (“CAA”). Among other provisions, the CARES Act and the CAA provide relief to U.S. federal corporate taxpayers
through temporary adjustments to net operating loss rules, changes to limitations on interest expense deductibility, and the acceleration of available refunds for minimum tax
credit carryforwards. The CARES Act and the CAA did not have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
In April 2020, we received a loan in the amount of approximately $1.8 million pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) established by the CARES Act. Under
terms of the PPP, certain amounts of the loan may be forgiven if they are used for qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act. During 2021, this loan was forgiven.
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Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Segments
Our chief operating decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources
and evaluating financial performance. We have one primary business activity and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for operating results at a level
below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, we have determined that we have one operating and reportable segment.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash or deposits
with financial institutions and deposits in highly liquid money market securities. Deposits with financial institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation up to $250,000. Our bank deposits exceed federally-insured limits.
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, long-term restricted cash included $0.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively, related to amounts required under New Markets Tax Credit
(“NMTC”) debt agreements with various lenders. At December 31, 2020, restricted cash also included $1.8 million in an escrow account to fund possible repayment of the
PPP loan, which was forgiven and the escrow was collected in 2021 (see Note 12).
Accounts Receivable, net
We record accounts receivable at the stated amount of the transactions with our customers and we do not charge interest. The allowance for credit losses is our best estimate
of the amount of probable credit losses associated with our accounts receivable. We determine the allowance based on historical experience, current conditions, and
reasonable and supportable forecasts. Past-due balances are reviewed individually for collectability. We charge off account balances against the allowance after we have
exhausted all means of collection and we consider the potential for recovery to be remote. At December 31, 2021 and 2020 the allowances for credit losses were $0.5 million
and $0.1 million, respectively.
Our accounts receivable generally have net 30 to net 60-day payment terms and we usually receive consideration in accordance with the payment terms of the contract.
Accordingly, we do not provide customers significant financing arrangements. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, trade accounts receivable were $16.8 million and $6.3
million, respectively, with the remainders representing other receivables.
Inventories, net
Inventories primarily consist of raw materials and finished products and are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We determine cost using the average cost
method. We review the carrying value of inventory on a periodic basis for excess or obsolete items based on historical turnover and assumptions about future product
demand, and by analyzing the current selling price for purposes of accounting for inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value. If we determine the quantities exceed
the estimated forecast, that an item is obsolete, or the expected net realizable value upon sale is lower than the currently recorded cost, we record a write-down, charged to
cost of revenue, to reduce the value of the inventory to its net realizable value and establish a new cost basis.
Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to forty years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful
lives or the related lease term of twenty years. Major property additions, replacements, and improvements that extend useful life are capitalized, while maintenance and
repairs which do not extend the useful lives of the assets are expensed. Net gains or losses on equipment sales and other property dispositions are reflected as operating
income or expense.
F-11

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets
We test goodwill for impairment annually as of November 1 or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate possible impairment.
Other long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets, are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives and reviewed for
impairment if events or circumstances indicate possible impairment.
There were no impairments recognized during 2021, 2020 or 2019.
Convertible Debt and Capped Call
We elected the early adoption of ASU 2020-06, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity's
Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)("ASU 2020-06") effective January 1, 2021. This adoption had no impact on our financials prior to the issuance of our convertible debt on
December 21, 2021. We reviewed the applicable models under the simplified guidance and determined that this borrowing should be accounted for as debt and should be
presented at stated carrying value net of issuance costs. Additionally, we determined that the conversion feature qualified for a scope exception and was not required to be
accounted for separately as a derivative.
In conjunction with the convertible debt, we entered into capped call transactions in which we purchased a call option to receive shares of our common stock. The capped
call options are legally separate from the convertible debt, and we accounted for the capped call options separately from the convertible debt. The capped call options are
indexed to our own common stock and classified in stockholders’ equity. The premiums paid for the capped call, determined to be the fair value of the capped call options at
inception, have been included as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs related to long-term debt are reported as a direct deduction from that debt, except for costs associated with debt instruments with no outstanding
borrowings, which are reflected as an asset. Debt issuance costs are amortized using the straight-line method which approximates the effective interest rate method over the
term of the related debt. Amortization of debt issuance costs is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and was $0.5 million, $1.0 million
and $1.3 million, respectively, during 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue from product sales and services in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). We recognize
revenue when our customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for those goods
or services. At contract inception, we assess the goods or services promised within each contract and determine which are performance obligations and assess whether each
promised good or service is distinct. We then recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as)
the performance obligation is satisfied.
We derive our revenues primarily from: 1) product sales of developed compostable resins based on polyhydroxyalkanoates (“PHA”), polylactic acid (“PLA”) and other
renewable materials; and 2) research and development (“R&D”) services related to developing customized formulations of biodegradable resins based on PHA.
We generally produce and sell finished products, for which we recognize revenue upon shipment, which is typically when control of the underlying product is transferred to
the customer and all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. Due to the highly specialized nature of our products, returns are infrequent, and therefore we do not
estimate amounts for sales returns and allowances. We offer a standard quality assurance warranty related to the fitness of our finished goods. There are no forms of variable
consideration such as discounts, rebates, or volume discounts that we estimate to reduce our transaction price.
R&D service revenues generally involve milestone-based contracts under which we work with a customer to develop a PHA-based solution designed to the customer’s
specifications, which may involve a single or multiple performance obligations. When an R&D contract has multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction
price to the performance obligations utilizing a cost-plus approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price, which contemplates the level of effort to satisfy the performance
obligations, and then allocate the transaction price to each of the performance obligations based on the relative percentage of the stand-alone selling price. We recognize
revenue for
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these R&D services over time with progress based on personnel hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated personnel hours for each performance obligation
identified within the contract. Upon completion of the R&D services, the customers have an option to enter into long-term supply agreements with us for the product(s) that
were developed within the respective contracts. We concluded these customer options were marketing offers, not separate performance obligations, since the options did not
provide a material right to any of our customers.
For our R&D service revenues, we estimate completion costs for these contracts based on our expertise and experience in providing these services. These estimates may
ultimately differ from the actual cost incurred. An increase of 10% in the estimated hours remaining to complete each of our R&D contracts at December 31, 2021 would
have reduced our revenue by $1.0 million.
We incur certain fulfillment costs that meet the criteria for capitalization in accordance with ASC 340. These costs are amortized to cost of revenue on a per pound basis as
products are sold.
We recognize a contract liability if we receive consideration (or have the conditional right to receive consideration) in advance of performance, which only occurs with our
R&D services contracts. At the inception of our R&D services contracts, customers generally pay consideration at the commencement of the agreement and at milestones as
outlined in the contracts.
Cost of Revenue
Direct costs of production and delivery (including raw materials, inbound and outbound freight, production and warehouse salaries and stock-based compensation, plant
utilities, plant rent, depreciation, and other production-related expenditures) are charged to cost of revenue in the same period as the related revenue is recognized. Other
direct incremental third-party costs related to our R&D contracts are charged to cost of revenue.
Stock-Based Compensation
Awards to employees have been granted with vesting requirements based on duration of service only, a combination of market-based and service-based conditions, and a
combination of performance-based and service-based conditions. We recognize expense associated with service-based only condition awards on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period. We recognize expense associated with awards with market-based or performance-based vesting conditions on a straight-line basis over the longest
of the explicit, implicit or derived service period term of the award.
Advertising Costs
We charge advertising costs to selling, general and administrative expense as incurred. Advertising costs were not material during 2021, 2020 or 2019.
Research and Development Costs
We charge research and development costs to expense as incurred. Research and development costs include salaries, depreciation, stock-based compensation, consulting and
other external fees, and facility costs directly attributable to research and development activities.
Income Taxes
We are taxed as a corporation and as such use the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. We file consolidated income tax returns that include our
subsidiary legal entities.
Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. This method also requires the recognition of future tax benefits such as
net operating loss carryforwards to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely than not.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date.
In the ordinary course of business, there may be transactions for which the ultimate tax outcome is uncertain. We assess uncertain tax positions in each of the tax
jurisdictions in which we operate and account for the related financial statement implications. Unrecognized tax benefits are reported using the two-step approach, under
which tax effects of a position are recognized only if it is more likely than not to be sustained and the amount of the tax benefit
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recognized is equal to the largest tax benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement of the tax position.
Determining the appropriate level of unrecognized tax benefits requires us to exercise judgment regarding the uncertain application of tax law. We would adjust the amount
of unrecognized tax benefits when information became available or when an event occurred indicating a change would be appropriate. We would include interest and
penalties related to any uncertain tax positions as part of income tax expense.
Business Combinations
We recognize assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated acquisition date fair values, with the excess of purchase price over the estimated fair values of
identifiable net assets recorded as goodwill. Assigning fair values requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions regarding the fair value of identifiable intangible
assets. We may refine these estimates if necessary over a period not to exceed one year by taking into consideration new information that, if known at the acquisition date,
would have affected the fair values recognized for assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Significant estimates and assumptions are used in estimating the value of acquired identifiable intangible assets, possibly including estimating future cash flows based on
forecasted revenues and EBITDA margins that we expect to generate following the acquisition, selecting an appropriate royalty rate when applicable, applying an
appropriate discount rate to estimate a present value of those cash flows and determining acquired assets' useful lives. These assumptions are forward-looking and their
realization will be affected by future economic and market conditions.
Leases
Operating leases are reflected as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized as the present value of the future lease
payments over the lease term at commencement date, adjusted for lease incentives, prepaid or accrued rent, and unamortized initial direct costs, as applicable. Since most of
the leases do not provide a readily determinable rate implicit in the lease, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date
in determining the present value of future payments. Our incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of interest we would have to pay on a collateralized basis to
borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease, typically at our own discretion. We
evaluate the renewal options at commencement and if they are reasonably certain of exercise, we include the renewal period in the lease term.
For all classes of leased assets, we have applied an accounting policy election to exclude short-term leases from recognition in our consolidated balance sheets. A short-term
lease has a lease term of 12 months or less at the commencement date and does not include a purchase option that is reasonably certain of exercise. We recognize short-term
lease expense in our consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Lease costs are recorded in cost of revenue, research and development expenses, or selling, general and administrative expenses based on the underlying functions of the
leased assets.
Earnings per Share
We compute basic earnings per share by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. In accordance with the
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and as a result of the Business Combination and reverse acquisition, we have retrospectively adjusted the weighted
average shares outstanding prior to December 29, 2020 using the established exchange rate of 1 Legacy Danimer common share to 9.158 common shares.
We compute diluted earnings per share by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, including potentially
dilutive ordinary shares from option exercises, employee share awards, and other dilutive instruments that have been issued. For periods where we have presented a net loss,
such securities are excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as they would be anti-dilutive.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting for Income Taxes — In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (“Topic 740”), to simplify the accounting for income taxes, which we
adopted effective January 1, 2021. The new guidance changes various subtopics of accounting for income taxes including, but not limited to, accounting for “hybrid” tax
regimes, tax basis step-up in goodwill obtained in a transaction that is not a business combination, intraperiod tax allocation
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exception to incremental approach, ownership changes in investments, interim-period accounting for enacted changes in tax law, and year-to-date loss limitation in interimperiod tax accounting. There was no material impact on our consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this guidance.
Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options and Derivatives and Hedging Contracts in Entity's Own Equity - In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, to
simplify the accounting for convertible instruments by eliminating large sections of the existing guidance in this area, which we adopted effective January 1, 2021. It also
eliminates several triggers for derivative accounting, including a requirement to settle certain contracts by delivering registered shares. This had no effect on our
consolidated financial statements prior to the issuance of the convertible notes (see Note 12).
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses — In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (“ASU 2016-13”), which we adopted
effective January 1, 2021. ASU 2016-13 requires entities to report “expected” credit losses on financial instruments and other commitments to extend credit rather than the
current “incurred loss” model. These expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date are to be based on historical experience, current conditions, and
reasonable and supportable forecasts. This ASU also requires enhanced disclosures relating to significant estimates and judgments used in estimating credit losses, as well as
the credit quality. There was no material impact on our consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this guidance.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
There have been no new accounting pronouncements not yet effective that we believe will have a significant effect, or potential significant effect, on our consolidated
financial statements.
Note 3. Fair Value Considerations
Fair value is defined as the price we would receive to sell an asset in a timely transaction or pay to transfer a liability in a timely transaction with an independent buyer in the
principal market, or in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the investment or liability. A framework is used for measuring fair value utilizing a
three-tier hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data;
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs reflecting management’s assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions made by other market participants. These
valuations require significant judgment.
Level 1
The carrying amounts of our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash were measured using quoted market prices in active markets and represent Level 1 investments. Our
other financial instruments such as accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities. The carrying value
of our long-term debt instruments also approximates fair value due to their recent issuance and/or near-term maturities.
We value our restricted stock that does not include market or performance factors at the closing price of a share of our common stock on the grant date, or $37.09 for such
restricted stock granted in 2021.
We value our restricted stock with performance factors at the closing price of a share of our common stock on each period end date, or $8.52 at December 31, 2021, since
such grants include a cash settlement feature.
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Level 2
We value our restricted stock that contain a market-based vesting provision using a Monte Carlo simulation, which takes into account a large number of potential stock price
scenarios over time and incorporates varied assumptions about volatility and exercise behavior for those various scenarios. These assumptions are based on market data but
cannot be directly observed. A fair value is determined for each potential outcome. The grant date fair value of this restricted stock is the average of the fair values calculated
for each potential outcome, or $36.57 for such restricted stock granted in 2021.
The following table provides information regarding the restricted shares that were valued using Monte Carlo simulations on the March 10, 2021 grant date.
Fair value at grant date
Dividend yield
Risk-free rate
Expected term (in years)

$

36.57
0.00 %
1.51 %
9.80

Level 3
We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value stock options, including ESPP awards, and our outstanding warrants to purchase shares of our common stock at an
exercise price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, that had been privately placed prior to the Business Combination (“Private Warrants”). The Private Warrants and
stock options with a cash-settlement feature are re-valued each period end, and all other stock options are valued on the date of grant only. Other than this mark to market
factor, we recognize this expense on a straight-line basis over the respective vesting periods. Since our stock price history as a publicly traded company is shorter in duration
than the expected lives of our options (other than ESPP awards), we use a peer group to assess volatility. We have not paid and do not currently anticipate paying a cash
dividend on our common stock, so we have set the expected annual dividend yield to zero for all calculations. We used risk-free rates equal to the U.S. Treasury yield curves
in effect as of the valuation dates for durations equal to the expected lives of each option. We use the simplified method under SAB Topic 14, defined as the mid-point
between the vesting period and the contractual term for each grant, to determine the expected lives of stock options and we use the remaining contractual life of the warrants
as their expected life.
The following table sets forth the fair values we calculated and the ranges of values used in our Black Scholes calculations for stock options, other than ESPP awards.

Share prices of our common stock
Expected volatilities
Risk-free rates of return
Expected option terms (years)
Calculated option values

December 31,
2021
$ 8.52
48.60%
1.30%
5.58
$ 5.25 - $ 6.68

2021
$ 8.52 - $ 45.41
41.45% - 48.60%
0.88% - 1.30%
5.58 - 6.00
$ 1.67 - $ 18.52

Years Ended December 31,
2020
$9.65 - $24.65
38.00% - 43.40%
0.23% - 0.88%
5.50 - 6.50
$2.58 - $9.59

2019
N/A
37.20% - 38.10%
1.53% - 2.37%
4.50 - 6.00
$2.61 - $2.61

The table below sets forth the inputs we used in our Black Sholes models for Private Warrant valuations and the fair values determined.
December 31, 2021
Share price of our common stock
Expected volatility
Risk-free rate of return
Expected warrant term (years)
Fair value determined per warrant

$

8.52
47.62 %
1.11 %
3.99
2.45

$

Year Ended
December 31, 2021
$8.20 - $64.29
40.00% - 47.62%
0.75% - 1.11%
3.99 - 4.74
$2.45 - $15.14

December 31, 2020
$

$

23.51
40.0 %
0.36 %
4.99
13.81

Note 4. Business Combinations
Live Oak and Legacy Danimer
On December 29, 2020, we consummated a business combination with Legacy Danimer pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Pursuant to ASC 805, for financial accounting
and reporting purposes, Legacy Danimer was deemed the
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accounting acquirer, we were treated as the accounting acquiree, and the Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization. Effectively, the Business
Combination was treated as the equivalent of Legacy Danimer issuing stock for the net assets of Live Oak, accompanied by a recapitalization. Under this method of
accounting, the historical financial statements of Legacy Danimer are our historical consolidated financial statements. The net assets of Live Oak are stated at historical costs,
with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded, and are consolidated with Legacy Danimer’s financial statements on the Closing Date. The shares and net loss per share
available to holders of the Company’s common stock prior to the Business Combination have been retroactively restated as shares and net loss per share, respectively,
reflecting the exchange ratio established in the Merger Agreement as of the earliest period presented.
In connection with the Business Combination, Live Oak entered into subscription agreements with certain investors (“PIPE Investors”), whereby it issued 21,000,000 shares of
common stock at $10.00 per share (“Private Placement Shares”) for an aggregate purchase price of $210.0 million (“Private Placement”), which closed simultaneously with
the consummation of the Business Combination. Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the Private Placement Shares were automatically converted into shares of our
common stock on a one-for-one basis.
The aggregate value of the consideration paid by Live Oak in the Business Combination was $397.3 million, consisting of 39,726,570 shares of Live Oak Class A common
stock valued at $10.00 per share. In addition, pursuant to the Merger Agreement, we assumed the obligations under the outstanding options to purchase common shares of
Legacy Danimer under its 2016 Director and Executive Officer Stock Incentive Plan and 2016 Omnibus Plan along with options and warrants issued under Non-Plan Legacy
Danimer Options and Warrants arrangements (see Notes 11 and 13) and these instruments converted into options and warrants to purchase 6,315,924 shares of our common
stock with no changes to the terms of the awards. We realized net proceeds after transaction costs of $381.4 million from the Business Combination.
In connection with the Business Combination, we incurred direct and incremental costs of $22.8 million related to the equity issuance, consisting primarily of investment
banking, legal, accounting, and other professional fees, which were recorded against additional paid-in capital as a reduction of proceeds. We incurred additional financial
advisory fees and compensation costs related to the Business Combination of $4.3 million that have been included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2020. Transaction costs of $6.7 million were previously recorded in the legal acquirer’s results and therefore are not reflected in the amounts discussed
above.
Earnout Shares
The Legacy Danimer shareholders are entitled to receive up to an additional 6,000,000 shares of our common stock (“Earnout Shares”) if the volume-weighted average
price (“VWAP”) of our shares equals or exceeds the following prices for any 20 trading days within any 30 trading-day period (“Trading Period”) beginning on June 29,
2021:
Final Trading Period End Date
December 31, 2023
December 31, 2025
December 31, 2025

Number of Shares

VWAP Target
2,500,000
2,500,000
1,000,000

$
$
$

15.00
20.00
25.00

On December 29, 2020, the fair value of the 6,000,000 Earnout Shares was $140.9 million. We reflected the Earnout Shares at December 31, 2020 as a stock dividend by
reducing additional paid-in capital, which was offset by the increase in additional paid-in capital associated with the Business Combination.
On September 15, 2021, the first VWAP target was achieved and we issued 2,499,993 Earnout Shares.
Novomer
On August 11, 2021, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Novomer, a privately held company, in exchange for $153.9 million in cash, gross of cash acquired, subject
to certain customary adjustments as set forth in the merger agreement. We also entered into employment or consulting agreements with, and granted stock options to, certain
key employees and consultants of Novomer. We have also recorded contingent purchase price payable that will be payable to the sellers upon our collection of an income tax
refund receivable.
Novomer uses its proprietary thermal catalytic conversion process to produce a unique type of PHA, referred to under its brand name as Rinnovo, that can be incorporated into
some of our products as a complement to our existing PHA polymer at reduced cost. We have included Novomer's results in our consolidated financial statements since
August
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11, 2021 through December 31, 2021, which contributed net losses of $4.4 million. In 2020, the stand-alone Novomer entity recorded net losses of $9.1 million.
The table below sets forth the preliminary fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed including the adjustments recorded, primarily due to changes in preliminary
third-party valuation work:
(in thousands)
Cash and restricted cash
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets acquired
Right-of-use asset
Acquired technology
Goodwill
Deferred tax liability
Lease liability
Liabilities assumed
Contingent purchase price payable
Total preliminary purchase price

September 30,
2021
$

2,741
15,591
2,285
2,000
85,400
66,581
(16,159 )
(2,000 )
(2,019 )
(500 )
153,920

$

December 31,
2021

Adjustments
$

3,031
17
715
(1,000 )
(3,932 )
1,913
(759 )
15
-

$

$

2,741
18,622
2,302
2,715
84,400
62,649
(14,246 )
(2,759 )
(2,004 )
(500 )
153,920

$

We have recognized the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated acquisition date fair values, with the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair
values of the identifiable net assets acquired recorded as goodwill.
The accounting for the business combination is based on currently available information and is considered preliminary. The final accounting for the business combination may
differ materially from that presented above as future events may provide additional information about the realizability of other assets or the existence of other liabilities at the
acquisition date. In addition, income tax returns for 2021 have yet to be filed, and we are validating certain state income tax allocations, which could result in changes to
acquisition-date deferred tax liability.
The preliminary estimated goodwill is attributable to the strategic opportunities and synergies that we expect to arise from the acquisition and the value of its existing
workforce. The goodwill is not deductible for federal income tax purposes.
The following table discloses pro forma revenues and earnings for the combined Danimer-Novomer entity as if the acquisition of Novomer took place on January 1, 2020. The
pro forma revenue and losses from operations do not necessarily reflect what the combined entity's revenue and losses from operations would have been had the acquisition
taken place at that time, and this pro forma financial information may not be useful in predicting our future financial results. The actual results may differ significantly from
the pro forma amounts reflected herein due to a variety of factors. The following includes proforma adjustments to reflect amortization of acquired technology intangible
assets and to reflect $2.6 million of transaction costs in 2020 instead in 2021. We do not disclose proforma impact related to income taxes or earnings-per-share as we do not
believe those are useful to the reader.
Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) (unaudited)
Revenue
Loss from operations

2021
$

2020
58,783
(101,986 )

$

47,362
(28,751 )

Note 5. Inventories, net
Inventories, net consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Raw materials
Work in process

$

Finished goods and related items
Total inventories, net

$
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December 31,
2021
11,555
928
12,090
24,573

$

$

December 31,
2020
6,825
133
6,684
13,642

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, finished goods and related items included $5.6 million and $3.0 million, respectively, of finished neat PHA.
Note 6. Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Property, plant and equipment, net, consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Land and improvements
Leasehold improvements
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Motor vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Construction in progress

Estimated Useful Life (Years)
20
Shorter of useful life or lease term
15-40
5-20
7-10
7-10
3-10
N/A

December 31, 2021
92
27,845
2,156
97,923
912
420
3,368
212,647
345,363
(29,182 )
$
316,181
$

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property, plant and equipment, net

December 31, 2020
92
20,932
2,089
64,164
693
221
2,089
36,146
126,426
(19,631 )
$
106,795
$

We reported depreciation and amortization expense (which included amortization of intangible assets) as follows:
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total depreciation and amortization expense

2021
$

8,041
597
3,036
11,674

$

Years Ended December 31,
2020
$
3,646
308
655
$
4,609

2019
$

$

2,433
459
615
3,507

Construction in progress consists primarily of the conversion and build-out of our facility in Winchester, Kentucky and the early phases of construction of our new plant in
Bainbridge, Georgia. Property, plant and equipment includes gross capitalized interest of $5.7 million and $5.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. In
2021 and 2020, interest costs of $0.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively, were capitalized to property, plant and equipment.
Note 7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Intangible Assets
Our recognized intangible assets consist of patents and the unpatented technological know-how of Novomer. Our legacy patents were initially recorded at cost. The values of
Novomer's patents and unpatented know-how, collectively the “Novomer Technology”, are inseparable and represent their acquisition-date fair value, less subsequent
amortization.
We capitalize patent defense and application costs. Patent costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from 13 to 16 years. The
Novomer Technology is amortized over its estimated 20 year useful life. Our intangible portfolio has an estimated weighted average useful life of 19.8 years.
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Intangible assets, net, consisted of the following:
(in thousands)
Intangible assets, gross

$

Capitalized patent costs not yet subject to amortization
Intangible assets subject to amortization, gross
Accumulated amortization
Intangible assets subject to amortization, net
Total intangible assets, net

$

December 31,
2021
93,244
869
92,375
(8,585 )
83,790
84,659

$

December 31,
2020
8,297
469
7,828
(6,496 )
1,332
1,801

$

Amortization expense was $2.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively during 2021, 2020 and 2019 and are included in research and development costs.
We expect intangible assets currently subject to amortization will amortize over the coming years as follows:
(in thousands)
Years Ending December 31:
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

Amortization Expense
$
4,728
4,564
4,229
4,229
4,229
61,811
$
83,790

Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:
December 31,
2021

(in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year
Acquisition of Novomer
Balance at end of year

$
$

62,649
62,649

Note 8. Leases
In 2018, we purchased a fermentation facility in Winchester, Kentucky (the Kentucky Facility), including the equipment, machinery, and other personal property located at
such facility, for $23.0 million and entered into a sale and leaseback transaction with a large, diversified commercial property REIT pursuant to which we sold the Kentucky
Facility and certain of our facilities located in Bainbridge, Georgia to the REIT for $30.0 million and leased back the same properties under a net lease for an initial term of 20
years with renewal terms up to an additional 20 years at our option.
During the first year of the lease, the base annual rent was $2.4 million. The rent is subject to an adjustment of the lesser of (i) 2.0% or (ii) 1.25 times the change in the
Consumer Price Index on January 1, 2020, and annually on every January 1st thereafter during the lease term, including any extension terms. The renewal terms have not been
recognized as part of the right-of-use asset and lease liability since we have not determined that their exercise is reasonably certain. We used our estimated 2018 incremental
borrowing rate of 12.89% when determining the discount rate for the lease.
In May 2020, we amended this lease to include a $7.3 million leasehold improvement allowance that was used to fund improvements in the Kentucky Facility. We accounted
for these landlord payments as lease incentives and included these associated improvements in property, plant and equipment. The amendment also increased the annual base
rent to $3.1 million in the initial year of the amendment and continued the annual adjustment as discussed above. We evaluated the present value of the revised payments
using our estimated incremental borrowing rate of 11.5% as of
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the date of the amendment, which increased the lease liability by $7.1 million. As of December 31, 2021, the lease, as amended, had a remaining term of 17 years.
In August, 2021, as part of the Novomer business combination, we acquired their principal operating facility in Rochester, New York. We evaluated the present value of the
revised payments using our estimated incremental borrowing rate of 11.5%, and recorded a right-of use asset and lease liability of $2.7 million, respectively. Refer to Note 4
for additional information on the Novomer acquisition. As of December 31, 2021, the lease had a remaining term of approximately six years with an option for a five year
renewal term, which we assumed will be exercised for lease accounting purposes.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, our weighted average remaining lease term was approximately 16.5 years and 18 years, respectively.
The following table sets forth the allocation of our operating lease costs.
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total operating lease cost

2021
$
$

1,917
303
268
2,488

Years Ended December 31,
2020
$
1,402
1,683
535
$
3,620

2019
$
$

358
2,334
443
3,135

The following table reconciles the undiscounted future lease payments for operating leases to the operating lease liabilities at December 31, 2021.
(in thousands)
Undiscounted future operating lease cash flows for the periods ending December 31,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

Less interest
Present value of lease liability

$

3,543
3,545
3,548
3,550
3,553
40,403
58,142
(32,112 )
26,030

Note 9. New Market Tax Credit Transactions
We have entered into financing arrangements under the New Markets Tax Credit (“NMTC”) program with various unrelated third-party financial institutions (“Investors”)
during 2012, 2013 and 2019. The NMTC program was provided for in the Community Renewal Tax Relief Act of 2000 (“Act”) to induce capital investment in qualified lower
income communities. The Act permits taxpayers to claim credits against their federal income taxes for up to 39% of qualified investment in the equity of the community
development entities (“CDEs”). CDEs are privately managed investment institutions that are certified to make qualified low-income community investments.
These financing arrangements were structured with the Investors, their wholly owned investment funds (“Investment Funds”) and their wholly owned CDEs in connection with
our participation in qualified transactions under the NMTC program. In each of the financing arrangements, we loaned money (in the form of leverage loans) to the Investment
Funds and the Investors invested in the Investment Funds. Each Investment Fund then contributed the funds from our loan and the Investor’s investment to a CDE. Each CDE
then loaned the contributed funds to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Investors are entitled to substantially all of the benefits derived from the tax credits. The NMTC tax credits are subject to recapture for a compliance period of seven years.
During the compliance period, we are required to comply with various regulations and contractual provisions that apply to the NMTC arrangements. We have agreed to
indemnify the Investors for any losses or recaptures of the NMTCs until such time as our obligations to deliver tax benefits are relieved. We do not expect the maximum
potential amount of future payments under this indemnification
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to exceed the face amount of the related debt, net of leverage loans receivable, totaling $7.6 million at December 31, 2021. We believe that the likelihood of a required
payment under this indemnification is remote. We do not anticipate any credit recaptures will be required in connection with the financing arrangements, and there have been
no credit recaptures as of December 31, 2021. The arrangements also include a put/call feature which becomes enforceable at the end of the compliance periods whereby we
may be obligated or entitled to repurchase the Investor’s interests in each of the Investment Funds for a nominal amount or fair value. We believe the Investors will exercise
their put options at the end of the compliance periods for each of the transactions for nominal amounts. The value attributed to the puts/calls is nominal.
We have determined that each NMTC financing arrangement contains a variable interest entity (“VIE”). The ongoing activities of the Investment Funds consist of collecting
and remitting interest and fees and maintaining continued compliance with the NMTC program. The responsibility for performing these ongoing activities resides with the
Investors. The Investors were also integral during the initial designs of the Investment Funds and created the structures that allow the Investors to monetize the tax credits
available through the NMTC programs.
Based on these circumstances, we concluded that we were not the primary beneficiary of each VIE and therefore we do not consolidate the VIEs. We record the loans we
provided to the Investment Funds as leveraged loan receivables. We include the loans we received from the CDEs within long-term debt.
The below table summarizes our NMTC arrangements (dollars in thousands):
Transaction Date
7/23/2012
7/30/2013
4/25/2019
11/7/2019

$

Amount Borrowed
27,000
20,000
9,000
12,000

Interest Rate
1.33
1.31
1.96
1.06

%
%
%
%

Recapture Period
End
7/31/2019
10/2/2020
4/30/2026
11/30/2026

Loan Maturity Date
7/22/2042
9/30/2037
9/30/2048
11/7/2039

Date Extinguished
7/31/2019
10/2/2020
N/A
N/A

Certain funds related to these NMTC arrangement are restricted for specific use during the compliance periods and these funds are reflected as restricted cash.
As part of our NMTC transactions, we have made leverage loans as follows (dollars in thousands):
Transaction Date
7/23/2012
7/30/2013
4/25/2019
11/7/2019

Amount Lent
$

Interest Rate
20,478
14,334
6,262
7,146

1.00
1.00
2.00
1.08

%
%
%
%

Interest Rate Period
End
7/23/2019
9/3/2020
4/25/2026
11/7/2026

Loan Maturity Date
7/22/2042
9/30/2037
9/30/2048
11/7/2039

Date Extinguished
7/31/2019
10/2/2020
N/A
N/A

If NMTC compliance requirements are met, the balance of each outstanding leverage loan will be forgiven upon extinguishment of each debt instrument related to the
respective NMTC agreements. We expect these loans will be forgiven before any principal is due.
During 2020 and 2019, we recognized gains on extinguishment of certain NMTC arrangements of $5.3 million and $5.6 million, respectively.
Note 10. Accrued Liabilities
The components of accrued liabilities were as follows:
December 31,
2021

(in thousands)
Construction in progress expenditures
Compensation and related expenses
Accrued loss on supply contract
Legal settlement
Transaction costs and other legal fees
Other
Total accrued liabilities

$

$
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8,896
4,572
1,423
1,250
850
1,786
18,777

December 31,
2020
$

$

531
5,395
1,250
1,293
751
9,220

Note 11. Private Warrants
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, there were 3,914,525 and 6,000,000 outstanding Private Warrants to purchase shares of our common stock at an exercise price
of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustments, that had been privately placed prior to the Business Combination. The warrants have been exercisable since May 7, 2021. On
December 28, 2025, the Private Warrants will expire.
The Private Warrants meet the definition of a derivative instrument and are reported as liabilities at their fair values each period end, with changes in the fair value of the
Private Warrants recorded as a non-cash charge or gain. A rollforward of the private warrants liability is below.
(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2019
Initial valuation on December 29, 2020
Gain on remeasurement of private warrants
Balance at December 31, 2020
Gain on remeasurement of private warrants
Fair value of Private Warrants sold
Balance at December 31, 2021

$
$
$

(86,580 )
3,720
(82,860 )
27,767
45,515
(9,578 )

Note 12. Debt
The components of long-term debt were as follows:
(in thousands)
3.25% Convertible Senior Notes
New Market Tax Credit Transactions
Subordinated Term Loan
Vehicle and Equipment Notes
Mortgage Notes
2019 Term Loan
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
Asset-based Lending Arrangement
Total
Less: Total unamortized debt issuance costs
Less: Current maturities of long-term debt
Total long-term debt

$

$
$

December 31,
2021
240,000
21,000
10,205
407
242
271,854
(10,563 )
(357 )
260,934

December 31,
2020
$

$
$

21,000
10,171
329
266
27,000
1,776
60,542
(3,955 )
(25,201 )
31,386

3.25% Convertible Senior Notes
On December 21, 2021, we issued $240 million principal amount of our 3.250% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (“Notes”), subject to an indenture (“Indenture”).
The Notes are our senior, unsecured obligations and are (i) equal in right of payment with our existing and future senior, unsecured indebtedness; (ii) senior in right of
payment to our existing and future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes; (iii) effectively subordinated to our existing and future secured indebtedness, to
the extent of the value of the collateral securing that indebtedness; and (iv) structurally subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade
payables.
The Notes accrue interest at a rate of 3.250% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2022. The Notes
will mature on December 15, 2026. Before June 15, 2026, noteholders will have the right to convert their Notes only upon the occurrence of certain events. Starting on June
15, 2026, noteholders may convert their Notes at any time at their election until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity
date. We will settle conversions by paying or delivering, as applicable, cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares, at our election. The initial
conversion rate is 92.7085 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Notes, or approximately $10.79 per share of common stock. The conversion rate and
conversion price will be subject to customary adjustments upon the occurrence of certain events. In addition, if certain corporate events that constitute a “Make-Whole
Fundamental Change” (as
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defined in the Indenture) occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a specified period of time.
The Notes will be redeemable, in whole or in part (subject to certain limitations described below), at our option at any time, and from time to time, between December 19,
2024, and October 20, 2026, but only if certain liquidity conditions are satisfied and the last reported sale price per share of our common stock exceeds 130% of the
conversion price on (i) each of at least 20 trading days, whether or not consecutive, during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the trading day
immediately before the date we send the related redemption notice; and (ii) the trading day immediately before the date we send such notice. However, we may not redeem
less than all of the outstanding notes unless at least $100.0 million aggregate principal amount of notes are outstanding and not called for redemption as of the time we send
the related redemption notice. The redemption price will be a cash amount equal to the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
to, but excluding, the redemption date. In addition, calling any Note for redemption will constitute a Make-Whole Fundamental Change with respect to that Note, in which
case the conversion rate applicable to the conversion of that Note will be increased in certain circumstances.
Capped Calls
Also in December 2021, in connection with the Notes, we purchased capped calls (“Capped Calls”) with certain well-capitalized financial institutions for $35 million. The
Capped Calls were structured to partially offset the increase in the outstanding number of our common shares should we settle the Notes in shares, or to reduce the net cash
outlay required should we settle the Notes in cash. The Capped Calls are call options that permit us, at our option, to require the counterparties to deliver to us shares of our
common stock.
The number of shares to be delivered upon such exercise depends on the market value of our common stock at the time of exercise, subject to a cap initially equal to $16.92,
and an initial strike price of $10.79 per share. The cap and strike price are subject to adjustment in response to specified changes in our capitalization such as stock splits.
Considering these unadjusted figures and assuming a cash settlement of the principal amount of the Notes upon a conversion, if we settle the incremental value of the Notes
upon conversion with shares when the market price (as measured according to the terms of the Capped Call) of our common stock is between $10.79 and $16.92, we will be
able to call shares equal to the number of incremental shares issuable under the Notes. If such stock price is less than that, then the Capped Calls are “out of the money” and
we would not exercise them. To the extent such stock price is greater than $16.92, the Capped Calls would not supply enough shares to entirely offset the number of
incremental shares to be issued. We may net-settle the Capped Calls and receive cash instead of shares, we have not exercised any of the Capped Calls at December 31, 2021,
and the Capped Calls expire on April 12, 2027.
Asset-based Lending Arrangement
On April 29, 2021, we entered into a credit facility (“Credit Agreement”) with Truist Bank that includes a $20.0 million variable interest rate asset-based lending arrangement
and a $1.0 million capital expenditure line of credit with customary terms and conditions. The amount of the revolving commitment available for borrowing at any given time
is subject to a borrowing base formula that is based upon our qualifying accounts receivable and inventory. These arrangements mature on April 29, 2026.
Interest on any borrowings is payable monthly and is calculated, at our election, using either a base rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin of
1.50% for revolving loans and 1.75% for equipment loans, or a LIBOR market index rate (“LMIR”) (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus an applicable margin of 2.50%
for revolving loans and 2.75% for equipment loans. If we maintain a trailing twelve month consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of
1.1:1.0 or better and no event of default exists, then the applicable margins for base rate revolving loans and LMIR rate loans are 1.00% and 2.00%, respectively.
The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, with certain permitted exceptions, which, among other things:
•require us to deliver financial statements and other information and to provide notice of certain material events,
•contain certain restrictions on the conduct of our business, the management of cash, and the administration of accounts, inventory and equipment,
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•restrict our ability to own, hold and acquire assets; incur debt and liens; to make investments and payments; to effect fundamental corporate changes, to sell assets, and
to enter into certain other types of transactions or agreements.
After October 29, 2023, or sooner at our election in order to increase availability under the borrowing base formula, we are required to maintain a trailing twelve month
consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.1:1.0.
Also on April 29, 2021, we entered into a guaranty and security agreement with Truist Bank. Pursuant to this guaranty and security agreement, the Borrowers (as defined in
the Credit Agreement) granted a security interest in substantially all of their respective personal property to secure the obligations under the Credit Agreement and we and
Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. guaranteed, on an unsecured basis, all of the obligations under the Credit Agreement. We are in the process of including the Novomer personal
property to this security interest under the Credit Agreement.
On December 15, 2021, we entered into an amendment to the Credit Agreement, which provides that the availability block was increased from $4.0 million in the aggregate to
an initial amount of $11.8 million in the aggregate (which is subject to adjustment from time to time based on our EBITDA and certain fixed charges) and that the undrawn
$1.0 million capital expenditure line of credit was discontinued.
At December 31, 2021, we had no borrowings outstanding under the Asset-based Lending Arrangement and estimate that our total availability under this arrangement is $7.3
million.
2019 Term Loan
In March 2019, we entered into a credit agreement (“2019 Term Loan”) for a $30 million term loan maturing on October 13, 2023. Principal payments were due in quarterly
payments of $375,000 beginning April 1, 2019 with the outstanding principal balance due at maturity. The 2019 Term Loan was secured by all real and personal property of
certain of our subsidiaries. The 2019 Term Loan provided for financial covenants including a maximum capital expenditures limit, leverage ratio and fixed charge coverage
ratio, each of which became more restrictive over time.
In July 2020, we modified the 2019 Term Loan such that the applicable margin in the interest rate formula (formerly calculated as the greater of (a) 2.25% or (b) three month
LIBOR, plus 4.5%) changed from 4.5% to a five-level tiered amount ranging from 4.5% if the consolidated senior leverage ratio, as defined in the 2019 Term Loan, was less
than 1.5, to as high as 6.35% if the consolidated senior leverage ratio was greater than 2.25. When the amendment was executed, the applicable margin was 6.35%.
On January 29, 2021, we voluntarily paid off and terminated our 2019 Term Loan. All related liens and security interests in our assets and guarantees were terminated and
released. We settled the 2019 Term Loan for $27.7 million including the outstanding principal amount of $27.0 million, a prepayment fee of $0.5 million and $0.2 million in
accrued unpaid interest. We recognized a loss of $2.6 million upon extinguishment due to the prepayment and related fees and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance
costs.
Subordinated Term Loan
In March 2019, we, through a subsidiary, entered into a subordinated second credit agreement (“Subordinated Term Loan”) for $10 million in term loans. The term loans
mature on February 13, 2024 and require monthly interest only payments, with the outstanding principal balance due at maturity. The base interest rate is the “Prime Rate” as
quoted by the Wall Street Journal (adjusted each calendar quarter; 3.25% at December 31, 2020) plus 2.75%. We have the option to pay up to two percent (2%) in any interest
payable in any fiscal quarter by adding such interest payment to the principal balance of the related note (“PIK Interest”). During 2020, we used the PIK Interest option and an
additional $0.2 million was included in the principal balance at December 31, 2020. The Subordinated Term Loan provided for financial covenants including a maximum
capital expenditures limit, leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio and adjusted EBITDA covenants, certain of which became more restrictive over time.
On March 18, 2021, we amended the Subordinated Term Loan to, among other things, change the base rate from the prime rate to LIBOR, lower the applicable margin to 2%
from 2.75%, remove certain prepayment requirements, convert the financial covenants to “springing” financial covenants that do not apply as long as the subsidiary has at
least $10 million of unrestricted cash on deposit, increase the capital expenditure covenant, and restrict our ability to prepay the loan until after July 1, 2022. The applicable
LIBOR rate at December 31, 2021 was 0.1%.
On December 15, 2021, we amended the Subordinated Term Loan to, among other things, remove the restriction on our ability to voluntarily prepay up to $4.5 million prior
to July 1, 2022, and reduce the requirement to maintain at least $10 million of unrestricted cash mentioned above to $5 million in the event we prepay $4.5 million.
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The Subordinated Term Loan remains secured by all real and personal property of the borrowing subsidiary and its subsidiaries but is subordinated to all other existing
lenders. At December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with all financial covenants.
New Markets Tax Credit Transactions
We have entered into financing arrangements under the NMTC program as described in Note 9.
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
In April 2020, we received $1.8 million under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP Loan”). The PPP Loan had a two-year term and bore interest at a rate of 1.0% per
annum. Monthly principal and interest payments were deferred for six months after the date of disbursement. The promissory note issued in connection with the PPP Loan
contained events of default and other provisions customary for a loan of this type. On December 11, 2020, we submitted an application for forgiveness of the PPP Loan.
In connection with the Business Combination, we entered into an escrow agreement with the PPP Loan lender and on December 29, 2020 we deposited in escrow $1.8 million,
which represented the principal, accrued interest, and escrow fee to pay the loan in full. We classified the amounts in escrow as restricted cash at December 31, 2020.
During 2021, our PPP Loan was forgiven and we received the escrow balance, net of associated fees, of $1.8 million and recognized a gain of $1.8 million.
Vehicle and Equipment Notes
We have seventeen vehicle and equipment notes outstanding at December 31, 2021 primarily relating to motor vehicles and warehouse equipment. We make monthly
payments on these notes at interest rates ranging from 5.11% to 8.49%.
Mortgage Notes
We have two mortgage notes secured by residential property. These notes bear interest at 6.5% and 5.99% with maturity dates in March 2022 and October 2023.
Cash Maturities
As of December 31, 2021, the future cash maturities of long-term debt are as follows:
(in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

Amount
$

Total future maturities

$

357
108
10,275
42
240,043
21,029
271,854

Note 13. Equity
Common Stock
On December 30, 2020, our common stock and public warrants began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “DNMR” and “DNMR WS”, respectively.
Under our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, we are authorized and have available for issuance the following shares and classes of capital stock, each with a
par value of $0.0001 per share: (i) 200,000,000 shares of common stock and (ii) 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Immediately following the Business Combination, there
were 84,535,640 shares of common stock and 16,000,000 total warrants outstanding.
As discussed in Note 4, we have retroactively adjusted the shares issued and outstanding prior to December 29, 2020 using the 1.0 : 9.158 exchange ratio established in the
Merger Agreement.
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Certain 2020 borrowings were convertible into shares of Legacy Danimer. In connection with this indebtedness, 1,686,507 of our common stock were issued in 2020.
We had previously recorded various nonrecourse notes receivable totaling $28.8 million at December 29, 2020 and $27.7 million as of December 31, 2019, respectively.
These notes were issued to satisfy the exercise prices for the exercises of stock options by two of our officers. These notes were recorded as an offset to equity and bore
interest at between 1.18% and 2.72%. In accordance with ASC 718, the total common shares outstanding at December 31, 2019 excluded 671,124 shares of Legacy Danimer
that had been issued in connection with these stock option exercises. In connection with the Business Combination, these Legacy Danimer shares were converted to common
shares as described above and the two officers surrendered a total of 1,188,930 shares of our common stock to settle these nonrecourse notes.
In conjunction with the Business Combination, Live Oak obtained commitments from certain PIPE Investors to purchase shares of Live Oak Class A common stock, which
were automatically converted into 21,000,000 shares of Live Oak’s Class A common stock for a purchase price of $10.00 per share, which were automatically converted into
shares of our common stock on a one-for-one basis upon the closing of the Business Combination.
The following table summarizes the common stock activity for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:
Years Ended December 31,
2021
2020
Common stock:
Balance, beginning of period

84,535,640

25,371,186

Issuance of common stock
Balance, end of period

16,152,180
100,687,820

59,164,454
84,535,640

Capped Call Options
On December 16, 2021, in connection with the Notes, we entered into Capped Calls for $35 million, which was recorded as a reduction of additional paid-in capital. For more
details, see Note 12.
Public Warrants
At December 31, 2020, there were 10,000,000 outstanding Public Warrants to purchase shares of our common stock. Each warrant entitled the holder to purchase one share of
our common stock at a price of $11.50. The warrants were exercisable at any time after May 7, 2021. After the Public Warrants became exercisable, we were able to redeem
the outstanding warrants at a price of $0.01 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption, if a specified price target of our common stock was
met. This target was met and we announced our intent to redeem the Public Warrants on June 16, 2021. Warrant holders exercised 12,033,169 Public Warrants, including
some Public Warrants that had initially been Private Warrants, and we redeemed the remaining 50,965 Public Warrants. Net of fees, we collected $138.2 million in connection
with these exercises and redemptions.
These warrants qualified for equity classification and we included them in additional paid-in capital at December 31, 2020.
Non-Plan Legacy Danimer Options and Warrants
Prior to 2017, Legacy Danimer had issued 208,183 stock options that were not a part of either the 2016 Executive Plan nor the 2016 Omnibus Plan. These options had a
weighted average exercise price of $30 per share. On December 29, 2020, the then-remaining 30,493 of these options were converted to options to purchase 279,253 shares of
our common stock with a weighted average exercise price of $3.28 per share. During 2021, 153,763 of these options were exercised.
As of December 29, 2020, Legacy Danimer had 55,319 warrants outstanding with an exercise price of $30 per share. In connection with the Business Combination, these
warrants were converted to options to purchase 506,611 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $3.28 per share. These options were exercised during 2021 on a
cashless basis by issuing 435,961 shares of common stock.
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Anti-dilutive Instruments
The following instruments were excluded from the calculation of diluted shares outstanding because the effect of including them would have been anti-dilutive.
2021
22,250,040
10,589,010
3,914,525
2,529,732
125,489
39,408,796

Convertible debt
Employee stock options
Public Warrants
Private Warrants
Restricted shares
Legacy Danimer options
Legacy Danimer warrants
Total excluded instruments

Years Ended December 31,

2020
11,008,993
10,000,000
6,000,000
279,252
506,611
27,794,856

2019
1,261,862
4,344,326
279,252
1,206,574
7,092,014

Dividends
We have not paid any cash dividends on the common stock to date. We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations, expansion or debt repayment, and we have no
plans to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend
on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions, and other factors that the Board may deem relevant. In
addition, our ability to pay dividends are limited by covenants of our existing indebtedness and may be further restricted by an additional indebtedness we may incur.
Note 14. Revenue
We evaluate financial performance and make resource allocation decisions based upon the results of our single operating and reportable segment; however, we believe
presenting revenue split between our primary revenue streams of products and services best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and certainty of our net sales and cash
flows are affected by economic factors.
We generally produce and sell finished products, for which we recognize revenue upon shipment. Due to the highly specialized nature of our products, returns are infrequent,
and therefore we do not estimate amounts for sales returns and allowances. There are no forms of variable consideration such as discounts, rebates, or volume discounts that
we estimate to reduce our transaction price. During 2021, three customers each requested that we bill them for product they would not be able to pick up prior to December
31, 2021. We recognized $1.0 million in revenue for such “bill and hold” sales.
We defer certain contract fulfillment costs. These costs are amortized to cost of revenue on a per-pound basis as we sell the related product. During 2021 and 2020, we charged
$0.8 million and $0.2 million, respectively, of fulfillment costs to cost of revenue. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 we had recorded gross contract assets of
$2.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively, related to these fulfillment costs.
Our R&D services contract customers generally pay us at the commencement of the agreement and then at additional intervals as outlined in each contract. We recognize
contract liabilities for such payments and then recognize revenue as we satisfy the related performance obligations. To the extent collectible revenue recognized under this
method exceeds the consideration received, we recognize contract assets for such unbilled consideration.
The following table shows the significant changes in the R&D contract asset and contract liability balances.

(in thousands)
Beginning balance
Revenue recognized
Unearned consideration received
Ending balance

$
$

December 31,
2021
Contract Assets
Contract Liabilities
$
(2,115 )
2,128
4,157
(2,256 )
2,128
$
(214 )
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December 31, 2020
Contract Liabilities
$
(4,240 )
4,712
(2,587 )
$
(2,115 )

Concentration of Risk
We have a relatively low number of customers. At December 31, 2021, and 2020, our top five customers collectively represented approximately 73% and 80% of total
accounts receivable, respectively.
In 2021, we had two customers that each individually accounted for more than 10% of total revenue and that collectively represented 35% of total revenue. In 2020, three
such customers represented 58% of total revenue. In 2019, four such customers represented 65% of total revenue.
Disaggregated Revenues
Revenue by geographic areas is based on the location of the customer. The following is a summary of revenue information by major geographic area:
(in thousands)
Domestic
Germany
Belgium
Switzerland
All other countries
Total revenues

2021
$

43,264
6,618
5,119
2,605
1,143

$

58,749

Years Ended December 31,
2020
$
24,964
12,157
4,916
4,423
873
$

47,333

2019
$

16,987
6,696
4,152
4,000
509

$

32,344

Note 15. Stock-based Compensation
We grant various forms of stock-based compensation, including restricted stock units, stock options and performance-based restricted stock units under our Danimer
Scientific, Inc. 2020 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (“2020 Incentive Plan”) and employee stock purchase plan instruments under our 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(“2020 ESPP”).
The following table sets forth the allocation of our stock-based compensation expense.
(in thousands)
Cost of revenue
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total stock-based compensation

2021
$
$

109
48,782
7,017
55,908

Years Ended December 31,
2020
$
126
3,313
206
$
3,645

2019
$
$

76
5,036
159
5,271

Legacy Danimer Stock Incentive Plans
Prior to the Business Combination, the Board of Directors of Legacy Danimer approved the 2016 Director and Executive Officer Stock Incentive Plan (“2016 Executive
Plan”) and the 2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (“2016 Omnibus Plan”). The 2016 Executive Plan provided for the granting of stock options to directors and executive
officers of Legacy Danimer. The 2016 Omnibus Plan provided for the grant of stock options to employees and consultants. In addition, Legacy Danimer had issued stock
options and warrants (“Non-Plan Legacy Danimer Options and Warrants”) that were not subject to the above option plans.
As a result of the Business Combination, our stockholders approved the 2020 Incentive Plan. In accordance with the Merger Agreement, the Board also approved assuming all
outstanding equity-based awards granted under the 2016 Executive Plan and 2016 Omnibus Plan and converting those awards into equity-based awards in our common stock
effective upon the consummation of the Business Combination, based on exchange ratios established in the Merger Agreement, and with the same general terms and conditions
corresponding to the original awards.
We rolled forward all outstanding options granted under the 2016 Executive Plan and 2016 Omnibus Plan into the same type of equity-based awards under the 2020 Incentive
Plan effective upon the consummation of the Business Combination. The awards under the 2016 Executive Plan and 2016 Omnibus Plan have been retroactively restated as
awards reflecting the exchange ratio established in the Merger Agreement.
Our Board approved, as of August 11, 2021, the assumption of the remaining authorized but unissued 289,951 shares (as adjusted by the merger consideration exchange ratio
in connection with the acquisition of Novomer) under the
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Novomer legacy stock incentive plan into our 2020 Incentive Plan. On January 16, 2022, our Board approved the assumption of the remaining authorized but unissued
2,895,411 shares under the 2016 Executive Plan and the 2016 Omnibus Plan (as adjusted by the merger consideration exchange ratio in connection with the Business
Combination) into our 2020 Incentive Plan.
2020 Equity Incentive Plans
The 2020 Incentive Plan provides for the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, and full value awards. Full value awards include restricted stock, restricted stock
units, deferred stock units, performance stock and performance stock units. At December 31, 2021, 213,997 shares of our common stock remained available to be issued with
respect to awards under the 2020 Incentive Plan. This limit is subject to adjustment in the event of a stock split, stock dividend or other change in our capitalization.
Under the 2020 ESPP, there are 2,566,724 authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of common stock reserved for issuance. During 2021 we began offering 2020 ESPP
participation to our employees and issued 5,013 shares under the 2020 ESPP.
Restricted Shares
On March 10, 2021, we registered the shares under the 2020 Incentive Plan and the 2020 ESPP Plan. On this date, a grant of 1,517,836 shares was effective. The restrictions
on these shares lapse on successive thirds of the award on December 29, 2021, 2022 and 2023, respectively, and 505,944 shares vested during 2021. We are recognizing the
compensation expense for these shares on a straight-line basis from the grant date through December 29, 2023. We recognized $18.8 million of expense during 2021 and
1,011,892 shares remained outstanding at December 31, 2021.
Also on March 10, 2021, we granted 1,517,840 restricted shares for which the restrictions lapse on successive thirds of the award on the first date the volume-weighted
average price per share of our common stock equals or exceeds $24.20 for any 20 trading dates within 30-day trading periods beginning on December 29, 2021, 2022, and
2023, respectively. We are recognizing the compensation expense for these shares on a straight-line basis from the grant date through January 2024. We recognized $18.7
million of expense during 2021 and all of these shares remained outstanding at December 31, 2021.
Performance Shares
On July 23, 2021, we awarded 95,943 shares of restricted stock with performance conditions. These shares are unvested until attainment of performance targets defined in the
grant agreement as follows:
•30% of the shares are subject to a return on equity "ROE" metric based on 2023 financial results, with 50% to 100% of these shares vesting proportionately to achieved
ROE of 5% to 9%.
•30% of the shares are subject to an EBITDA Metric based on 2023 financial results, with 50% to 100% of these shares vesting proportionately to achieved EBITDA of
$45 million to $65 million.
•40% of the shares are subject to a Neat PHA production capacity metric based on a third party assessment at December 31, 2023, with 50% to 100% of the shares
vesting proportionately to achieved capacity of 75 million pounds to 90 million pounds.
In addition to these performance conditions, vesting of the shares is also subject to a shareholder approval to sufficiently increase the size of the 2020 Incentive Plan, which
currently does not have enough shares remaining to fulfill this award. In the event such an approval does not take place, the performance shares must be settled in cash as
calculated using the price of our common stock on the vesting date. Due to this cash settlement feature, the performance shares are accounted for as a liability. During 2021,
we recognized expense of $0.1 million, included in selling, general and administrative expenses, and recorded a long-term liability of $0.1 million. The performance shares
are marked to market using the price of our common stock on each reporting date with a life-to-date adjustment. Other than this mark to market effect, expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis between the date of grant and the vesting date, which we anticipate will be in February 2024. All of these performance shares remained outstanding at
December 31, 2021.
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Stock Options
A summary of stock option activity under our equity plans follows:

Balance, December 31, 2019
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Balance, December 31, 2021
Exercisable
Vested and expected to vest

Number of Options
11,141,491
6,089,669
(6,209,331 )
(13,296 )
11,008,533
335,896
(723,369 )
(32,050 )
10,589,010
4,463,758
10,589,010

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$
4.00
22.46
4.48
3.28
13.94
19.32
3.31
$
$
$



Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term
(Years)
6.91

14.85
4.79
14.85

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value
$
28,500,630
121,333,865

8.38

105,341,482
23,188,428

7.39
5.23
7.39

$
$
$

22,473,835
21,436,151
22,473,835

The aggregate intrinsic values are calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the indicated stock options and the fair value of our common stock on the
respective exercise dates or on December 31, as applicable.
The weighted average grant-date fair values of options granted during 2021, 2020 and 2019, were $8.40, $8.91 and $2.13, respectively.
In addition to the stock options granted under our equity plans, during the quarter ended December 31, 2020, we awarded 1,466,874 stock options that were contingent upon
shareholder approval of an increase in the number of shares issuable under the 2020 Incentive Plan, which had not occurred. As a result, these awards were not reflected in
our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. During 2021, our Board modified these stock options to add a cash-settlement feature if
shareholder approval is not obtained by the vesting dates. These modifications established grant dates for accounting purposes. Also during 2021, we granted 244,073 options
that vest ratably on the three successive anniversaries of the grant date with the same cash-settlement feature. During 2021, we recognized expense of $0.5 million and
recorded a long-term liability of $0.5 million related to these stock options.
As of December 31, 2021, there was $113.7 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options and restricted shares granted under the 2020
Incentive Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years.
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Note 16. Income Taxes
As a result of the Novomer acquisition, as discussed in Note 4, we believe we will be able to recognize some of our previously existing deferred tax assets and as a result, we
have recorded a discrete income tax benefit of $13.2 million.
The significant components of our income tax expense (benefit) were as follows:
(in thousands)
Current tax expense (benefit)
Federal
State
Total current expense (benefit)
Deferred tax expense (benefit)
Federal
Federal valuation allowance
State
State valuation allowance
Total deferred expense (benefit)
Total income tax expense (benefit)

Years Ended December 31,
2020

2021
$

(14,601 )
3,139
(1,649 )
(122 )
(13,233 )
(13,233 )

$

$

$

(2,134 )
2,134
(463 )
463
-

2019
$

(52 )

-

(52 )
3,218
919
4,137
4,085

$

A reconciliation of our actual income tax provision to one computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to the income before the provision for income taxes
follows:
(in thousands)
Federal income tax benefit at statutory federal rate
Permanent difference associated with gain on remeasurement of private
warrants
State income tax benefit, net of federal taxes
Transaction costs associated with business combinations
Revisions to prior years’ estimates

2021
$

(5,831 )
(1,307 )
475
(1,744 )

Stock-based compensation
Other permanent differences
Other
Officers' salary 162(m) limitation
Permanent difference associated with PPP loan forgiveness
Change in state rates
Valuation allowance
Total income tax expense (benefit)

(15,401 )

Years Ended December 31,
2020
$
(1,859 )

$

474
11
7,291
(373 )
155
3,017
(13,233
)

(781 )
(573 )
(220 )

$

-

(3,211 )
(725 )
(1,003 )

662
157
17
2,597

Deferred income tax amounts result from temporary differences between financial statements and income tax reporting.
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2019
$

18
3
9,003
$

4,085

Components of our net deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Deferred income tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards
Lease liability
Stock-based compensation
Inventory reserve
Contribution carryforwards
Legal settlement accrual
Deferred revenue
Allowance for doubtful accounts

2021
$

Tax credits
Interest expense limitation
Other
Total deferred income tax assets
Valuation allowance
Total deferred income tax assets, net of valuation allowance
Deferred income tax liabilities
Right-of-use assets
Depreciation and amortization
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax liabilities

2020
39,408
5,953
3,652
577
34
286
49

$

$

16,614
6,921
1,061
89
637
625

120
992
65
325
51,461
(25,179 )
26,282

33
143
26,123
(19,050 )
7,073

(4,400 )
(22,896 )
(27,296 )
(1,014 )

(4,938 )
(2,135 )
(7,073 )
-

$

In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods at which time those temporary
differences become deductible.
In making valuation allowance determinations, we consider all available evidence, positive and negative, affecting specific deferred tax assets, including the scheduled
reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, the length of carry-back and carry-forward periods, statutory limitations on utilization of net
operating losses, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. The following details the activity in the valuation allowance for 2021 and 2020:
(in thousands)
2020
2021

Beginning Balance
$
16,453
$
19,050

Business
Combinations
$
$

3,112

Additions
$
$

Amounts Utilized
2,597
3,017

$
$

-

$
$

Ending Balance
19,050
25,179

Certain of our deferred tax assets relate to federal and state net operating losses and credits. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had federal net operating loss
carryforwards of $156 million and $65 million, respectively, available and no capital loss carryforwards available to offset future taxable income. We had state net operating
loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 of $173 million and $65 million, respectively. A significant portion of our net operating loss carryforwards were
generated prior to 2018 and are subject to statutory limitations on annual utilization and will expire at various times during the tax years from 2028 through 2036, while net
operating loss carryforwards generated 2018 and after will have an indefinite life carryforward.
We did not have any material uncertain tax positions or related interest or penalties in 2021, 2020 or 2019.
We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax liabilities as a component of income tax expense, if any. We recognized no material interest and penalties
during 2021, 2020 and 2019, and we had no accrued interest or penalties as of December 31, 2021 or 2020.
We file U.S. federal income tax returns and state income tax returns for California, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Kentucky, Massachusetts, New York, Texas and Wisconsin. We
are no longer subject to examinations by major tax jurisdictions for 2016 and prior.
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During 2020, the CARES Act and the CAA were enacted. Among other provisions, the CARES Act and the CAA provide relief to U.S. federal corporate taxpayers through
temporary adjustments to net operating loss rules, changes to limitations on interest expense deductibility, and the acceleration of available refunds for minimum tax credit
carryforwards. We evaluated the impact of the CARES Act as part of ASC 740 consideration and did not expect the provisions of the CARES Act would result in a material
impact to the consolidated financial statements. We continue to monitor the impact the CARES Act may have on our business.
Note 17. Retirement Plans
We maintain a defined contribution retirement plan (“Plan”) for the benefit of employees who meet certain age and employment criteria. Contributions to the Plan include
both a match of 100% of employee contributions up to 4% of each eligible employee’s compensation and, from time to time, a discretionary amount. Our matching expense
was $0.5 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million for 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively; there were no discretionary contributions during these years.
Note 18. Supplemental Cash Flows
Supplemental cash flow information is presented below.

(in thousands)
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for interest, net of interest capitalized
Cash paid for operating leases
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental non-cash disclosure
Changes in accounts payable and accrued liabilities related to purchase of
property, plant and equipment
Forgiveness of NMTC leverage loan receivable
Forgiveness of debt
Conversion of convertible debt to common stock
Transaction costs in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accounts payable settled directly by landlord
Net assets acquired from Live Oak in Business Combination
Private warrants liability assumed from Live Oak in Business Combination

Years Ended
December 31,
2020

2021
$

512
3,346
-

$

16,103
1,776
-

1,450
2,950
24

2019
$

1,964
2,875
-

533
14,334
20,000
11,723
1,288
1,082
524
86,580

6,318
20,478
26,069
-

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash.
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

2021
$

286,487
481

$

$

286,968

$

December 31,
2020
377,581
2,316
379,897

2019
$

6,261
3,017

$

9,278

Note 19. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
In connection with our 2007 acquisition of certain intellectual property, we agreed to pay royalties upon production and sale of PHA. The royalty is $0.05 per pound for the
first 500 million pounds of PHA sold and decreases to $0.025 per pound for cumulative sales in excess of that amount until the underlying patents expire. We incurred
approximately $0.3 million in royalty expense during 2021.
In November 2015, we terminated a former executive and terminated our contract with an advisory firm (“Advisory Contract”), pursuant to which we, through the advisory
firm, engaged the individual as an executive of the Company. In December 2015, we deemed the Advisory Contract, together with all related arrangements in connection
therewith,
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void, including any share issuances in connection with such arrangements. We filed suit against the former executive and the advisory firm during 2016, and various
counterclaims were filed by the former executive and the advisory firm. During the third quarter of 2020, this matter was settled, we agreed to pay $8 million to resolve all
outstanding claims, the executive agreed to the cancellation of any shares issued to him pursuant to the Advisory Contract and related arrangements, and the parties exchanged
of mutual releases. The remaining unpaid liability is included in accrued liabilities ($1.25 million and $1.25 million) and other long-term liabilities (zero and $1.25 million) at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Litigation Matters
On May 14, 2021 a class action complaint was filed by Darryl Keith Rosencrants in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, on May 18, 2021, a
class action complaint was filed by Carlos Caballeros in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Georgia, on May 18, 2021 a class action complaint was filed
by Dennis H. Wilkins also in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Georgia, and on May 19, 2021, a class action complaint was filed by Elizabeth and
John Skistimas in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York. Each plaintiff or plaintiffs brought the action individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated against the Company.
The alleged class varies in each case but covers all persons and entities other than Defendants who purchased or otherwise acquired our securities between October 5, 2020
and May 4, 2021 (“Class Period”). Plaintiffs are seeking to recover damages caused by Defendants’ alleged violations of the federal securities laws and to pursue remedies
under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“1934 Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The complaints are substantially similar and are
each premised upon various allegations that throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false and misleading statements regarding, among other things, our
business, operations and compliance policies.
Plaintiffs seek the following remedies: (i) determining that the lawsuits may be maintained as class actions under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, (ii)
certifying a class representative, (iii) requiring Defendants to pay damages allegedly sustained by plaintiffs and the class members by reason of the acts alleged in the
complaints, and (iv) awarding pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as well as reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert fees and other costs.
On July 29, 2021, the Georgia court transferred the Georgia cases to New York, and all four class actions have been consolidated into a single lawsuit in the Eastern District
of New York.
On January 19, 2022, a Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint (“Amended Complaint”) was filed in the Eastern District of New York, naming as defendants the
Company, its directors and certain of its officers as well as certain former directors (collectively, “Defendants”). The Amended Complaint is brought on behalf of a class
consisting of (i) purchasers of shares of the Company during the period October 5, 2020 to May 4, 2021, (ii) all holders of the Company’s Class A common stock entitled to
vote on the merger transaction between the Company and Meredian Holdings Group, Inc. consummated on December 28, 2020 and (iii) purchasers of Company securities
pursuant to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 that was declared effective on December 16, 2020 or the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 that
was declared effective on February 16, 2021. The Amended Complaint asserts claims for violations of Sections 10(b), 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and Rules 10(b)-5(a)-(c) promulgated thereunder and Sections 11, 12 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. Plaintiffs seek the following remedies: (a) a determination that the
lawsuit is a proper class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and certifying Plaintiffs as class representative, (b) awarding compensatory and
punitive damages allegedly sustained by the class members by reason of the acts set forth in the Amended Complaint and (c) awarding pre-judgment and post-judgment
interest and costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees and other costs. Defendants intend to file a motion to dismiss.
On May 24, 2021, a shareholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware by Richard Delman on behalf of the Company, alleging breach
of fiduciary duty against the Company’s directors. On October 6, 2021, a shareholders derivative lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Delaware by Ryan Perri on behalf of the Company, alleging breach of fiduciary duty against the Company’s directors. Both derivative lawsuits have been stayed pending the
outcome of Defendants’ intended motion to dismiss the securities class actions. These derivative complaints repeat certain allegations which are already in the public domain.
Defendants deny the allegations of the above complaints, believe the lawsuits are without merit and intend to defend them vigorously.
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Since we are unable to estimate the likelihood of incurring a loss, or the amount of loss, if any, related to these matters, we have not accrued any losses for these matters at
December 31, 2021.
On May 5, 2021, we received a letter from the Atlanta regional office of the SEC, in connection with a non-public, fact-finding inquiry, requesting that we voluntarily produce
certain specified information. On July 14, 2021, we timely and voluntarily produced the information requested by the SEC. On January 26, 2022, we received a follow-up
request from the SEC for additional documents and information. We intend to fully comply with this and any subsequent requests we may receive.
In the ordinary course of business, we may be a party to various other legal proceedings from time to time.
Note 20. Subsequent Events
On January 16, 2022, our Board of Directors approved the assumption of the remaining authorized but unissued 2,895,411 shares under Danimer's two legacy stock incentive
plans into our 2020 Incentive Plan.
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[_________]
To:

Danimer Scientific, Inc.
140 Industrial Boulevard,
Bainbridge, GA, 39817
Attention: [_______]
Email: [__________]
Phone: [__________]

From:

[__________]

Re:

[Base][Additional] Capped Call Transaction

Ref. No:

[__________]

Date:

[__________], 2021

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen:
The purpose of this communication (this “Confirmation”) is to set forth the terms and conditions of the above-referenced transaction entered into on the Trade Date
specified below (the “Transaction”) between [___________] (“Dealer”) and Danimer Scientific, Inc. (“Counterparty”). This communication constitutes a “Confirmation” as
referred to in the ISDA Master Agreement specified below.
1.This Confirmation is subject to, and incorporates, the definitions and provisions of the 2006 ISDA Definitions (the “2006 Definitions”) and the definitions and
provisions of the 2002 ISDA Equity Derivatives Definitions (the “Equity Definitions”, and together with the 2006 Definitions, the “Definitions”), in each case, as published by
the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”). In the event of any inconsistency between the 2006 Definitions and the Equity Definitions, the Equity
Definitions will govern and in the event of any inconsistency between terms defined in the Equity Definitions and this Confirmation, this Confirmation shall govern.
This Confirmation evidences a complete and binding agreement between Dealer and Counterparty as to the terms of the Transaction to which this Confirmation
relates. This Confirmation shall be subject to an agreement (the “Agreement”) in the form of the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement as if Dealer and Counterparty had executed an
agreement in such form on the Trade Date (but without any Schedule except for (i) the election of the laws of the State of New York as the governing law (without reference to
choice of law doctrine), [(ii) the election of an executed guarantee of [__________] (“Guarantor”) dated as of the Trade Date in substantially the form attached hereto as
Schedule 1 as a Credit Support Document, (iii) the election of Guarantor as Credit Support Provider in relation to Dealer and (iv)] [and (ii)] the election that the “Cross Default”
provisions of Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement shall apply to Dealer, (a) with a Threshold Amount” of 3% of the shareholders’ equity of [Dealer][Dealer’s ultimate parent
(“Dealer Parent”)] on the Trade Date, (b) “Specified Indebtedness” having the meaning set forth in Section 14 of the Agreement, except that it shall not include any obligation
in respect of deposits received in the ordinary course of Dealer’s banking business, (c) the phrase “, or becoming capable at such time of being declared,” shall be deleted from
clause (1) of such Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement, and (d) the following sentence shall be added to the end of Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement: “Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a default under subsection (2) hereof shall not constitute an Event of Default if (i) the default was caused solely by error or omission of an administrative or
operational nature; (ii) funds were available to enable the relevant party to make payment when due; and (iii) the payment is made within three Local Business Days of such
party’s receipt of written notice of its failure to pay.”). All provisions contained in, or incorporated by reference to, the Agreement will govern this Confirmation except as
expressly modified herein. In the event of any inconsistency between this Confirmation and either the Definitions or the Agreement, this Confirmation shall govern.
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The Transaction hereunder shall be the sole Transaction under the Agreement. If there exists any ISDA Master Agreement between Dealer and Counterparty or any
confirmation or other agreement between Dealer and Counterparty pursuant to which an ISDA Master Agreement is deemed to exist between Dealer and Counterparty, then
notwithstanding anything to the contrary in such ISDA Master Agreement, such confirmation or agreement or any other agreement to which Dealer and Counterparty are
parties, the Transaction shall not be considered a Transaction under, or otherwise governed by, such existing or deemed ISDA Master Agreement.
2.The Transaction constitutes a Share Option Transaction for purposes of the Equity Definitions. The terms of the particular Transaction to which this Confirmation
relates are as follows:
General Terms:
Trade Date:

December [__], 2021

Effective Date:

December [__], 2021, or such other date as agreed by the parties in writing.

Components:

The Transaction will be divided into individual Components, each with the terms set forth in this
Confirmation, and, in particular, with the Number of Options and Expiration Date set forth in Annex A to
this Confirmation. The exercise, valuation and settlement of the Transaction will be effected separately for
each Component as if each Component were a separate Transaction under the Agreement.

Option Style:

“European”, as described under “Procedures for Exercise” below.

Option Type:

Call

Seller:

Dealer

Buyer:

Counterparty

Shares:

The Class A common stock of Counterparty, par value USD 0.0001 per share (Ticker Symbol: “DNMR”).

Number of Options:

For each Component, as provided in Annex A to this Confirmation.

Option Entitlement:

One Share per Option

Strike Price:

USD [_____]

Cap Price:

USD [_____]; provided that in no event shall the Cap Price be reduced to an amount less than the Strike
Price in connection with any adjustment by the Calculation Agent under this Confirmation.

Number of Shares:

As of any date, a number of Shares equal to the product of (i) the Number of Options and (ii) the Option
Entitlement.
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Premium:

USD [_____]; Dealer and Counterparty hereby agree that notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein
or in the Agreement, following the payment of the Premium, in the event that (a) an Early Termination
Date (whether as a result of an Event of Default or a Termination Event) (other than an Event of Default
arising under Section 5(a)(ii) or 5(a)(iv) of the Agreement that is within Counterparty’s control) occurs or
is designated with respect to any Transaction and, as a result, Counterparty owes to Dealer the amount
calculated under Section 6(d) and Section 6(e) or otherwise under the Agreement (calculated as if the
Transactions terminated on such Early Termination Date were the sole Transactions under the Agreement)
or (b) Counterparty owes to Dealer, pursuant to Sections 12.2, 12.3, 12.6, 12.7, 12.8 or 12.9 of the Equity
Definitions or otherwise under the Equity Definitions, an amount calculated under Section 12.8 of the
Equity Definitions, such amount shall be deemed to be zero.

Premium Payment Date:

The Effective Date

Exchange:

New York Stock Exchange

Related Exchange:

All Exchanges; provided that Section 1.26 of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add the words
“United States” before the word “exchange” in the tenth line of such Section.

Procedures for Exercise:
Expiration Time:

The Valuation Time
3
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Expiration Date:

For any Component, as provided in Annex A to this Confirmation (or, if such date is not a Scheduled Valid
Day, the next following Scheduled Valid Day that is not already an Expiration Date for another
Component); provided that if that date is a Disrupted Day, the Expiration Date for such Component shall
be the first succeeding Scheduled Valid Day that is not a Disrupted Day and is not or is not deemed to be
an Expiration Date in respect of any other Component of the Transaction hereunder; and provided
further that in no event shall the Expiration Date be postponed to a date later than the Final Termination
Date and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Confirmation or the Equity Definitions, the
Relevant Price for such Expiration Date that occurs on the Final Termination Date and is a Disrupted Day
shall be the prevailing market value per Share determined by the Calculation Agent in a good faith and
commercially reasonable manner. Notwithstanding the foregoing and anything to the contrary in the Equity
Definitions, if a Market Disruption Event occurs on any Expiration Date, the Calculation Agent may
determine in a good faith and commercially reasonable manner that such Expiration Date is a Disrupted
Day only in part, in which case the Calculation Agent shall make commercially reasonable adjustments to
the Number of Options for the relevant Component for which such day shall be the Expiration Date, shall
designate the Scheduled Valid Day determined in the manner described in the immediately preceding
sentence as the Expiration Date for the remaining Options for such Component and may determine the
Relevant Price in a commercially reasonable manner based on transactions in the Shares on such Disrupted
Day taking into account the nature and duration of such Market Disruption Event on such day. [Any
Scheduled Valid Day on which, as of the date hereof, the Exchange is scheduled to close prior to its normal
close of trading shall be deemed not to be a Scheduled Valid Day; if a closure of the Exchange prior to its
normal close of trading on any Scheduled Valid Day is scheduled following the date hereof, then such
Scheduled Valid Day shall be deemed to be a Disrupted Day in full.] Section 6.6 of the Equity Definitions
shall not apply to any Valuation Date occurring on an Expiration Date.

Final Termination Date:

[__________]

Automatic Exercise:

Applicable, which means that the Number of Options for the relevant Component will be deemed to be
automatically exercised at the Expiration Time on the Expiration Date for such Component if at such time
such Component is In-the-Money, unless Buyer notifies Seller (in writing) prior to the Expiration Time on
such Expiration Date that it does not wish Automatic Exercise to occur with respect to such Component, in
which case Automatic Exercise will not apply with respect to such Component. “In-the-Money” means,
in respect of any Component, that the Relevant Price on the Expiration Date for such Component is greater
than the Strike Price for such Component.

Valuation Time:

At the close of trading of the regular trading session on the Exchange; provided that if the principal trading
session is extended, the Calculation Agent shall determine the Valuation Time in a good faith and
commercially reasonable manner.
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Valuation Date:

For any Component, the Expiration Date therefor.

Market Disruption Event:

Section 6.3(a) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “during the one hour
period that ends at the relevant Valuation Time, Latest Exercise Time, Knock-in Valuation Time or Knockout Valuation Time, as the case may be,” in clause (ii) thereof.
Section 6.3(d) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the remainder of the provision
following the term “Scheduled Closing Time” in the fourth line thereof.

Settlement Terms:
Settlement Method Election:

Applicable; provided that (a) Section 7.1 of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the
term “Physical Settlement” with the term “Net Share Settlement”, (b) Counterparty must make a single
irrevocable election for all Components and (c) if Counterparty is electing Cash Settlement or Combination
Settlement, such Settlement Method Election would be effective only if Counterparty represents and
warrants to Dealer in writing on the date of such Settlement Method Election that (i) Counterparty is not in
possession of any material non-public information regarding Counterparty or the Shares, and (ii) such
election is being made in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade compliance with the
federal securities laws.
If Counterparty is electing Combination Settlement, Counterparty shall also specify a specified cash
amount (the “Specified Cash Amount”) in the notice specifying its election of Combination Settlement.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Counterparty acknowledges its responsibilities under
applicable securities laws, and in particular Sections 9 and 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”) and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder in respect of such
election.

Electing Party:

Counterparty

Settlement Method Election Date:

The second Scheduled Valid Day prior to the scheduled Expiration Date for the Component with the
earliest scheduled Expiration Date.

Default Settlement Method:

Net Share Settlement

Net Share Settlement:

With respect to any Component, if Net Share Settlement is applicable to the Options exercised or deemed
exercised hereunder, Dealer will deliver to Counterparty on the Settlement Date, a number of Shares (the
“Net Share Settlement Amount”) equal to (i) the Daily Option Value on the Expiration Date of such
Component divided by (ii) the Relevant Price on such Expiration Date.
Dealer will deliver cash in lieu of any fractional Shares to be delivered with respect to any Net Share
Settlement Amount valued at the Relevant Price for the Expiration Date of such Component.
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Cash Settlement:

With respect to any Component, if Cash Settlement is applicable to the Options exercised or deemed
exercised hereunder, in lieu of Section 8.1 of the Equity Definitions, Dealer will pay to Counterparty, on
the Settlement Date, an amount of cash (the “Cash Settlement Amount”) equal to the Daily Option Value
on the Expiration Date of such Component.

Combination Settlement:

With respect to any Component, if Combination Settlement is applicable to the Options exercised or
deemed exercised hereunder, Dealer will pay or deliver, as the case may be, to Counterparty on the
Settlement Date:
(i) an amount of cash (the “Combination Settlement Cash Amount”) equal to the lesser of (A) the
Specified Cash Amount divided by the number of Components for the Transaction and (B) the
Daily Option Value on the Expiration Date of such Component; and
(ii) a number of Shares (the “Combination Settlement Share Amount”) equal to (A) the excess of (1) the
Daily Option Value on the Expiration Date of such Component over the (2) the Specified Cash
Amount divided by the number of Components for the Transaction, divided by (B) the Relevant
Price on such Expiration Date.
Dealer will deliver cash in lieu of any fractional Shares to be delivered with respect to any Combination
Settlement Share Amount valued at the Relevant Price for the Expiration Date of such Component.

Daily Option Value:

For any Component, an amount equal to (i) the Number of Options in such Component, multiplied by (ii)
the Option Entitlement, multiplied by (iii) (A) the lesser of the Relevant Price on the Expiration Date of
such Component and the Cap Price, minus (B) the Strike Price on such Expiration Date; provided that if the
calculation contained in clause (iii) above results in a negative number, the Daily Option Value for such
Component shall be deemed to be zero. In no event will the Daily Option Value be less than zero.

Valid Day:

A day on which (i) there is no Market Disruption Event and (ii) trading in the Shares generally occurs on
the Exchange. If the Shares are not listed or traded on any U.S. securities exchange or any other market,
“Valid Day” means a Business Day.

Scheduled Valid Day:

A day that is scheduled to be a Valid Day on the Exchange. If the Shares are not listed, quoted or traded on
any U.S. securities exchange or any other market, “Scheduled Valid Day” means a Business Day.

Business Day:

Any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or other day on which banking institutions are authorized or
required by law, regulation or executive order to close or be closed in the State of New York.
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Relevant Price:

On any Valid Day, the per Share volume-weighted average price as displayed under the heading
“Bloomberg VWAP” on Bloomberg page “DNMR <equity> AQR” (or its equivalent successor if such
page is not available) (the “VWAP”) in respect of the period from the scheduled open of trading until the
scheduled close of trading of the primary trading session on such Valid Day (or if such volume-weighted
average price is unavailable at such time, the market value of one Share on such Valid Day, as determined
by the Calculation Agent in a good faith and commercially reasonable manner using, if practicable, a
volume-weighted average method substantially similar to the method for determining the VWAP). The
Relevant Price will be determined without regard to after-hours trading or any other trading outside of the
regular trading session trading hours.

Settlement Date:

For all Components of the Transaction, the date one Settlement Cycle immediately following the
Expiration Date for the Component with the latest Expiration Date.

Settlement Currency:

USD

Other Applicable Provisions:

The provisions of Sections 9.1(c), 9.8, 9.9, 9.11 and 9.12 of the Equity Definitions will be applicable,
except that all references in such provisions to “Physically-settled” shall be read as references to “Net
Share Settlement.”

Representation and Agreement:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Definitions (including, but not limited to, Section
9.11 thereof), the parties acknowledge that (i) any Shares delivered to Counterparty shall be, upon
delivery, subject to restrictions, obligations and limitations arising from Counterparty’s status as issuer of
the Shares under applicable securities laws, (ii) Dealer may deliver any Shares required to be delivered
hereunder in certificated form in lieu of delivery through the Clearance System and (iii) any Shares
delivered to Counterparty may be “restricted securities” (as defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”)).

Adjustments:
Method of Adjustment:

Calculation Agent Adjustment; provided that the parties agree that (x) open market Share repurchases by
Counterparty at prevailing market prices and (y) Share repurchases through a dealer pursuant to
accelerated share repurchases, forward contracts or similar transactions (including, without limitation, any
discount to average VWAP prices) that are entered into at prevailing market prices and in accordance with
customary market terms for transactions of such type to repurchase the Shares shall not be considered
Potential Adjustment Events so long as, after giving effect to such repurchase or transaction, the aggregate
number of Shares repurchased during the term of the Transaction pursuant to all such transactions
described above would not exceed 20% of the number of Shares outstanding as of the Trade Date, as
reasonably determined by the Calculation Agent and as adjusted by the Calculation Agent to account for
any subdivision or combination with respect to the Shares.
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Extraordinary Events:
New Shares:

In the definition of New Shares in Section 12.1(i) of the Equity Definitions, (a) the text in clause (i) thereof
shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with “publicly quoted, traded or listed on any of The New York
Stock Exchange, The Nasdaq Global Market or The Nasdaq Global Select Market (or their respective
successors),” and (b) the following phrase shall be inserted immediately prior to the period: “and (iii) of a
corporation organized under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia
that (x) also becomes the Counterparty under the Transaction or (y) agrees to be subject to Sections 8(d)
and 8(e) of the Confirmation governing the Transaction, in either case, following such Merger Event or
Tender Offer”.

Merger Events:

Applicable

Consequences of Merger Events:
(a) Share-for-Share:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

(b) Share-for-Other:

Cancellation and Payment (Calculation Agent Determination)

(c) Share-for-Combined:

Cancellation and Payment (Calculation Agent Determination); provided that the Calculation Agent may
elect Component Adjustment for all or part of the Transaction.

Tender Offer:

Applicable; provided that the definition of “Tender Offer” in Section 12.1(d) of the Equity Definitions will
be amended by replacing the phrase “greater than 10% and less than 100% of the outstanding voting shares
of the Issuer” in the third and fourth line thereof with “greater than 20% and less than 100% of the
outstanding Shares”. In addition, Section 12.1(e) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended by replacing
“voting shares” in the first line thereof with “Shares”, and Section 12.1(l) of the Equity Definitions shall be
amended by replacing “voting shares” in the fifth line thereof with “Shares”.

Consequences of Tender Offers:
(a) Share-for-Share:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

(b) Share-for-Other:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

(c) Share-for-Combined:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment
8
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Consequences of Announcement Events:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment as set forth in Section 12.3(d) of the Equity Definitions;
provided that, in respect of an Announcement Event, (x) references to “Tender Offer” shall be replaced by
references to “Announcement Event” and references to “Tender Offer Date” shall be replaced by
references to “date of such Announcement Event”, (y) the phrase “exercise, settlement, payment or any
other terms of the Transaction (including, without limitation, the spread)” shall be replaced with the phrase
“Cap Price (provided that in no event shall the Cap Price be less than the Strike Price)” and the words
“whether within a commercially reasonable (as determined in good faith by the Calculation Agent) period
of time prior to or after the Announcement Event” shall be inserted prior to the word “which” in the
seventh line and (z) for the avoidance of doubt, the Calculation Agent may, in good faith and a
commercially reasonable manner, determine whether the relevant Announcement Event has had a material
economic effect on the Transaction and, if so, may adjust the Cap Price accordingly to take into account
such economic effect on one or more occasions on or after the date of the Announcement Event up to, and
including, the final Expiration Date, any Early Termination Date and/or any other date of cancellation, it
being understood that (i) any adjustment in respect of an Announcement Event shall take into account any
earlier adjustment relating to the same Announcement Event and shall not be duplicative with any other
adjustment or cancellation valuation made pursuant to this Confirmation, the Equity Definitions or the
Agreement and (ii) the Calculation Agent shall solely take into account changes in volatility, expected
dividends, stock loan rate, and liquidity relevant to the Shares or to the Transaction; provided that in no
event shall the Cap Price be adjusted to be less than the Strike Price. An Announcement Event shall be an
“Extraordinary Event” for purposes of the Equity Definitions, to which Article 12 of the Equity Definitions
is applicable; provided further that upon the Calculation Agent making an adjustment, determined in a
commercially reasonable manner, to the Cap Price upon any Announcement Event, then the Calculation
Agent shall make an adjustment to the Cap Price upon any announcement regarding the same event that
gave rise to the original Announcement Event regarding the abandonment of any such event to the extent
necessary to reflect the economic effect of such subsequent announcement on the Transaction.
9

ACTIVE/111958163.1
4896-1591-2197 v2
|US-DOCS\128077582.6||

Announcement Event:

(i) The public announcement whether by Counterparty, its subsidiary, agent or representative, or a Valid
Third Party Entity (any such person or entity, a “Relevant Party”) of any transaction or event that, if
completed, would constitute a Merger Event or Tender Offer, or the public announcement by Counterparty
of any intention to enter into a Merger Event or Tender Offer, (ii) the public announcement by
Counterparty of an intention by Counterparty to solicit or enter into, or to explore strategic alternatives or
other similar undertaking that may include, a Merger Event, Tender Offer or Acquisition Transaction, (iii)
there occurs a public announcement by a Relevant Party of any potential acquisition or disposition by
Counterparty and/or its subsidiaries where the consideration exceeds 25% of the market capitalization of
Counterparty as of the date of such announcement (an “Acquisition Transaction”), or (iv) any subsequent
public announcement by a Relevant Party of a change to a transaction or intention that is the subject of an
announcement of the type described in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) of this sentence (including, without limitation,
a new announcement relating to such a transaction or intention or the announcement of a withdrawal from,
or the abandonment or discontinuation of, such a transaction or intention); provided that, for the avoidance
of doubt, the occurrence of an Announcement Event with respect to any transaction or intention shall not
preclude the occurrence of a later Announcement Event with respect to such transaction or intention.

Valid Third Party Entity:

In respect of any transaction or event, any third party that has a bona fide intent to enter into or
consummate such transaction or event (or a subsidiary, affiliate, agent or representative of such a third
party), as reasonably determined by Calculation Agent, it being understood and agreed that in determining
whether such third party has such a bona fide intent, the Calculation Agent may take into consideration the
effect of the relevant announcement by such third party on the Shares and/or options relating to the Shares.

Notice of Merger Consideration and Consequences:

Upon the occurrence of a Merger Event that causes the Shares to be converted into the right to receive
more than a single type of consideration (determined based in part upon any form of stockholder election),
Counterparty shall reasonably promptly (but in any event prior to the relevant Merger Date) notify the
Calculation Agent of (i) the type and amount of consideration that a holder of Shares would have been
entitled to in the case of reclassifications, consolidations, mergers, sales or transfers of assets or other
transactions that cause Shares to be converted into the right to receive more than a single type of
consideration and (ii) the weighted average of the types and amounts of consideration to be received by the
holders of Shares.
10
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Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting:

Cancellation and Payment (Calculation Agent Determination); provided that in addition to the provisions
of Section 12.6(a)(iii) of the Equity Definitions, it will also constitute a Delisting if the Shares are not
immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on any of the New York Stock Exchange, The Nasdaq Global
Select Market, The Nasdaq Global Market or The Nasdaq Capital Market (or their respective successors);
if the Shares are immediately re-listed, re-traded or re-quoted on any such exchange or quotation system,
such exchange or quotation system shall thereafter be deemed to be the Exchange.

Additional Disruption Events:
(a) Change in Law:

Applicable; provided that Section 12.9(a)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (i) replacing
the parenthetical beginning after the word “regulation” in the second line thereof with the words
“(including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or
promulgation of new regulations authorized or mandated by existing statute)”, (ii) replacing the phrase
“the interpretation” in the third line thereof with the phrase “, or public announcement of, the formal or
informal interpretation”, (iii) adding the phrase “and/or type of commercially reasonable Hedge Position
that would be entered into by a commercially reasonable dealer” after the word “Shares” in clause (X)
thereof, (iv) immediately following the word “Transaction” in clause (X) thereof, adding the phrase “in the
manner contemplated by the Hedging Party on the Trade Date assuming the Hedging Party maintains a
commercially reasonable hedge position”, (v) adding the words “, or holding, acquiring or disposing of
Shares or any Hedge Positions relating to,” after the words “obligations under” in clause (Y) thereof and
(vi) adding the words “provided that, in the case of clause (Y) hereof and any law, regulation or
interpretation, the consequence of such law, regulation or interpretation is applied equally by Dealer to all
of its similarly situated counterparties and/or similar transactions;” after the semi-colon in the last line
thereof.

(b) Failure to Deliver:

Applicable

(c) Insolvency Filing:

Applicable
11
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(d) Hedging Disruption:

Applicable; provided that
(i) Section 12.9(a)(v) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by inserting the following at the end of
such Section:
“, provided that any such inability that is incurred solely due to the deterioration of the creditworthiness of
the Hedging Party shall not be deemed a Hedging Disruption. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the term
“equity price risk” shall be deemed to include, but shall not be limited to, stock price and volatility risk,
and (ii) the transactions or assets referred to in phrases (A) or (B) above must be available on commercially
reasonable pricing terms.”; and
(ii) Section 12.9(b)(iii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by inserting in the third line thereof,
after the words “to terminate the Transaction”, the words “or a portion of the Transaction affected by such
Hedging Disruption”.

(e) Increased Cost of Hedging:

Not Applicable

Hedging Party:

For all applicable Additional Disruption Events, Dealer

Determining Party:

For all applicable Extraordinary Events, Dealer; provided that, when making any determination or
calculation as “Determining Party,” Dealer shall be bound by the same obligations relating to required acts
of the Calculation Agent as set forth in Section 1.40 of the Equity Definitions and this Confirmation as if
Determining Party were the Calculation Agent.
Following any determination or calculation by Determining Party hereunder, upon a written request by
Counterparty (which may be by email), Determining Party will promptly (but in any event within five
Scheduled Trading Days) provide to Counterparty by email to the email address provided by Counterparty
in such written request a report (in a commonly used file format for the storage and manipulation of
financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such determination or calculation (including any
assumptions used in making such determination or calculation), it being understood that in no event will
Determining Party be obligated to share with Counterparty any proprietary or confidential data or
information or any proprietary or confidential models used by it in making such determination or
calculation or any information that is subject to an obligation not to disclose such information.
All calculations and determinations made by Determining Party shall be made in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner.

Non-Reliance:

Applicable

Agreements and Acknowledgments Regarding Hedging
Activities:

Applicable

Additional Acknowledgments:

Applicable

3.Calculation Agent: Dealer; provided that, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default pursuant to Section
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5(a)(vii) of the Agreement with respect to which Dealer is the sole Defaulting Party, Counterparty shall have the right to designate a nationally recognized third party dealer in
over-the-counter corporate equity derivatives to replace Dealer as the Calculation Agent, and the parties shall work in good faith to execute any appropriate documentation
required by such replacement Calculation Agent.

ment, determination or calculation by the Calculation Agent hereunder, upon a written request by Counterparty (which may be by email), the Calculation Agent will promptly (but in any
event within five Scheduled Trading Days) provide to Counterparty by email to the email address provided by
Counterparty in such written request a report (in a commonly used file format for the storage and manipulation of
financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such adjustment, determination or calculation (including any
assumptions used in making such adjustment, determination or calculation), it being understood that in no event will
the Calculation Agent be obligated to share with Counterparty any proprietary or confidential data or information or
any proprietary or confidential models used by it in making such adjustment, determination or calculation or any
information that is subject to an obligation not to disclose such information.

determinations made by the Calculation Agent shall be made in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
4.Account Details:
Dealer Payment Instructions:
[Bank:] [_________]
[SWIFT:] [_________]
[Bank Routing:] [_________]
[Acct Name:] [_________]
[Acct No.:] [_________]
Counterparty Payment Instructions: To be advised.
5.Offices:
The Office of Dealer for the Transaction is: [____________]
The Office of Counterparty for the Transaction is: Inapplicable, Counterparty is not a Multibranch Party.
6.Notices: For purposes of this Confirmation:
(a)Address for notices or communications to Counterparty:
To: Danimer Scientific, Inc.

140 Industrial Boulevard,
Bainbridge, GA, 39817
Attention: [__________]
Telephone: [__________]
Email: [__________]
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(b)Address for notices or communications to Dealer:
To: [____________]
Attention: [____________]
Telephone: [____________]
Email: [____________]
With a copy to:
To: [____________]
Attention: [____________]
Telephone: [____________]
Email: [____________]
For the avoidance of doubt, any notice or other communication delivered by electronic messaging system, e-mail or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be “in
writing.”
7.Representations, Warranties and Agreements:
(a)In addition to the representations and warranties in the Agreement and those contained elsewhere herein, Counterparty represents and warrants to and for the
benefit of, and agrees with, Dealer as follows:
(i)On the Trade Date (A) none of Counterparty and its officers and directors is aware of any material non-public information regarding Counterparty or the
Shares, and (B) all reports and other documents filed by Counterparty with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act when considered as
a whole (with the more recent such reports and documents deemed to amend inconsistent statements contained in any earlier such reports and documents), do not
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light
of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.
(ii) On the Trade Date, (A) the Shares or securities that are convertible into, or exchangeable or exercisable for Shares, are not, and shall not be, subject to a
“restricted period,” as such term is defined in Regulation M under the Exchange Act (“Regulation M”), and (B) Counterparty is not engaged in any “distribution,” as
such term is defined in Regulation M, other than a distribution meeting the requirements of the exceptions set forth in Rules 101(b)(10) and 102(b)(7) or Rule 102(c)
(1)(i) of Regulation M.
(iii)On the Trade Date, neither Counterparty nor any “affiliated purchaser” (as defined in Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act) shall directly or indirectly
(including, without limitation, by means of any cash-settled or other derivative instrument) purchase, offer to purchase, place any bid or limit order that would effect a
purchase of, or commence any tender offer relating to, any Shares (or an equivalent interest, including a unit of beneficial interest in a trust or limited partnership or a
depository share) or any security convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Shares.
(iv)Without limiting the generality of Section 13.1 of the Equity Definitions, Counterparty acknowledges that neither Dealer nor any of its affiliates is making
any representations or warranties or taking any position or expressing any view with respect to the treatment of the Transaction under any accounting standards
including ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity and ASC 815-40,
Derivatives and Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (or any successor issue statements).
(v) Without limiting the generality of Section 3(a)(iii) of the Agreement, the Transaction will not violate Rule 13e-1 or Rule 13e-4 under the Exchange Act.
14
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(vi)Counterparty is not entering into this Confirmation to create actual or apparent trading activity in the Shares (or any security convertible into or
exchangeable for Shares) or to manipulate the price of the Shares (or any security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) or otherwise in violation of the
Exchange Act.
(vii)Counterparty is not, and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby will not be, required to register as, an “investment company” as such
term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
(viii)On each of the Trade Date and the Premium Payment Date, (A) the value of the total assets of Counterparty is greater than the sum of the total liabilities
(including contingent liabilities) and the capital of Counterparty, (B) the capital of Counterparty is adequate to conduct the business of Counterparty, and
Counterparty’s entry into the Transaction will not impair its capital, (C) Counterparty has the ability to pay its debts and obligations as such debts mature and does not
intend to, or does not believe that it will, incur debt beyond its ability to pay as such debts mature, (D) Counterparty is not “insolvent” (as such term is defined under
Section 101(32) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the United States Code) (the “Bankruptcy Code”)) and (E) Counterparty would be able to purchase the
aggregate Number of Shares for the Transaction in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction of Counterparty’s incorporation.
(ix)To Counterparty’s knowledge, no U.S. state or local law, rule, regulation or regulatory order applicable to the Shares would give rise to any reporting,
consent, registration or other requirement (including without limitation a requirement to obtain prior approval from any person or entity) as a result of Dealer or its
affiliates owning or holding (however defined) Shares; provided that no such representation shall be made by Counterparty with respect to any rules and regulations
applicable to Dealer (including FINRA) arising from Dealer’s status as a regulated entity under applicable law.
(x)Counterparty (A) is capable of evaluating investment risks independently, both in general and with regard to all transactions and investment strategies
involving a security or securities; (B) will exercise independent judgment in evaluating the recommendations of any broker-dealer or its associated persons, unless it
has otherwise notified the broker-dealer in writing, (C) has total assets of at least USD 50 million as of the date hereof.
(xi)The assets of Counterparty do not constitute “plan assets” under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, the Department of
Labor Regulations promulgated thereunder or similar law.
(b)Each of Dealer and Counterparty agrees and represents that it is an “eligible contract participant” as defined in Section 1a(18) of the U.S. Commodity Exchange
Act, as amended.
(c)Each of Dealer and Counterparty acknowledges that the offer and sale of the Transaction to it is intended to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act,
by virtue of Section 4(a)(2) thereof. Accordingly, Counterparty represents and warrants to Dealer that (i) it has the financial ability to bear the economic risk of its investment
in the Transaction and is able to bear a total loss of its investment and its investments in and liabilities in respect of the Transaction, which it understands are not readily
marketable, are not disproportionate to its net worth, and it is able to bear any loss in connection with the Transaction, including the loss of its entire investment in the
Transaction, (ii) it is an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in Regulation D as promulgated under the Securities Act, (iii) it is entering into the Transaction for its own
account and without a view to the distribution or resale thereof, (iv) the assignment, transfer or other disposition of the Transaction has not been and will not be registered under
the Securities Act and is restricted under this Confirmation, the Securities Act and state securities laws, and (v) its financial condition is such that it has no need for liquidity
with respect to its investment in the Transaction and no need to dispose of any portion thereof to satisfy any existing or contemplated undertaking or indebtedness and is capable
of assessing the merits of and understanding (on its own behalf or through independent professional advice), and understands and accepts, the terms, conditions and risks of the
Transaction.
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(d)Each of Dealer and Counterparty agrees and acknowledges that Dealer is a “financial institution,” “swap participant” and “financial participant” within the
meaning of Sections 101(22), 101(53C) and 101(22A) of the Bankruptcy Code. The parties hereto further agree and acknowledge (A) that this Confirmation is (i) a “securities
contract,” as such term is defined in Section 741(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, with respect to which each payment and delivery hereunder or in connection herewith is a
“termination value,” “payment amount” or “other transfer obligation” within the meaning of Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code and a “settlement payment” within the
meaning of Section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (ii) a “swap agreement,” as such term is defined in Section 101(53B) of the Bankruptcy Code, with respect to which each
payment and delivery hereunder or in connection herewith is a “termination value,” “payment amount” or “other transfer obligation” within the meaning of Section 362 of the
Bankruptcy Code and a “transfer” within the meaning of Section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (B) that Dealer is entitled to the protections afforded by, among other
sections, Sections 362(b)(6), 362(b)(17), 362(b)(27), 362(o), 546(e), 546(g), 546(j), 548(d)(2), 555, 560 and 561 of the Bankruptcy Code.
(e)As a condition to the effectiveness of the Transaction, Counterparty shall deliver to Dealer an opinion of counsel, dated as of the Effective Date and reasonably
acceptable to Dealer in form and substance, with respect to the matters set forth in Section 3(a) of the Agreement and Section 7(a)(vii) hereof; provided that any such opinion of
counsel may contain customary exceptions and qualifications, including, without limitation, exceptions and qualifications relating to indemnification provisions.
(f)Counterparty understands that notwithstanding any other relationship between Counterparty and Dealer and its affiliates, in connection with the Transaction and
any other over-the-counter derivative transactions between Counterparty and Dealer or its affiliates, Dealer or its affiliates is acting as principal and is not a fiduciary or advisor
in respect of any such transaction, including any entry, exercise, amendment, unwind or termination thereof.
(g)[Each party acknowledges and agrees to be bound by the Conduct Rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. applicable to transactions in options,
and further agrees not to violate the position and exercise limits set forth therein.
(h)Counterparty represents and warrants that it has received, read and understands the OTC Options Risk Disclosure Statement and a copy of the most recent
disclosure pamphlet prepared by The Options Clearing Corporation entitled “Characteristics and Risks of Standardized Options”.]
8.Other Provisions:
(a)Right to Extend. Dealer may divide any Component into additional Components and designate the Expiration Date and the Number of Options for each such
Component or postpone the Expiration Date of any Component if Dealer determines, in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, that such further division or
postponement would be necessary or advisable to preserve a commercially reasonable dealer’s hedging or hedge unwind activity with respect to the Transaction in light of
existing liquidity conditions or to enable such a dealer to purchase or sell Shares or enter into swap or other derivatives transactions with respect to Shares in connection with its
commercially reasonable hedging, hedge unwind or settlement activity with respect to the Transaction in a manner that would, if such dealer were Counterparty or an affiliated
purchaser of Counterparty, be compliant and consistent with applicable legal, regulatory or self-regulatory requirements generally applicable to transactions similar to the
Transaction, or with related policies and procedures adopted by Dealer in good faith so long as such policies and procedures are generally applicable in similar situations and
applied in a non-discriminatory manner; provided that in no event shall any Expiration Date for any Component be postponed to a date later than the Final Termination Date.
(b)Additional Termination Event. Promptly (but in any event within ten Scheduled Trading Days) following any repurchase, redemption, exchange or conversion of
any of Counterparty’s [__]% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (the “Convertible Notes”) issued pursuant to Counterparty’s indenture (the “Indenture”) [to be] dated
December [__], 2021 between Counterparty and [U.S. Bank, National Association], as trustee, Counterparty may notify Dealer in writing of (i) such repurchase, redemption,
exchange or conversion, (ii) the number of Convertible Notes so repurchased, redeemed, exchanged or converted, or the number of Convertible Notes so repurchased,
redeemed, exchanged or converted that Counterparty elects to be subject to such Repayment Event and (iii) the number of Shares underlying each USD 1,000 principal amount
of Convertible Notes (any such notice, a “Repurchase
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Notification” and any such event, a “Repurchase Event”)[; provided that any “Repurchase Notification” delivered to Dealer pursuant to the Base Capped Call Transaction
Confirmation letter agreement dated December [__], 2021 between Dealer and Counterparty (the “Base Call Option Confirmation”) shall be deemed to be a Repurchase
Notification pursuant to this Confirmation and the terms of such Repurchase Notification shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to this Confirmation]. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Confirmation, the receipt by Dealer from Counterparty of (x) any Repurchase Notification, within the applicable time period set forth in the preceding sentence,
and (y) a written representation and warranty by Counterparty that, as of the date of such Repurchase Notification, Counterparty is not in possession of any material non-public
information regarding Counterparty or the Shares, shall constitute an Additional Termination Event as provided in this paragraph. Upon receipt of any such Repurchase
Notification and the related written representation and warranty, Dealer shall promptly designate an Exchange Business Day following receipt of such Repurchase Notification
as an Early Termination Date with respect to the portion of this Transaction corresponding to a number of Options (the “Repurchase Options”) equal to the lesser of (A) [(x)]
[__]% of the aggregate number of Shares underlying the number of Convertible Notes specified in such Repurchase Notification, divided by the Option Entitlement[, minus (y)
the number of “Repurchase Options” (as defined in the Base Call Option Confirmation), if any, that relate to such Convertible Notes (and for the purposes of determining
whether any Options under this Confirmation or under, and as defined in, the Base Call Option Confirmation will be among the Repurchase Options hereunder or under, and as
defined in, the Base Call Option Confirmation, the number of Convertible Notes specified in such Repurchase Notification shall be allocated first to the Base Call Option
Confirmation until all Options thereunder are exercised or terminated)] and (B) the aggregate Number of Options as of the date Dealer designates such Early Termination Date
and, as of such date, the aggregate Number of Options shall be reduced by the number of Repurchase Options on a pro rata basis across all remaining unexpired Components, as
determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner. Any payment hereunder with respect to such termination shall be calculated
pursuant to Section 6 of the Agreement as if (1) an Early Termination Date had been designated in respect of a Transaction having terms identical to this Transaction and an
aggregate Number of Options equal to the number of Repurchase Options, (2) Counterparty were the sole Affected Party with respect to such Additional Termination Event and
(3) the terminated portion of the Transaction were the sole Affected Transaction.
(c)Alternative Calculations and Payment on Early Termination and on Certain Extraordinary Events. If (a) an Early Termination Date (whether as a result of an
Event of Default or a Termination Event) occurs or is designated with respect to the Transaction or (b) the Transaction is cancelled or terminated upon the occurrence of an
Extraordinary Event (except as a result of (i) a Nationalization, Insolvency or Merger Event in which the consideration to be paid to all holders of Shares consists solely of cash,
(ii) a Merger Event or Tender Offer that is within Counterparty’s control, or (iii) an Event of Default in which Counterparty is the Defaulting Party or a Termination Event in
which Counterparty is the Affected Party, which Event of Default or Termination Event resulted from an event or events within Counterparty’s control), and if Dealer would
owe any amount to Counterparty pursuant to Section 6(d)(ii) and 6(e) of the Agreement or any Cancellation Amount pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions (any such
amount, a “Payment Obligation”), then Dealer shall satisfy the Payment Obligation by the Share Termination Alternative (as defined below) unless (a) Counterparty gives
irrevocable telephonic notice to Dealer, confirmed in writing within one Scheduled Trading Day, no later than 12:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the Merger Date, Tender
Offer Date, Announcement Date (in the case of a Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting), Early Termination Date or date of cancellation, as applicable, of its election that the
Share Termination Alternative shall not apply, (b) as of the date of such election, Counterparty represents that is not in possession of any material non-public information
regarding Counterparty or the Shares, and that such election is being made in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade compliance with the federal securities laws,
and (c) Dealer agrees, in its commercially reasonable discretion, to such election, in which case the provisions of Section 12.7 or Section 12.9 of the Equity Definitions, or the
provisions of Section 6(d)(ii) and 6(e) of the Agreement, as the case may be, shall apply.
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Share Termination Alternative:

If applicable, Dealer shall deliver to Counterparty the Share Termination Delivery Property on, or
within a commercially reasonable period of time after, the date when the relevant Payment Obligation
would otherwise be due pursuant to Section 12.7 or 12.9 of the Equity Definitions or Section 6(d)(ii)
and 6(e) of the Agreement, as applicable, in satisfaction of such Payment Obligation in the manner
reasonably requested by Counterparty free of payment.

Share Termination Delivery Property:

A number of Share Termination Delivery Units, as calculated by the Calculation Agent in good faith
and in a commercially reasonable manner, equal to the Payment Obligation divided by the Share
Termination Unit Price. The Calculation Agent shall, in good faith and in a commercially reasonable
manner, adjust the Share Termination Delivery Property by replacing any fractional portion of a
security therein with an amount of cash equal to the value of such fractional security based on the values
used to calculate the Share Termination Unit Price.

Share Termination Unit Price:

The value of property contained in one Share Termination Delivery Unit, as determined by the
Calculation Agent in its discretion by commercially reasonable means and notified by the Calculation
Agent to Dealer at the time of notification of the Payment Obligation. For the avoidance of doubt, the
parties agree that in determining the Share Termination Delivery Unit Price the Calculation Agent may
consider a variety of factors, including the market price of the Share Termination Delivery Units and/or
the purchase price paid in connection with the commercially reasonable purchase of Share Termination
Delivery Property.

Share Termination Delivery Unit:

One Share or, if the Shares have changed into cash or any other property or the right to receive cash or
any other property as the result of a Nationalization, Insolvency or Merger Event (any such cash or
other property, the “Exchange Property”), a unit consisting of the type and amount of such Exchange
Property received by a holder of one Share (without consideration of any requirement to pay cash or
other consideration in lieu of fractional amounts of any securities) in such Nationalization, Insolvency
or Merger Event, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

Failure to Deliver:

Applicable

Other Applicable Provisions:

If Share Termination Alternative is applicable, the provisions of Sections 9.8, 9.9 and 9.11 (as modified
above) of the Equity Definitions and the provisions set forth opposite the caption “Representation and
Agreement” in Section 2 will be applicable, except that all references in such provisions to “Physicallysettled” shall be read as references to “Share Termination Settled” and all references to “Shares” shall
be read as references to “Share Termination Delivery Units”. “Share Termination Settled” in relation to
the Transaction means that the Share Termination Alternative is applicable to the Transaction.
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(d)Disposition of Hedge Shares. Counterparty hereby agrees that if, in the good faith and commercially reasonable judgment of Dealer, based on the advice of legal
counsel, the Shares acquired by Dealer for the purpose of effecting a commercially reasonable hedge of its obligations pursuant to the Transaction (the “Hedge Shares”) cannot
be sold in the U.S. public market by Dealer without registration under the Securities Act, Counterparty shall, at its election: (i) in order to allow Dealer to sell the Hedge Shares
in a registered offering, use its commercially reasonable efforts to make available to Dealer an effective registration statement under the Securities Act to cover the resale of
such Hedge Shares and (A) enter into an agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Dealer, substantially in the form of an underwriting agreement for a
registered offering for companies of a similar size in a similar industry, (B) provide accountant’s “comfort” letters in customary form for registered offerings of equity securities
for companies of a similar size in a similar industry, (C) provide disclosure opinions of nationally recognized outside counsel to Counterparty in customary form for registered
offerings of equity securities for companies of a similar size in a similar industry, (D) provide other customary opinions, certificates and closing documents customary in form
for registered offerings of equity securities for companies of a similar size in a similar industry and (E) afford Dealer a reasonable opportunity to conduct a “due diligence”
investigation with respect to Counterparty customary in scope for underwritten offerings of equity securities for companies of a similar size in a similar industry; provided,
however, that, if Counterparty elects clause (i) above but Dealer, in its reasonable discretion, is not satisfied with access to due diligence materials, the results of its due
diligence investigation, or the procedures and documentation for the registered offering referred to above, then clause (ii) or clause (iii) of this Section 8(d) shall apply at the
election of Counterparty; (ii) in order to allow Dealer to sell the Hedge Shares in a private placement, enter into a private placement agreement substantially similar to private
placement purchase agreements customary for private placements of equity securities of companies of a similar size in a similar industry, in form and substance commercially
reasonably satisfactory to Dealer using commercially reasonable best efforts to include customary representations, covenants, blue sky and other governmental filings and/or
registrations, indemnities to Dealer, due diligence rights (for Dealer or any designated buyer of the Hedge Shares from Dealer), opinions and certificates and such other
documentation as is customary for private placements agreements of equity securities of companies of a similar size in a similar industry, as is reasonably acceptable to Dealer
(in which case, the Calculation Agent shall make any adjustments to the terms of the Transaction that are necessary, in its good faith and commercially reasonable judgment, to
compensate Dealer for any customary liquidity discount from the public market price of the Shares incurred on the sale of Hedge Shares in a private placement); provided that
no “comfort letter” or accountants’ consent shall be required to be delivered in connection with any private placements; or (iii) purchase the Hedge Shares from Dealer at the
then-prevailing market price at one or more times on such Exchange Business Days, and in the amounts, requested by Dealer.
(e)Repurchase Notices. Counterparty shall, no later than one Scheduled Valid Day following any day on which Counterparty effects any repurchase of Shares, give
Dealer written notice of such repurchase (a “Repurchase Notice”) on such day if, following such repurchase, the number of outstanding Shares as determined on such day is (i)
less than [__] million (in the case of the first such notice) or (ii) thereafter more than [__] million less than the number of Shares included in the immediately preceding
Repurchase Notice; provided that, (A) in the case of any repurchases of Shares pursuant to a plan under Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act, Counterparty may elect to satisfy
such requirement by giving Dealer written notice of entry into such plan, the maximum number of Shares that may be purchased thereunder and the approximate dates or
periods during which such repurchases may occur (with such maximum number of Shares deemed repurchased on the date of such notice for purposes of this Section 8(e) and
(B) if such repurchase would constitute material non-public information with respect to Counterparty or the Shares, Counterparty shall make public disclosure thereof at or prior
to delivery of such Repurchase Notice. In the event that Counterparty fails to provide Dealer with a Repurchase Notice on the day and in the manner specified in this Section
8(e) then Counterparty agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Dealer, its affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and controlling persons (Dealer and
each such person being an “Indemnified Party”) from and against any and all commercially reasonable losses (including direct losses relating to Dealer’s commercially
reasonable hedging activities as a consequence of becoming, or of the risk of becoming, a Section 16 “insider”, including without limitation, any forbearance from hedging
activities or cessation of hedging activities and any losses in connection therewith with respect to the Transaction), claims, damages and liabilities (or actions in respect thereof),
joint or several, to which such Indemnified Party may become subject under applicable securities laws, including without limitation, Section 16 of the Exchange Act, in each
case relating to or arising out of such failure. If for any reason the foregoing indemnification is unavailable to any Indemnified Party or insufficient to hold harmless any
Indemnified Party, then Counterparty shall contribute, to the maximum extent permitted by law, to the amount paid
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or payable by the Indemnified Party as a result of such loss, claim, damage or liability. In addition, Counterparty will reimburse any Indemnified Party for all commercially
reasonable expenses (including commercially reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) as they are incurred (after notice to Counterparty) in connection with the
investigation of, preparation for or defense or settlement of any pending or threatened claim or any action, suit or proceeding arising therefrom, whether or not such Indemnified
Party is a party thereto and whether or not such claim, action, suit or proceeding is initiated or brought by or on behalf of Counterparty, in each case relating to or arising out of
such failure. Counterparty shall be relieved from liability under this Section 8(e) to the extent that the Indemnified Party fails promptly to notify Counterparty of any action
commenced against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder (it being understood that any such notice delivered within 30 calendar days of the commencement
of any such action shall be deemed to have been delivered promptly for such purpose), if and to the extent that Counterparty is materially prejudiced by such delayed
notification. In addition, Counterparty shall not have liability for any settlement of any proceeding contemplated by this paragraph that is effected without its written consent,
such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, but if settled with such consent or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff, Counterparty agrees to indemnify any Indemnified
Person from and against any loss or liability by reason of such settlement or judgment. Counterparty shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Person, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld, effect any settlement of any such proceeding contemplated by this paragraph that is pending or threatened in respect of which any
Indemnified Person is or could have been a party and indemnity could have been sought hereunder by such Indemnified Person, unless such settlement includes an
unconditional release of such Indemnified Person from all liability on claims that are the subject matter of such proceedings on terms reasonably satisfactory to such
Indemnified Person. This indemnity shall survive the completion of the Transaction contemplated by this Confirmation and any assignment and delegation of the Transaction
made pursuant to this Confirmation or the Agreement shall inure to the benefit of any permitted assignee of Dealer. Counterparty will not be liable under this indemnity
provision to the extent any loss, claim, damage, liability or expense is conclusively found in a final and non-appealable judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction to have
resulted from Dealer’s gross negligence or willful misconduct.
(f)Transfer and Assignment. Either party may transfer or assign any of its rights or obligations under the Transaction with the prior written consent of the nontransferring party, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided that Dealer may transfer or assign its rights and obligations hereunder, in whole or in part,
to (A) without Counterparty’s consent, any affiliate or branch of Dealer (1) that has a long-term issuer rating that is equal to or better than Dealer’s credit rating at the time of
such transfer or assignment, or (2) whose obligations would be guaranteed by Dealer [or Dealer Parent] or (B) with Counterparty’s consent (such consent not to be unreasonably
withheld or delayed) any person (including any affiliate or branch of Dealer not satisfying clause (A)) or any person whose obligations would be guaranteed by a person (a
“Designated Transferee”), in either case under this clause (B), with a rating for its long-term, unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness at least equivalent to Dealer’s (or its
guarantor’s); provided, however, that, in the case of this clause (B), in no event shall the credit rating of the Designated Transferee or of its guarantor (whichever is higher) be
lower than A3 from Moody’s Investor Service, Inc. or its successor or A- from Standard and Poor’s Rating Group, Inc. or its successor; provided further that after any such
transfer or assignment, (i) Counterparty will not, as a result of such transfer or assignment, be required to pay the transferee or assignee on any payment date an amount under
Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement greater than the amount, if any, that Counterparty would have been required to pay to Dealer in the absence of such transfer or assignment,
(ii) the transferee will agree with Counterparty that, after any such transfer, Counterparty will not, as a result of such transfer or assignment, receive from such transferee or
assignee on any payment date or delivery date an amount or number of Shares, as applicable, less than it would have been entitled to receive (including under Section 2(d)(i)(4)
of the Agreement) in the absence of such transfer or assignment, and (iii) Dealer shall cause the transferee or assignee, prior to becoming a party to the Transaction, to provide
Counterparty with a complete and accurate U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 or W-8 (or successor form), as applicable, and make such Payee Tax Representations and
to provide such tax documentation as may be reasonably requested by Counterparty to permit Counterparty to determine that the results described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this
proviso will not occur upon or after such transfer and assignment. At any time at which (1) the Equity Percentage exceeds 8.0%, (2) the Option Equity Percentage exceeds
14.5% or (3) Dealer, Dealer Group (as defined below) or any person whose ownership position would be aggregated with that of Dealer or Dealer Group (Dealer, Dealer Group
or any such person, a “Dealer Person”) under any applicable “business combinations statute” or other federal, state or local law, rule, regulation or regulatory order or
organizational documents or contracts of Counterparty applicable to ownership of Shares
20
ACTIVE/111958163.1
4896-1591-2197 v2
|US-DOCS\128077582.6||

(“Applicable Restrictions”), owns, beneficially owns, constructively owns, controls, holds the power to vote or otherwise meets a relevant definition of ownership in excess of
a number of Shares equal to (x) the minimum number of Shares that would give rise to reporting, registration, filing or notification obligations or other requirements (including
obtaining prior approval by a state or federal regulator) of a Dealer Person, or could result in an adverse effect on a Dealer Person, under Applicable Restrictions and with
respect to which such requirements have not been met or the relevant approval has not been received minus (y) 1% of the number of Shares outstanding on the date of
determination (any such condition described in clause (1), (2) or (3), an “Excess Ownership Position”), if Dealer, in its commercially reasonable discretion, is unable to effect
a transfer or assignment to a third party in accordance with the requirements set forth above after its commercially reasonable efforts on pricing and terms and within a time
period reasonably acceptable to Dealer such that an Excess Ownership Position no longer exists, Dealer may designate any Scheduled Valid Day as an Early Termination Date
with respect to a portion (the “Terminated Portion”) of the Transaction, such that an Excess Ownership Position no longer exists following such partial termination. In the
event that Dealer so designates an Early Termination Date with respect to a portion of the Transaction, a payment or delivery shall be made pursuant to Section 6 of the
Agreement and Section 8(c) of this Confirmation as if (i) an Early Termination Date had been designated in respect of a Transaction having terms identical to the Terminated
Portion of the Transaction, (ii) Counterparty were the sole Affected Party with respect to such partial termination, (iii) such portion of the Transaction were the only Terminated
Transaction and (iv) Dealer were the party entitled to designate an Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement and to determine the amount payable
pursuant to Section 6(e) of the Agreement. The “Equity Percentage” as of any day is the fraction, expressed as a percentage, (A) the numerator of which is the number of
Shares that Dealer and any of its affiliates subject to aggregation with Dealer for purposes of the “beneficial ownership” test under Section 13 of the Exchange Act and all
persons who may form a “group” (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act) with Dealer (collectively, “Dealer Group”) “beneficially own” (within the
meaning of Section 13 of the Exchange Act) without duplication on such day (or, to the extent that for any reason the equivalent calculation under Section 16 of the Exchange
Act and the rules and regulations thereunder results in a higher number, such higher number) and (B) the denominator of which is the number of Shares outstanding on such
day. The “Option Equity Percentage” as of any day is the fraction, expressed as a percentage, (A) the numerator of which is the sum of (1) the product of the Number of
Options and the Option Entitlement and (2) the aggregate number of Shares underlying any other call option transaction sold by Dealer to Counterparty, and (B) the
denominator of which is the number of Shares outstanding.
In the case of a transfer or assignment by Counterparty of its rights and obligations hereunder and under the Agreement, in whole or in part (any such Options so
transferred or assigned, the “Transfer Options”), to any party, withholding of such consent by Dealer shall not be considered unreasonable if such transfer or assignment does
not meet the reasonable conditions that Dealer may impose including, but not limited, to the following conditions:
(A)with respect to any Transfer Options, Counterparty shall not be released from its notice and indemnification obligations pursuant to Section 8(e) or any
obligations under Section 2 (regarding Extraordinary Events) or 8(d) of this Confirmation;
(B)Any Transfer Options shall only be transferred or assigned to a third party that is a United States person (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”));
(C)such transfer or assignment shall be effected on terms, including any commercially reasonable undertakings by such third party (including, but not limited
to, undertakings with respect to compliance with applicable securities laws in a manner that, in the commercially reasonable judgment of Dealer, will not expose
Dealer to material risks under applicable securities laws) and execution of any documentation and delivery of customary legal opinions with respect to securities laws
and other matters by such third party and Counterparty as are commercially reasonably requested and commercially reasonably satisfactory to Dealer;
(D)Dealer shall not, as a result of such transfer and assignment, be required to pay the transferee or assignee on any payment date an amount or number of
Shares under Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement greater than the amount or number of Shares that Dealer would have been required to pay to Counterparty in the
absence of such transfer and assignment;
21
ACTIVE/111958163.1
4896-1591-2197 v2
|US-DOCS\128077582.6||

(E)Dealer shall not, as a result of such transfer or assignment, receive from the transferee or assignee any amount less than it would have been entitled to
receive (including under Section 2(d)(i)(4) of the Agreement) in the absence of such transfer or assignment;
(F)an Event of Default, Potential Event of Default or Termination Event will not occur as a result of such transfer and assignment;
(G)Without limiting the generality of clause (B), Counterparty shall cause the transferee or assignee to make such Payee Tax Representations and to provide
such tax documentation as may be reasonably requested by Dealer to permit Dealer to determine that results described in clauses (D), (E) and (F) will not occur upon
or after such transfer and assignment, including but not limited to providing tax documentation specified in Section 8(t) of this Confirmation and making the tax
representations specified in Section 8(u)(i) of this Confirmation on or prior to such transfer or assignment and at all the other times specified in such Sections; and
(H)Counterparty shall be responsible for all commercially reasonable costs and expenses, including commercially reasonable counsel fees, incurred by Dealer in
connection with such transfer or assignment.
Notwithstanding any other provision in this Confirmation to the contrary requiring or allowing Dealer to purchase, sell, receive or deliver any Shares or other
securities, or make or receive any payment in cash, to or from Counterparty, Dealer may designate any of its affiliates to purchase, sell, receive or deliver such Shares or other
securities, or to make or receive such payment in cash, and otherwise to perform Dealer’s obligations in respect of the Transaction and any such designee may assume such
obligations. Dealer shall be discharged of its obligations to Counterparty to the extent of any such performance.
(g)Staggered Settlement. If Dealer determines in good faith and in its reasonable discretion that the number of Shares required to be delivered to Counterparty
hereunder on any Settlement Date would result in an Excess Ownership Position, then Dealer may, by notice to Counterparty prior to such Settlement Date (a “Nominal
Settlement Date”), elect to deliver any Shares due to be delivered on two or more dates (each, a “Staggered Settlement Date”) or at two or more times on the Nominal
Settlement Date as follows:
(i)in such notice, Dealer will specify to Counterparty the related Staggered Settlement Dates (each of which will be on or prior to such Nominal Settlement
Date) or delivery times and how it will allocate the Shares it is required to deliver hereunder on the Settlement Date among the Staggered Settlement Dates or delivery
times; and
(ii)the aggregate number of Shares that Dealer will deliver to Counterparty hereunder on all such Staggered Settlement Dates and delivery times will equal the
number of Shares that Dealer would otherwise be required to deliver on such Nominal Settlement Date; provided that in no event shall any Staggered Settlement Date
be a date later than the Final Termination Date.
(h)Disclosure. Effective from the date of commencement of discussions concerning the Transaction, Counterparty and each of its employees, representatives, or
other agents may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax structure of the Transaction and all materials of any kind (including
opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided to Counterparty relating to such tax treatment and tax structure.
(i)No Netting and Set-off. The provisions of Section 2(c) and 6(f) of the Agreement shall not apply to the Transaction. Each party waives any and all rights it may
have to set-off delivery or payment obligations it owes to the other party under the Transaction against any delivery or payment obligations owed to it by the other party,
whether arising under the Agreement, under any other agreement between parties hereto, by operation of law or otherwise.
(j)Equity Rights. Dealer acknowledges and agrees that this Confirmation is not intended to convey to it rights with respect to the Transaction that are senior to the
claims of common stockholders in the event of Counterparty’s bankruptcy. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties agree that the preceding sentence shall not apply at any time
other than during Counterparty’s bankruptcy to any claim arising as a result of a breach by Counterparty
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of any of its obligations under this Confirmation or the Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties acknowledge that the obligations of Counterparty under this
Confirmation are not secured by any collateral that would otherwise secure the obligations of Counterparty herein under or pursuant to any other agreement.
(k)Early Unwind. In the event the sale of the [“Underwritten Securities”] [“Option Securities”] (as defined in the Purchase Agreement dated as of December [__],
2021 between Counterparty and Jefferies LLC, as representatives of the Initial Purchasers party thereto (the “Purchase Agreement”)) is not consummated with the Initial
Purchasers for any reason by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the Premium Payment Date, or such later date as agreed upon by the parties (the Premium Payment Date or
such later date, the “Early Unwind Date”), the Transaction shall automatically terminate (the “Early Unwind”) on the Early Unwind Date and (i) the Transaction and all of the
respective rights and obligations of Dealer and Counterparty under the Transaction shall be cancelled and terminated and (ii) each party shall be released and discharged by the
other party from and agrees not to make any claim against the other party with respect to any obligations or liabilities of the other party arising out of and to be performed in
connection with the Transaction either prior to or after the Early Unwind Date. Each of Dealer and Counterparty represents and acknowledges to the other that, upon an Early
Unwind, all obligations with respect to the Transaction shall be deemed fully and finally discharged.
(l)Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act. In connection with Section 739 of the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of 2010 (“WSTAA”),
the parties hereby agree that neither the enactment of WSTAA or any regulation under the WSTAA, nor any requirement under WSTAA or an amendment made by WSTAA,
shall limit or otherwise impair either party’s otherwise applicable rights to terminate, renegotiate, modify, amend or supplement this Confirmation or the Agreement, as
applicable, arising from a termination event, force majeure, illegality, increased costs, regulatory change or similar event under this Confirmation, the Equity Definitions
incorporated herein, or the Agreement (including, but not limited to, rights arising from Change in Law, Hedging Disruption, an Excess Ownership Position, or Illegality (as
defined in the Agreement)).
(m)Amendments to Equity Definitions. The following amendments shall be made to the Equity Definitions:
(i)solely for purposes of applying the Equity Definitions and for purposes of this Confirmation, any reference in the Equity Definitions to a Strike Price shall be
deemed to be a reference to either of the Strike Price or the Cap Price, or both, as appropriate;
(ii)for the purpose of any adjustment under Section 11.2(c) of the Equity Definitions, the first sentence of Section 11.2(c) of the Equity Definitions, prior to
clause (A) thereof, is hereby amended to read as follows: “If “Calculation Agent Adjustment” is specified as the Method of Adjustment in the related Confirmation of
a Share Option Transaction, then following the announcement or occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine whether such
Potential Adjustment Event has, in the commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation Agent, a material economic effect on the theoretical value of the relevant
Shares or options on the Shares (provided that such event is not based on (x) an observable market, other than the market for Counterparty’s own stock or (y) an
observable index, other than an index calculated and measured solely by reference to Counterparty’s own operations) and, if so, will (i) make appropriate
adjustment(s), if any, determined in a commercially reasonable manner, to any one or more of:”, and the portion of such sentence immediately preceding clause (ii)
thereof is hereby amended by deleting the words “diluting or concentrative” and the words “(provided that no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes
in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant Shares)” and replacing such latter phrase with the words “(provided that solely in
the case of Sections 11.2(e)(i), (ii)(A) and (iv), no adjustments will be made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity
relative to the relevant Shares but, for the avoidance of doubt, solely in the case of Sections 11.2(e)(ii)(B) through (D), (iii), (vi), (v) and (vii), adjustments may be
made to account solely for changes in volatility, expected dividends, stock loan rate or liquidity relative to the relevant Shares)”;
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(iii)Section 11.2(a) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (1) deleting the words “in the determination of the Calculation Agent, a diluting or
concentrative effect on the theoretical value of the relevant Shares” and replacing these words with “in the commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation
Agent, a material economic effect on the theoretical value of the Shares or options on such Shares”; and (2) adding at the end thereof “; provided that such event is not
based on (i) an observable market, other than the market for Counterparty’s own stock or (ii) an observable index, other than an index calculated and measured solely
by reference to Counterparty’s own operations”;
(iv)Section 11.2(e)(vii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended and restated as follows: “any other corporate event involving the Issuer that in the
commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation Agent has a material economic effect on the theoretical value of the Shares or options on the Shares; provided
that such corporate event involving the Issuer is not based on (a) an observable market, other than the market for Counterparty’s own stock or (b) an observable index,
other than an index calculated and measured solely by reference to Counterparty’s own operations”; provided that the following event shall not be considered to have
a “material economic effect” on the value of the Shares or the Transaction for purposes of clauses (ii) and (iii) above and this clause (iv): an offering of Shares by the
Issuer for cash, in an underwritten transaction approved by the Issuer’s board of directors or an appropriate committee thereof, at or near the market trading price for
the Shares as of the time of such offering;
(v)Section 12.6(a)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (1) inserting “(1)” immediately following the word “means” in the first line thereof and (2)
inserting immediately prior to the semi-colon at the end of subsection (B) thereof the following words: “or (2) the occurrence of any of the events specified in Section
5(a)(vii)(1) through (9) of the ISDA Master Agreement with respect to that Issuer”;
(vi)Section 12.7(b) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “(and in any event within five Exchange Business Days) by the parties
after” appearing after the words “agreed promptly” and replacing with the words “by the parties on or prior to”; and
(vii)Section 12.9(b)(i) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing “either party may elect” with “(x) Dealer may elect or, (y) solely with respect to
a “Change in Law”, if Counterparty represents to Dealer in writing at the time of such election that (i) it is not aware of any material nonpublic information with
respect to Counterparty or the Shares and (ii) it is not making such election as part of a plan or scheme to evade compliance with the U.S. federal securities laws,
Counterparty may elect”.
(n)Governing Law; Exclusive Jurisdiction.
(i) THE AGREEMENT, THIS CONFIRMATION AND ALL MATTERS ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH THE AGREEMENT AND THIS
CONFIRMATION SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO ITS CHOICE OF LAW DOCTRINE, OTHER THAN TITLE 14 OF ARTICLE 5 OF THE NEW YORK
GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).
(ii) Section 13(b) of the Agreement is deleted in its entirety and replaced by the following:
“Each party hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits for itself and its property in any suit, legal action or proceeding relating to this
Confirmation or the Agreement, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect thereof, (each, “Proceedings”) to the exclusive jurisdiction
of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, sitting in New York County, the courts of the United States of America for the Southern District of New
York and appellate courts from any thereof. Nothing in this Confirmation or the Agreement precludes either party from bringing Proceedings in any other
jurisdiction if (A) the courts of the State of New York or the United States of America for the Southern District of New York lack jurisdiction over the
parties or the subject matter of the Proceedings or decline to accept the Proceedings on the grounds of lacking such jurisdiction; (B) the Proceedings are
commenced by a party for the purpose of enforcing against the other party’s property,
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assets or estate any decision or judgment rendered by any court in which Proceedings may be brought as provided hereunder; (C) the Proceedings are
commenced to appeal any such court’s decision or judgment to any higher court with competent appellate jurisdiction over that court’s decisions or
judgments if that higher court is located outside the State of New York or Borough of Manhattan, such as a federal court of appeals or the U.S. Supreme
Court; or (D) any suit, action or proceeding has been commenced in another jurisdiction by or against the other party or against its property, assets or
estate and, in order to exercise or protect its rights, interests or remedies under this Confirmation or the Agreement, the party (1) joins, files a claim, or
takes any other action, in any such suit, action or proceeding, or (2) otherwise commences any Proceeding in that other jurisdiction as the result of that
other suit, action or proceeding having commenced in that other jurisdiction.”
(o)Adjustments. For the avoidance of doubt, whenever the Calculation Agent or Determining Party is called upon to make an adjustment pursuant to the terms of
this Confirmation or the Equity Definitions to take into account the effect of an event, the Calculation Agent or Determining Party shall make such adjustment by reference to
the effect of such event on the Hedging Party, assuming that the Hedging Party maintains a commercially reasonable hedge position.
(p)Delivery or Receipt of Cash. For the avoidance of doubt, other than payment of the Premium by Counterparty, nothing in this Confirmation shall be interpreted
as requiring Counterparty to cash settle the Transaction, except in circumstances where cash settlement is within Counterparty’s control (including, without limitation, where
Counterparty elects to deliver or receive cash) or in those circumstances in which holders of Shares would also receive cash.
(q)Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY
LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE AGREEMENT, THIS CONFIRMATION OR ANY TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
HEREBY.
Dealer.

(r)Amendment. This Confirmation and the Agreement may not be modified, amended or supplemented, except in a written instrument signed by Counterparty and

(s)Counterparts. This Confirmation may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute
one and the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including any electronic signature covered by the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000,
Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, the Electronic Signatures and Records Act or other applicable law, e.g., DocuSign and AdobeSign (any such signature, an “Electronic
Signature”)) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature” and words of like import in this Confirmation or in any other certificate, agreement or document related to this Confirmation shall
include any Electronic Signature, except to the extent electronic notices are expressly prohibited under this Confirmation or the Agreement.
(t)Tax Matters. For the purpose of Sections 4(a)(i) and (ii) of the Agreement, Counterparty agrees to deliver to Dealer one duly executed and completed United
States Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (or successor thereto) and Dealer agrees to deliver to Counterparty, as applicable, a U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form [W-8 or
Form W-9] (or successor thereto). Such forms or documents shall be delivered upon (i) execution of this Confirmation, (ii) Counterparty or Dealer, as applicable, learning that
any such tax form previously provided by it has become obsolete or incorrect, and (iii) reasonable request of the other party.
(u)Payee Tax Representations.
(i)For the purpose of Section 3(f) of the Agreement, Counterparty makes the representations below:
Counterparty is a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and is a U.S. person (as that term is defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code and used in
Treasury Regulations Section 1.1441-4(a)(3)(ii)) for
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U.S. federal income tax purposes. It is an exempt recipient under Treasury Regulations Section 1.6049- 4(c)(1)(ii).
(ii)For the purpose of Section 3(f) of the Agreement, Dealer makes the representations below:
Dealer is a [_________]
(v)Withholding Tax imposed on payments to non-US counterparties under the United States Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act. “Indemnifiable Tax”, as defined
in Section 14 of the Agreement, shall not include any U.S. federal withholding tax imposed or collected pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any current or
future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code, or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices
adopted pursuant to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code (a "FATCA Withholding Tax"). For the
avoidance of doubt, a FATCA Withholding Tax is a Tax the deduction or withholding of which is required by applicable law for the purposes of Section 2(d) of the Agreement.
(w)Incorporation of ISDA 2015 Section 871(m) Protocol Provisions. To the extent that either party to the Agreement with respect to this Transaction is not an
adhering party to the ISDA 2015 Section 871(m) Protocol published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. on November 2, 2015 and available at
www.isda.org, as may be amended, supplemented, replaced or superseded from time to time (the “871(m) Protocol”), the parties agree that the provisions and amendments
contained in the Attachment to the 871(m) Protocol are incorporated into and apply to the Agreement with respect to this Transaction as if set forth in full herein. The parties
further agree that, solely for purposes of applying such provisions and amendments to the Agreement with respect to this Transaction, references to “each Covered Master
Agreement” in the 871(m) Protocol will be deemed to be references to the Agreement with respect to this Transaction, and references to the “Implementation Date” in the
871(m) Protocol will be deemed to be references to the Trade Date of this Transaction.
(x)Agreements and Acknowledgements Regarding Hedging. Counterparty understands, acknowledges and agrees that: (A) at any time on or prior to the final
Expiration Date, Dealer and its affiliates may buy or sell Shares or other securities or buy or sell options or futures contracts or enter into swaps or other derivative securities in
order to adjust its hedge position with respect to the Transaction; (B) Dealer and its affiliates also may be active in the market for Shares other than in connection with hedging
activities in relation to the Transaction; (C) Dealer shall make its own determination as to whether, when or in what manner any hedging or market activities in securities of the
Issuer shall be conducted and shall do so in a manner that it deems appropriate to hedge its price and market risk with respect to the Relevant Prices; and (D) any market
activities of Dealer and its affiliates with respect to Shares may affect the market price and volatility of Shares, as well as the Relevant Prices, each in a manner that may be
adverse to Counterparty.
(y)[U.S. Resolution Stay Protocol. The parties agree that (i) to the extent that prior to the date hereof both parties have adhered to the 2018 ISDA U.S. Resolution
Stay Protocol (the “Protocol”), the terms of the Protocol are incorporated into and form a part of the Agreement, and for such purposes the Agreement shall be deemed a
Protocol Covered Agreement and each party shall be deemed to have the same status as Regulated Entity and/or Adhering Party as applicable to it under the Protocol; (ii) to the
extent that prior to the date hereof the parties have executed a separate agreement the effect of which is to amend the qualified financial contracts between them to conform with
the requirements of the QFC Stay Rules (the “Bilateral Agreement”), the terms of the Bilateral Agreement are incorporated into and form a part of the Agreement and each
party shall be deemed to have the status of “Covered Entity” or “Counterparty Entity” (or other similar term) as applicable to it under the Bilateral Agreement; or (iii) if clause
(i) and clause (ii) do not apply, the terms of Section 1 and Section 2 and the related defined terms (together, the “Bilateral Terms”) of the form of bilateral template entitled
“Full-Length Omnibus (for use between U.S. G-SIBs and Corporate Groups)” published by ISDA on November 2, 2018 (currently available on the 2018 ISDA U.S. Resolution
Stay Protocol page at www.isda.org and, a copy of which is available upon request), the effect of which is to amend the qualified financial contracts between the parties thereto
to conform with the requirements of the QFC Stay Rules, are hereby incorporated into and form a part of the Agreement, and for such purposes the Agreement shall be deemed
a “Covered Agreement,” Dealer shall be deemed a “Covered Entity” and Dealer shall be deemed a
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“Counterparty Entity.” In the event that, after the date of the Agreement, both parties hereto become adhering parties to the Protocol, the terms of the Protocol will replace the
terms of this Section 8(y) of the Confirmation. In the event of any inconsistencies between the Agreement and the terms of the Protocol, the Bilateral Agreement or the Bilateral
Terms (each, the “QFC Stay Terms”), as applicable, the QFC Stay Terms will govern. Terms used in this paragraph without definition shall have the meanings assigned to
them under the QFC Stay Rules. For purposes of this paragraph, references to “the Agreement” include any related credit enhancements entered into between the parties or
provided by one to the other. In addition, the parties agree that the terms of this paragraph shall be incorporated into any related covered affiliate credit enhancements, with all
references to Dealer Parent replaced by references to the covered affiliate support provider.
“QFC Stay Rules” means the regulations codified at 12 C.F.R. 252.2, 252.81–8, 12 C.F.R. 382.1-7 and 12 C.F.R. 47.1-8, which, subject to limited exceptions, require an
express recognition of the stay-and-transfer powers of the FDIC under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and the Orderly Liquidation Authority under Title II of the Dodd
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the override of default rights related directly or indirectly to the entry of an affiliate into certain insolvency
proceedings and any restrictions on the transfer of any covered affiliate credit enhancements.]
(z)[CARES Act. Counterparty acknowledges that the Transaction may constitute a purchase of its equity securities or a capital distribution. Counterparty further
acknowledges that, pursuant to the provisions of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”), the Counterparty will be required to agree to
certain time-bound restrictions on its ability to purchase its equity securities or make capital distributions if it receives loans, loan guarantees or direct loans (as that term is
defined in the CARES Act) under section 4003(b) of the CARES Act. Counterparty further acknowledges that it may be required to agree to certain time-bound restrictions on
its ability to purchase its equity securities or make capital distributions if it receives loans, loan guarantees or direct loans (as that term is defined in the CARES Act) under
programs or facilities established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System for the purpose of providing liquidity to the financial system. Accordingly,
Counterparty represents and warrants that it has not applied, and throughout the term of each Transaction shall not apply, for a loan, loan guarantee, direct loan (as that term is
defined in the CARES Act) or other investment, or to receive any financial assistance or relief (howsoever defined) under any program or facility that (a) is established under
applicable law, including the Cares Act and the Federal Reserve Act, as amended, and (b) requires, as a condition of such loan, loan guarantee, direct loan (as that term is
defined in the CARES Act), investment, financial assistance or relief, that the Counterparty agree, attest, certify or warrant that it has not, as of the date specified in such
condition, repurchased, or will not repurchase, any equity security of Counterparty and that it has not, as of the date specified in such condition, made a capital distribution or
will not make a capital distribution (collectively, “Restricted Financial Assistance”); provided, that Counterparty may apply for Restricted Financial Assistance if
Counterparty either (a) determines, based on the advice of outside counsel of national standing, that the terms of the Transaction would not cause Counterparty to fail to satisfy
any condition for application for or receipt or retention of such loan, loan guarantee, direct loan (as that term is defined in the CARES Act), investment, financial assistance or
relief based on the terms of the program or facility as of the date of such advice or (b) delivers to Dealer evidence of a waiver or other guidance from a governmental authority
with jurisdiction for such program or facility that the Transaction is permitted under such program or facility (either by specific reference to the Transaction or by general
reference to transactions with attributes of the Transaction in all relevant respects). Counterparty further represents and warrants that the Premium is not being paid, in whole or
in part, directly or indirectly, with funds received under or pursuant to any program or facility, including the U.S. Small Business Administration’s “Paycheck Protection
Program”, that (a) is established under applicable law (whether in existence as of the Trade Date or subsequently enacted, adopted or amended), including without limitation the
CARES Act and the Federal Reserve Act, as amended, and (b) requires under such applicable law (or any regulation, guidance, interpretation or other pronouncement of a
governmental authority with jurisdiction for such program or facility) that such funds be used for specified or enumerated purposes that do not include the purchase of the
Transaction (either by specific reference to the Transaction or by general reference to transactions with the attributes of the Transaction in all relevant respects).]
(aa)[Matters Relating to Agent.] [Insert Dealer agency or communications with employees provisions, if applicable]
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(bb)[Dealer Boilerplate.] [Insert additional Dealer boilerplate, if applicable]
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Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth the terms of our agreement by executing this Confirmation and returning it to [Dealer].
Yours faithfully,
[Dealer]
By:

Name:
Title:
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Agreed and Accepted By:
DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
By

Name:
Title:
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Annex A
For each Component of the Transaction, the Number of Options and Expiration Date is set forth below.
Component Number
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40

Number of Options
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Expiration Date
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, INC.
The following are subsidiaries of Danimer Scientific, Inc. as of December 31, 2021 and the jurisdictions in which they are organized.

Company

State or Jurisdiction of
Incorporation/Organization

Meredian Holdings Group, Inc.

Delaware

Danimer Scientific Holdings, LLC

Delaware

Danimer Scientific Manufacturing Inc.

Delaware

Meredian, Inc.

Georgia

Danimer Scientific L.L.C.

Georgia

Danimer Scientific Kentucky, Inc.

Delaware

Novomer, Inc. (f/k/a Sunshine Merger Corp.)

Delaware

Meredian Bioplastics, Inc.

Georgia

Danimer Bioplastics, Inc.

Georgia
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-254085) on Form S-8 of our reports dated March 7, 2022, with respect to
the consolidated financial statements of Danimer Scientific, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

Atlanta, Georgia
March 7, 2022

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-1/A (No. 333-252515) and Form S-8 (No. 333-254085)
of Danimer Scientific, Inc. (the Company) of our report dated October 15, 2020, except for the effects of the revision discussed in Note 1 to the
consolidated 2020 financial statements as to which the date is March 29, 2021, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Meredian
Holdings Group, Inc., which appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company.
/s/ Thomas Howell Ferguson P.A.
Tallahassee, Florida
March 7, 2022

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Stephen E. Croskrey, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Danimer Scientific, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 7, 2022

By:

/s/ Stephen E. Croskrey
Stephen E. Croskrey
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, John A. Dowdy, III, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Danimer Scientific, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: March 7, 2022

By:

/s/ John A. Dowdy, III
John A. Dowdy, III
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Stephen E. Croskrey, certify, as of the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report of Danimer Scientific, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Danimer
Scientific, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated.
Date: March 7, 2022

By:

/s/ Stephen E. Croskrey
Stephen E. Croskrey
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, John A. Dowdy, III, certify, as of the date hereof, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report of Danimer Scientific, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Danimer
Scientific, Inc. at the dates and for the periods indicated.
Date: March 7, 2022

By:
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/s/ John A. Dowdy, III
John A. Dowdy, III
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

